Management for Primarv Health Care Professionals Usha R. Rout and Jaya K. Rout

Stress Management for Primary Health Care Professionals

This page intentionally left blank

Stress Management for Primary Health Care Professionals

Dr. Usha R. Rout

Coventry University Coventry, England

and

Dr. Jaya K. Rout

KLUWER ACADEMIC PUBLISHERS NEW YORK, BOSTON, DORDRECHT, LONDON, MOSCOW

eBook ISBN: 0-306-47649-5 Print ISBN: 0-306-47240-6

©2002 Kluwer Academic Publishers New York, Boston, Dordrecht, London, Moscow

Print ©2002 Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers New York

All rights reserved

No part of this eBook may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, recording, or otherwise, without written consent from the Publisher

Created in the United States of America

Visit Kluwer Online at:	http://kluweronline.com
and Kluwer's eBookstore at:	http://ebooks.kluweronline.com

Dedication

This book is dedicated to our beloved son Tony and daughter Natalie.

This page intentionally left blank

Foreword

Expectations of public services in the UK are rising – both from the government and from the public themselves. At the same time, the professions providing those services are expected to be more accountable for the care they give. These factors are contributing to a major increase in work stress experienced by those working in the public sector across a whole range of occupational groups.

General practitioners and their teams feel this stress very acutely. On one side the professions themselves recognise the need to improve and guarantee standards of care. On the other, the government argues for better access to already stretched primary care services. Doctors are increasingly held to account, through the establishment of health authority performance panels, through visits from the Commission for Health Improvement, and from the watchful eye of the National Clinical Assessment Authority. It's no wonder they feel stressed.

Building on years of work in this field, Usha and Jaya Rout have provided some ways forward for a stretched and stressed profession. After chapters which explain how stress arises at work, and the consequences that stress brings with it, they identify strategies for dealing with stress at both individual and practice level.

This book is exceptionally timely, and will provide a way forward for many general practitioners and their teams, and allow them to move out of the vicious spiral that stress often produces.

Professor Martin Roland

Director, National Primary Care Research and Development Centre, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK This page intentionally left blank

Preface

The National Health Service (NHS) is undergoing enormous change, which has lead to many primary health care professionals experiencing pressure beyond their control and ability to cope. Primary care in Britain has taken on a new shape due to these changes and the members of the primary health care team are having to take additional responsibilities and working under tremendous pressure. Therefore, it is important to identify the sources of stress and find ways of dealing with them.

Although there are a number of books on stress in other professions, there is no general book on stress and methods of coping in primary care. We believe that this book is timely in the context of the NHS change, and the impact of this change on the primary health care professional. This is the first book to examine stress in primary care professionals. It is aimed at primary health care professionals, students in medicine, nursing, social sciences and allied health professions. Also, it can be of value to the researchers working in this area. We hope that this book will provide an overview of stress among primary health care professionals as well as a stimulus for further research in this important area.

This book is the product of our work, over the years, on primary health care professionals: general practitioners, practice managers, practice nurses, receptionists, health visitors, district nurses and community psychiatric nurses. We have organised this book in 9 chapters. Chapter 1 briefly describes the history and background to the NHS in Britain, its structure, function, changes and reforms. It also mentions important roles of some of the members of the primary care team. In Chapter 2 the concept of stress is defined. Chapter 3 gives a general overview of occupational stress literature. In Chapter 4 we discussed individual differences and other conditioning variables as these influence the experiences of occupational stress. In

Chapter 5 we have considered the consequences of stress in terms of cost to the individual and organisation. Although a brief literature review on stress in primary health care professionals is included in Chapter 6, more emphasis is given on our studies. Chapters 7 and 8 describe individual and organisational stress management strategies respectively that the primary health care professionals my find useful. The final chapter briefly mentions resources and training.

Usha Rout and Jaya Rout

Acknowledgements

Our thanks to our colleagues; Prof. Bonnie Sibbald, Dr David Giles, and Mr Hugh Coolican for their invaluable comments and suggestions on drafts of chapters, Prodeepta Das for proof reading the script, Gareth Crossley for computing assistance, and Suzanne Hardy and Saima Alam for their help in referencing. It has only been possible to write this book due to the cooperation of all those primary health care professionals who gave their invaluable time to share their experiences. We are grateful to our publishers, Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, especially Joanna Lawrence for her guidance. Finally, we wish to thank our children Tony and Natalie for being supportive. This page intentionally left blank

Commonly Used Abbreviations

(BMA) British Medical Association
(CHD) Coronary Heart Disease
(CPN) Community Psychiatric Nurse
(DoH) Department of Health
(ECG) Electro Cardio Graph
(FHSA) Family Health Services Authority
(GMC) General Medical Council
(GP) General Practitioner
(LMC) Local Medical Committee
(MDU) Medical Defence Union
(NASS) National Association of Staff Support
(NHS) National Health Service
(RCGP) Royal College of General Practitioners

This page intentionally left blank

Contents

Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND1	
Chapter 2 WHAT IS STRESS?	,
Chapter 3 OCCUPATIONAL STRESS	5
Chapter 4 THE INDIVIDUAL AND STRESS4	1
Chapter 5 CONSEQUENCES OF STRESS	3
Chapter 6 POTENTIAL SOURCES OF STRESS AMONGST PRIMARY HEALTH PROFESSIONALS	5
Chapter 7 STRESS MANAGEMENT: INDIVIDUAL STRATEGIES11	5
Chapter 8 STRESS MANAGEMENT: ORGANISATION-LEVEL STRATEGIES	1

Chapter 9 THE WAY FORWARD	
REFERENCES	
USEFUL SERVICES	
ABOUT THE AUTHORS	
INDEX	

Stress Management for Primary Health Care Professionals

This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

This chapter describes the history of the National Health Service (NHS) in Britain, its structure, function, changes and reforms, and the primary health care in Britain. It describes briefly some of the important members of the primary health care team and their role in the organisation. This will help the readers who are not familiar with the primary health care set up in Britain.

The foundation of organised health service in the UK can be traced back to the 19th century when 'sick clubs' were formed to help pre-paid insurance for the poor. The National Insurance Act of 1911 allowed prepaid insurance for workers below a certain income. These workers could register with a General Practitioner (GP) who would receive payment for providing primary care. This system was restricted to the workers only and excluded their families and other relatives.

The plan to establish a National Health Service in Britain was introduced by the NHS Act of 1946 and the NHS itself was established in 1948. The NHS provided free health care services to the whole population, funded through taxation. Every individual was able to register with a GP of his or her choice to receive all necessary care. It was believed that the Act would create an atmosphere of greater security all over the country for the families faced by anxiety and the distress of illness (Owen, 1976). This year marks the 54th anniversary of the NHS establishment.

The NHS was created with three components: A General Medical Service (predominantly General Practice), a National Hospital Service and a Public Health Service. General practice played the most important role in providing primary health care by GPs and other primary care professionals. The primary care was and now is the largest component of the NHS and has carried the heaviest part of the workload since 1948. The hospital service was to provide secondary health care by specialists (consultants) in different

specialities and hospital nurses. The health service was meant for health promotion and disease prevention provided by the community care physicians and health visitors.

General practitioners were contracted to the NHS for providing primary care to their patients and to date have maintained their status as independent contractors. Over 90 per cent of all episodes of illness are managed in general practice (Fry, 1959). The trend towards larger practices has accelerated in recent years and single-handed practices are less common. The situation is changing rapidly with increasing proportions of nonprincipals in general practice. Primary care has progressed speedily over the years involving several other members, i.e. Practice Nurses, Health Visitors, District Nurses, Practice Receptionists, Community Midwives and Managers, all being actively involved in providing primary care. Other health professionals associated with GP practices are Community Psychiatric Nurses (CPNs), Social Workers, Counsellors, Speech Therapists and Chiropodists. The importance of multidisciplinary teamwork has been emphasised now. The British system of primary care is envied throughout the world.

1. CHANGES IN GENERAL PRACTICE

General practitioners were in private practice before the NHS Act, 1946. They were hesitant to join the NHS as they could see that their private practice would disappear. However, within a month 18 000 GPs joined the scheme (Lancet, 1948). Almost half of these were single handed and mainly practised from their own homes. There was uneven distribution of doctors. Their pay was determined by the number of patients registered with them. A patients' guide by the Ministry of Health in 1948 stated that every individual could register with a GP and it was the GP who would "arrange for the patient every kind of specialist care he himself is unable to give. Except in emergency, hospitals and specialists would not normally accept a patient for advice or treatment unless he has been sent by his family doctor" (Ministry of Health, 1948). The decision of admission to the hospital was transferred from the patients to the GPs. This 'gate keeper role' of the GPs made a demarcation between the primary care and secondary care.

Unlike hospital doctors, GPs in the early years of the NHS were working in isolation from other medical specialities and had no career structure. Technological advancement enhanced the status of hospital medicine and medical posts in hospitals were considered prestigious. The teaching hospitals gave little priority to undergraduate and postgraduate teaching for general practice. Moran (1958) commented that those doctors who entered general practice had fallen off the ladder of success in hospital medicine. The morale among GPs was very low apart from the few who had successful practices in affluent areas, especially those who had access to cottage hospitals where they admitted and treated their patients. There was a significant amendment to the general practitioners' terms and conditions in 1966 (known as the GP Charter) to boost their morale. GPs finally got their act together in defining general practice as a specialist area of medicine and demanded appropriate recognition for this. GPs were allowed to reimburse 70% of their staff salaries and were paid rent on their premises. This also gave GPs a greater stake in community care. The college of General Practitioners (later became known as the Royal College of General Practitioners in 1967) was established in 1952. The college was one of the major contributions to the NHS development and has raised the standing and improved the training of GPs. In 1974 the NHS was re-organised to bring GPs and consultants into cooperation and understanding, with consequent benefit to patients. During Margaret Thatcher's era it was strongly believed by the Conservative government that the NHS, as a state monopolistic enterprise, was inefficient. In January 1988, the Prime Minister, Margaret Thatcher, announced a review of the NHS during a television interview on the BBC Panorama programme (Baggott, 1994). The Thatcher philosophy held the view that efficiency in the NHS could be improved, not by increased funding, but by encouraging competition between providers at both hospital and general practice level. A series of steps were taken to impose management structures at every level of the NHS to stimulate competition through the creation of an internal market.

1.1 The 1990 Contract for General Practitioners

The new contract' (contract for GPs) in 1990 has been the most radical and far reaching of all changes. These changes were imposed on GPs against the wishes of the majority. The government had hoped to achieve efficiency at the level of general practice through encouraging competition, by bringing radical changes in the contract for GPs, and also introducing fundholding, a scheme whereby GP groups with more than 11 000 registered patients (later reduced to 7500 and then to 5000) could hold their own budgets for their patient care and purchase other services from community and hospital healthcare providers. The aim was to involve GPs in shaping Local Health Services, by acting as agents for their patients, using their own budgets to bring about the improvements in quality and efficiency in health services (Working for Patients, London, HMSO, 1989). The system of fundholding was implemented in April 1991. Many GPs joined fundholding GPs were allocated money on the basis of their historic expenditure. They used it for prescribing medicine, practice staff and hospital services such as laboratory tests, outpatient appointments and operations. Fundholders often obtained better services for their patients. The GPs were purchasers on behalf of the patients. In this way allocated resources could be planned according to identified needs for patient care.

The 'new contract' required GPs to provide information to their Family Health Services Authorities (FHSAs), an annual report on their activities, their arrangements for seeing patients, and their hours of availability. In addition, they were also required to provide information on their disease prevention activities, i.e. child immunisation, cervical smear and screening of people above the age of 75 to assess their health status. Their remuneration was partly determined by these activities but capitation remained an important element. Targets were set for child immunisation and cervical smears. The government, set a policy of a 'carrot and a stick'. Doctors who failed to achieve set targets received minimum payment and those who managed to achieve the targets were financially rewarded. There was financial incentive to establish various health promotion clinics (e.g. well woman, blood pressure screening, well person, smoking cessation, weight reduction clinics) that encouraged GPs to employ practice nurses and additional ancillary staff. This arrangement was later withdrawn leaving several GPs with additional staff and high expenditure. Several unofficial schemes emerged as an alternative to fundholding by non-fundholding GPs who were sceptical of fundholding but wanted to reshape the Local Health Services (Black, Birchall and Trimble 1994; Graffy and Williams, 1994). These schemes were initially known as GP commissioning, initiated by nonfundholding GPs. Later, they were called Locality Commissioning but comprised both fundholding and non-fundholding GPs. It was a process of identifying the health needs of a population and prioritising the services required to meet these needs. Basically the role of Locality Commissioning was planning local services. It was widely viewed that the decisions were taken by the Health Authorities and the commissioners simply rubberstamped it. Other changes that had implications for GPs' workload was the Community Care Act (to move care away from hospital settings towards care in the community). These changes made a significant impact on GPs work pattern, independence and job satisfaction.

During the 1990s, in the patients' charter, patients were encouraged to be consumers to exercise choice about care offered to them and to complain if their expectations were not met. This gave rise to increasing demands on the primary care sector of the NHS for diagnosis and treatment. Now primary care professionals are required to demonstrate the effectiveness of their services. This new emphasis on demonstrating quality puts pressure on GPs whose main emphasis is clinical and are not well-versed with additional demands that are integral to management which is required from them.

The changes have made a significant impact on GPs' work patterns, independence and job satisfaction (Rout and Rout, 1993, 1994). GPs' workload has increased significantly especially in the area of practice administration. The introduction of fundholding and the emergence of market forces turned general practice into businesses. GPs were expected to work in a multidisciplinary team and had to be more accountable for the way in which they spent taxpayers' money. For decades, medicine in the health care system has enjoyed a superior and dominant position and other health care professionals have been working under medical direction and instructions. The profession has no longer the same respect and prestige as in the past and the potential for satisfaction may have been eroded (Sutherland and Cooper, 1992). GPs have been going through a lot of stress and strain in balancing their professional role with these new demands.

They have suffered greater restriction to their autonomy following the changes in the NHS compared to other professionals such as the legal profession (Brazier *et al.*, 1993). Morale within the primary care sector was at an all time low (BMJ, 1991; Holton and Hastie, 1991). The challenge to the medical profession is not only confined to the UK, but also to many other countries (Moran and Wood, 1992; Godt, 1987; Wilsford, 1991).

The Labour party while in opposition criticised the government policy of fundholding and vowed to scrap the system if it came to power. It argued that the fundholding created a two-tier system for the patients. Patients of fundholding practices had preferential treatment. The fundholding scheme has proved bureaucratic and costly. The Labour party (New Labour) won the election in May 1997, formed the government and implemented their ,own policy to reform the health service in new directions. Fundholding was scrapped in 1999 and Primary Care Groups (PCGs) were formed.

1.2 Primary Care Groups

Primary Care Groups comprise all GPs in an area together with community nurses who take responsibility for commissioning services for the local community. The aim of the PCGs is to ensure primary medical services that are responsive and appropriate to the local health needs. The decisions on these issues are taken by the PCG Board, which consists of seven GPs, elected via the Local Medical Committee (LMC), two nurses, one social services representative, one lay member, one non-executive member of the Health Authority and one executive member. Primary Care Groups work on four different levels. The levels can vary from giving advice to the Health Authority to handling funds in purchasing health care for the

patient population. The progression to higher levels is by choice with the option of becoming trusts. PCG Boards meet in public offering the public a unique opportunity to influence the primary care professionals. The professional majority in the group ensures that the PCG is led by a majority of doctors and nurses. Each GP member in the PCG is given the 'lead role' on a particular area such as coronary heart disease (CHD), diabetes, or asthma, and they are responsible for developing guidelines and policy issues on their respective fields. The group meet at regular intervals to discuss relevant issues and advise the executive to implement the policies. All PCGs are accountable to Health Authorities but have the freedom to make decisions about how they deploy their resources within the framework of the health improvement programme.

1.3 Primary Care Trusts (PCT)

The Labour government would like to see every PCG develop and acquire the strength and Capability to achieve trust status if it would like to do so. There is no pressure from the Department of Health to become a trust and the decision has to be taken at the local level. Primary Care Trusts are managed by a board of GPs (drawn from the practices involved), community nurses, managers, and include social services and lay members. The Trust would hold the resources for General Medical Services allocations, hospital and community health services and prescriptions. Primary Care Trust Boards comprise 11 members with a lay-chair and five non-Executive members appointed by the Secretary of State. There are three professional Executive Committee members with a minimum of one nurse and therefore a maximum of two GPs. The Board has a lay member. It is believed that the PCTs will have the control of over 80% of healthcare expenses for providing services to the local population and will have additional powers to provide community services (BMJ, 2000). The General Practitioners Committee (GPC) believes that the individual GP's workload may change a little but there is likely to be increased clinical accountability. It is viewed that under the PCT guidance the practices may become larger to form association or federations evolving into publicly funded health maintenance organisations (BMJ 2000). Under the influence of PCTs small practices may be pressurised to amalgamate. Some practices may choose to move to PCT own premises for better surgery facilities. Perhaps larger teams of multiskilled professionals will deliver primary care in the future.

1.4 Personal Medical Services (PMS)

Personal Medical Services (PMS) were designed as an experimental scheme in 1998 to explore alternative ways of delivering primary and community care. General practitioners are independent contractors contracted to the NHS. The general medical services (GMS) regulations are set out in the 'Red Book', which is perceived as inflexible and complicated. PMS allow GPs to negotiate contractual arrangements with the Health Authorities, which would have been considered unacceptable and illegal under the normal arrangements. PMS allow GPs to work on a salaried, full or part time basis. It is expected that by April 2002 nearly a third of all GPs will be joining PMS contracts. PMS pays GPs on the basis of meeting set quality standards and the particular needs of the local population. Although PMS is sometimes seen as a salaried doctor scheme, it has allowed a whole range of salaried and self-employed models. The first and second wave of GPs entering PMS enjoyed the freedom but as increasing numbers enter the scheme, discrepancies appear in service delivery, payment and continuing professional development. Third wave doctors entering the scheme find that the contract is rather becoming 'regulated' (BMJ, 2000). Important issues like superannuation have yet to be negotiated before the scheme becomes popular amongst a large number of GPs who haven't yet been attracted to PMS.

2. PRIMARY HEALTH CARE TEAM

Primary health care in Britain is provided through general practice, free of charge to all its residents irrespective of means or status. GPs are at the forefront of the NHS. They are the cornerstone of its success and provide effective health care to the vast majority of the nation's population, but this would not have been possible without the help and cooperation of other members of the primary health care team (PHCT).

The concept of teamwork in the NHS has been in existence since 1950. The initiative for such an innovative structure was first taken up in Hampshire and Oxfordshire regions, and was initiated by establishing an experimental relationship between selected GPs and health visitors (Swift, 1964; Warrin, 1968). This movement expanded to other counties by the 1960s and included district nurses and midwives. As a result, the district nurses were able to change their work pattern and could cross geographical boundaries to follow up patients. The relationship between the GPs and the district nurses in the early stages was unclear. Various terms like liaison, cooperation, and alignment were used which symbolised varying degrees of

relationship with GPs and their role commitment to the practices they were attached to. The term 'attachment' started to appear in academic journals during the mid 60s. By this time the health visitors were attached to GP practices. As a result of these changes the health authorities and GPs were encouraged to form primary health care teams. A primary health care team consists of a group of people who contribute their expertise and share each other's views towards achieving a common goal. McIntosh (1974) defined a team as: 'a group of people with diverse but related knowledge and skills who associate for the purpose of directing, coordinating and developing the separate parts, as well as the sum total of their expertise in order to create new and maximise existing opportunities for achieving their common goal'. The major incentive to set up multidisciplinary teams was the introduction of a policy, in 1960s allowing GPs to reimburse 70% of the costs of employing nurses. This fuelled growth in practice nurses. Expanding team size was helped through provision of health centres by Health Authorities which allowed bigger teams to be accommodated together under one roof. By far the biggest boost to multidisciplinary teams, however, was the 1990 GP contract which enabled GPs to buy community nursing and other services and place those services in the practice.

The GP should not automatically presume to be the leader, as he does not receive training in leadership. The team leader needs to have skills to coordinate, set priorities, define goals, and communicate effectively with other members of the team. However, general practice training in areas of health maintenance, ill health prevention, diagnosis and treatment of diseases, and rehabilitation may favour him to lead the team. The GP needs to coordinate and direct other team members for a course of action but should not transfer his responsibility for patient care. It is desirable for the members to meet at regular intervals to share their experiences and views on particular issues and to come to an agreed course of action for individual patients.

3. WHO FORMS THE TEAM?

The concept of the primary health care team was fragile in the early years and did not specify who should be included in the team and in what capacity. The Harvard Davis Report (1971) favoured the basic unit of one doctor, nurse and secretarial staff to provide continuing care for a defined population. Practically anyone who has something to do with patients in the community could be included in the team, but the following members have been usually recognised as members of the PHCT: doctor, practice manager, practice reception staff, practice nurse, district nurse, community midwife, health visitor, community psychiatric nurse, and social worker (see Figure 1.1). In addition, other staff, such as a physiotherapist, psychologist, counsellor, pharmacist, and chiropodist may attend a health centre for certain sessions.



Figure 1.1. Primary health-care team working for the patient.

4. ROLE OF EACH PRIMARY CARE MEMBER

4.1 General Practitioner

The definition agreed by the Leeuwenhurst group (1974) of the GP's job is:

"The GP is a licensed medical graduate who gives personal, primary and continuing care to individuals, families and practice population irrespective of age, sex and illness. It is the synthesis of these functions, which is unique. He will attend his patients in his consulting room and in their homes and sometimes in a clinic or hospital. His aim is to make early diagnosis. He will include and integrate physical, psychological and social factors in his consideration about health and illness.... He will make an initial decision about every problem presented to him as a doctor. He will undertake continuing management of patients with chronic, recurrent or terminal illnesses..... He will practice in cooperation with other colleagues, medical and non-medical".

GPs may either practice single-handed or in groups, working either in health centres, purpose built or converted premises. The general practice charter in 1966 gave financial incentives to GPs to form group practices, improve or build premises and employ nurses and reception staff. GPs are considered as self employed but get their remuneration from the government according to their list size and item of services they provide. They are contracted to the Family Health Services Authorities (FHSAs), (now known as Health Authorities) to provide continuing medical care to the patients registered with them. GPs are the only members in the primary health care team to have obtained training and experience in diagnosis and treatment, illness prevention and health maintenance. The role of the GP has expanded to respond to the needs and demands of the population. These roles include prevention and screening. The successes of achieving these roles are augmented by the professional contributions made by the other members of the primary health care professionals. Figure 1.2 illustrates the role of the GP.



Figure 1.2. The central role of the general practitioner.

4.2 Practice Manager

General practice in the past has been based on providing professional primary care to patients, but in recent years there has been a shift in this trend towards the market economy. Senior receptionists mostly managed the administrative aspects of practices in the past. The practice manager, in general practice, is traditionally a senior receptionist, who has been promoted into a new role which organises the practice and takes administrative responsibility, leaving the GPs to do their clinical job. Also a growing number of practice managers are professional managers brought in from other sectors of the economy. The increase in administrative workload, following the introduction of the 1990 contract has made it a necessity for GPs to employ practice managers to take on the ever increasing administrative workload. As a result, the number of practice managers employed by GPs has increased significantly which may reflect the swift change in the structure of general practice into business types. There has been no rigid requirement of qualification/s for practice managers, but recently they are being required to obtain a diploma in practice management at courses available in technical colleges and universities.



Figure 1.3. Role of the practice manager

The practice manager's role is to appoint, manage and supervise ancillary staff, organise doctor's surgeries and other clinics, organise the rota, take responsibility for the staff pay-roll, liaise with other primary health care professionals and ensure that the standard and security of the work place remains satisfactory (Figure 1.3). Some managers are given the responsibility for the practice finance including practice expenses and doctors' drawings. In a small number of instances some working or retired

doctors have designated themselves as practice directors where they do little or no clinical work but focus upon practice management.

4.3 **Practice Receptionist**

The importance of the role of the reception staff cannot be over emphasised. Invariably they are the first members in the doctor's surgery whom the patients contact. Therefore, they should have training and experience to determine priorities and take appropriate action. While it is mandatory for doctors to acquire further training to become GPs the practice receptionists apparently require little or no training at all. The role of the receptionist may vary from one practice to the other but there are basic duties common to all. They do act as an intermediary between the patient and the doctor. They need to have a pleasant personality to be able to welcome the patients and have sufficient knowledge to provide necessary information to the patients. It is perceived that their personal qualities are valued more than their educational qualification (Williams, 1979). The main tasks performed by receptionists are answering the telephone, receiving



Figure 1.4 Role of the Receptionist

patients, booking appointments, receiving requests for repeat prescriptions and home visits, handing prescriptions over to patients, typing letters, dealing with drug representatives and other external agencies, filing records, and many more (Figure 1.4).

4.4 **Practice Nurse**

The practice nurse is a registered general nurse (RGN) who is employed by GPs to work within the practice team, and is responsible for the clinical nursing care of the practice population together with the district nursing team (Steering Group, Royal College of Nursing, 1984). The practice nurse's role has been growing since the general practice charter of 1966. There have been major changes in general practice following the introduction of the 1990 contract for GPs with an emphasis on health promotion. As a result GPs have been encouraged to set up health promotion clinics in their surgeries often run by their practice nurse/s. In a study, Hibble (1995), comparing practice nurse workload before and after the introduction of the 1990 contract for GPs, found that the number of practice nurses in each practice had increased from 0.7 full time equivalents in 1989 to 1.2 in 1992 and the proportion of time spent on administration had increased to 19%. In 1990 there were in excess of 4000 practice nurses in England (Robinson, 1990) and this figure was increased significantly to 9000 in 1994 (Rivett, 1998). General practitioners employ practice nurses for specific tasks which health authority staff may be unable to undertake (Br J Gen Pract, April 1990). Practice nurses are accountable to the GPs by whom they are employed. They are an integral part of the primary health care team. Practice nurse roles have been extended into the area of routine chronic disease management: they run the asthma, diabetes and heart disease clinics.

There are a wide range of activities undertaken by practice nurses including prevention, therapeutic activities, and education. Some of the common activities undertaken are as follows: baby immunisation, travel immunisation, general injections (such as Depo-Provera contraceptive, vitamin B_{12} , iron), hypertension clinic, diabetic clinic, asthma clinic, well woman clinic, well person clinic (for men and women), contraceptive advice, electro-cardiogram (ECG) recording, cervical smear tests, wound dressing, ear syringing, suturing, taking blood samples for investigations, assisting doctors with minor surgery, smoking cessation advice, completing claim forms for item of service, home visits as requested by doctors, training student nurses, record keeping, entering data into computers, and liasing with other health care professionals (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5. Role of the practice nurse

4.5 District Nurse

The concept of district nursing started in 1859 in Liverpool and was initiated by a philanthropist, William Rathbone. Since the formation of the NHS in 1948, the Local Health Authorities have a statutory duty to provide a district nursing service to all its residents free of charge. The Local Health Authorities were dispersed in 1974 to be absorbed into Area Health Authorities (AHA) (now District Health Authorities (DHA)) who acquired the responsibility for providing the district nursing care to the community.

The basic requirement for a district nurse is the registered general nursing (RGN) qualification with additional training leading to the certificate in district nursing. There has been an increased demand for district nursing due to increasing number of elderly people living in the community, and as a result there are an increased number of chronic and degenerative diseases requiring nursing attention. District nurses are attached to defined practice/s. They are employed by the DHA and are accountable to the district nursing managers. Their job is to assess and meet the needs of the patients in the community and work in close cooperation with GPs and other members of the PHCT. They provide nursing services to patients in their own homes. Some of their routine tasks include following patients who have been discharged from hospital especially for sutures removal and post-operative

wound dressing, installing eye or ear drops, administering medication for needy people, and helping disabled patients to get into bed. They also bathe disabled patients, provide appliances to prevent/treat bed sores, supply incontinence material and other equipment to improve mobility. Above all they inform the doctor if there is any further action warranted.

4.6 Community Midwife

Midwives are required to be registered general nurses with additional educational training needed to obtain the midwifery certificate. They are employed by the Health Authorities. When there was a trend for an increasing number of confinements to take place in hospitals, midwives were supervising antenatal care, assisting during deliveries in the maternity units and assessing the suitability of home deliveries in some selected cases. In recent years more pregnant women have desired their confinement at home. In response to this demand, women are given the choice of their place of delivery (at home or hospital). The midwives supervise antenatal care both in the community and liaise with GPs and hospitals. They are attached to GP surgeries within their defined geographical territory within which they undertake responsibility. It is not uncommon for some patients after being discharged from the hospital following confinement to go to a different geographical region. In these cases the midwife responsible for these patients liaises with the latter region's midwife to arrange postnatal visits.

4.7 Health Visitor

Health visitors are also registered general nurses with additional experience in midwifery with at least part one of the midwifery certificate. They must undertake a year's full-time study in preventive and social medicine, and human development to obtain the health visitor's certificate. They have a statutory duty to visit newborn babies from the day the midwife stops her visit (usually the 10th day). The main function is to assess the child's development undertaken at home or at the child health clinic and observe any physical or psychological abnormality until the child starts school. In this way any deviation from normal can be promptly recognised and steps can be taken to deal with them. Health visitors can be of great help to GPs in assisting them in child health surveillance examinations, advising parents on childhood immunisation, reassuring female patients who may have any fear or doubts regarding cervical smears, immunisation, or family planning. They also play an important role in patient education and mother craft, advise on home safety, home help and welfare benefits. They work in

close cooperation with the GPs and inform them of any relevant cases requiring medical attention.

4.8 Community Psychiatric Nurse

Community psychiatric nurses (CPNs) are registered mental health nurses and are required to have the registered general nursing qualification with an additional 18 months training in community psychiatry, or a 3 year course in colleges or universities. Community psychiatric nurses are employed by the Local Health Authorities and are allocated to a defined geographical area where they liaise with both GP surgeries and hospital psychiatric units. They follow psychiatric patients at home, in hospital clinics and in health centres, and supervise their medication and progress. In several areas the 'Depo clinics' (where psychiatric patients receive their longacting injections) are run by CPNs. It helps patients by reducing their travel distance and time, and also helps to reduce their anxiety by avoiding the hospital atmosphere.

4.9 Social Worker

The usual requirement for a social worker is either a one year postgraduate university course or a non-university course lasting two years. In addition to their course, students are required to spend half the time in the field learning from practical experience. Social workers are employed by Local Authorities. Their job involves helping people with social problems, for example, housing/re-housing, arranging home help, paying bills (helping to pay bills) and dealing with similar issues. They try to help people with physical disability, people living on their own and others who require help in their day to day life, such as collecting pension money, cleaning the house, shopping, and meals on wheels. They have a statutory duty to take action in cases of proven or suspected cases of child abuse. In cases of mentally ill patients, requiring hospital admission under the 'Mental Health Act', the social worker needs to coordinate between the patient's GP and the psychiatrist.

Chapter 2 WHAT IS STRESS?

This chapter aims to define the concept of stress and different approaches to the study of stress. This is important as it provides a guideline for understanding and clarifying the interactive nature of stress.

The word stress has established a firm place in our modern vocabulary. We hear it being expressed by different people of different cultures, race and social class. People express different uncomfortable experiences as being 'under stress' i.e. 'I am under stress' I feel stressed out' or 'my job is stressful'. We often speak of stress as if it were pressure or tension created by pressure. Stress is a complex process by which an individual responds to environmental demands, called stressors that threaten the individual. Stressors are the environmental demands or situations that elicit the pattern of response from the organism. These responses may be physiological, behavioural, cognitive, emotional or a combination of these. Stressors can be life events (for example, death of a spouse, divorce) or small incidents of every day life (for example, daily hassle).

There is so much controversy about the proper use of the term stress that it is difficult to define it precisely. Hans Selye (1980) explained that "*Stress*, like relativity, is a scientific concept which has suffered from the mixed blessing of being too well known and too little understood". Although the word stress is usually perceived as negative, Selye (1976) suggests that stress is not always bad, and viewed here as 'eustress' or good stress. Here stress is described as a pleasant and stimulating experience which is essential for motivation, growth, development and improving performance. The bad aspect of stress is described as 'distress' which is damaging.
1. DEFINITIONS OF STRESS

In the 17th century the word stress (derived from the Latin word stringere meaning to draw tight) was used to mean 'hardship, straits, adversity or affliction'. During the 18th and 19th centuries, the word stress described 'pressure, force, strain or strong effort', attributing to the person's organs and/or mental powers (Hinkle, 1973). Within the field of physics and engineering, stress referred to the strain produced by an external force or pressure. William Osier (1910) observed the relationship between angina pectoris and the hectic pace of life in his patients. Therefore, stress and strain could actually cause disease rather than short term illness. Walter Cannon (1935) was among the first to introduce 'stress' terminology to the scientific community. According to him stress is described as a response, particularly to an emergency requiring a person to cope with the danger of a challenging situation. He proposed 'the fight or flight response' of an organism to its environment. When a person is in danger, or in a challenging situation he can either confront the challenge and fight it or take flight (get away) from the situation as fast as possible. Physiologically the response is quite dramatic. Adrenaline and noradrenaline are released into the blood stream, where they speed up the reflexes, raise the blood sugar level, blood pressure and heart rate and increase the rate of respiration. The mouth becomes dry and the saliva secretion stops. There is sweating from the palms and an increase in muscle tension (Cannon, 1932). Repeated experience of the stress response can break down a person's physiological homeostasis (metabolic equilibrium). This in turn can increase the physical vulnerability of the individual.

2. APPROACHES TO THE STUDY OF STRESS

The term stress has been used to refer to 'stimulus' by some researchers, 'response' by some researchers, and 'interaction' by others. However, researchers such as Lazarus (1966) view it to be a combination of the above factors; he states that 'stress is 'not any one of these things, nor is it stimulus, response, or intervening variable, but rather a collective term for an area of study'. Researchers have conceptualised three approaches to stress.

2.1 Response Based Model of Stress

The response based definition originated from the field of medicine and is described from a physiological perspective. A response based approach suggests that stress be viewed as the response to disturbing stimuli (Figure 2.1). This approach views stress as a dependent variable for study. Hans Selye (1956) was one of the first to examine stress systematically and its effects. According to him 'stress is the non-specific (physiological) response of the body to any demand made upon it'. He believed that stress is the individual's response to the demands of his or her environment. The stress response is the same for all animals regardless of what specific event has triggered it. He developed the General Adaptation Syndrome (GAS) model to describe the individual's physiological reactions to stress.



Figure 2.1. A response-based model of stress

The GAS consists of three stages: alarm stage, stage of resistance and stage of exhaustion (Figure 2.2). Alarm stage – this is the first stage in which the body prepares itself for immediate action i.e. the organism's defence mechanisms become active. There are a number of physiological and chemical reactions (such as increased pituitary and adrenaline secretions) to stressors. Cardiovascular and respiratory functions increase and the body is ready to respond. At the same time the body's level of resistance is lowered. If the stressor is severe and continues, resistance may collapse and death may occur. Stage of resistance - during this stage the organism's full adaptation may lead to a successful return to equilibrium. If the stressor continues or the defence does not work then he/she will move on to the final stage. Stage of exhaustion - if the stressor is unusually severe, the body exhausts its reserves of energy because adaptation energy (body's adaptability) is finite. Resistance breaks down altogether, and adaptive mechanisms collapse or death may occur. (see Figure 2.2 for a diagrammatical presentation of GAS). It is not necessary for all three stages

to develop in GAS. Only severe stress leads to the stage of exhaustion and death. The stressors at first may alarm the individual and he/she may then adapt to them.



Figure 2.2. Selye's General Adaptation Syndrome. (Selye, 1956)

Selye's concept of non-specificity has been challenged by many researchers, as it is too simplistic. For example, Mason (1971) argued that some noxious stimuli (for example, physical exercise, fasting, heat etc.) do not produce the same pattern of responses. Lacey (1967) argued that the low intercorrelation between the various physiological indices of the GAS refute the concept of a non-specific pattern of response. The responses are stimulus specific, particularly in relation to excretion of catecholamine. For example, the events producing anxiety are associated with release of adrenaline, whereas, events resulting in aggression are associated with release of noradrenaline. One of the major flaws of Selye's theory is that it does not take into account the psychosocial factors to understand human stress. The problem is that it does not address individual differences in either perception or response to stressful situations.

2.2 Stimulus Based Model of Stress

The proponents of this view see the sources of stress as arising solely outside the person. This model describes stress as the stimulus characteristics of environments (Figure 2.3). The stimulus based model of stress has its roots in physics, in particular, the field of engineering. When loads are placed on metals, they produce deformation in them due to internal strain. When the load is removed the metal will eventually return to its original condition if the strain produced is within the 'elastic limit' of the material. If the strain exceeds the elastic limits, permanent damage occurs. Stress can be tolerated by individuals up to a certain limit beyond which permanent damage may occur.



This approach has been criticised for a number of weaknesses. It does not take into account individual differences. For example, Lazarus (1966) emphasises that no objective criterion is good enough to describe a situation as stressful, only the individuals experiencing the situation can do this. Also Cox (1978) criticised this approach as being extremely limited when it is applied to human behaviour - for example, according to Cox (1978) 'men and their organisations are not machines. Unless the stress/strain relationship in men functions both unconsciously and automatically, we have to accept some intervening psychological process which does mediate the outcome of that relationship. Stress has to be perceived or recognised by man. A machine, however, does not have to recognise the load or stress placed upon it.' For example, boring jobs (underload) are as stressful as excessive demanding (overload) jobs to individuals. This approach views stress as an independent variable for study. Cox (1978) argued that all future research on stress should adopt a multivariate approach. According to him there is an overlap between a response based approach to stress and a stimulus based approach. Although this model has weaknesses, it has some attraction to organisations trying to identify common stressors that might affect most of the individuals.

2.3 Interactional Model of Stress

The interactional model of stress is a psychologically based approach and stress is interpreted as an individual phenomenon. When confronted with the same situation some individuals experience stress but others do not. Both stimulus and response based theories of stress ignore the importance of the individual in the stress equation. Cox and Mackay (1976) criticised the theoretical explanation of both the stimulus and response model. According to Cox (1978) 'stress can be described as part of a complex and dynamic system of transaction between the person and his environment'. Also Lazarus and Launier (1978) suggest that stress is a transaction between the individual and environment. Lazarus emphasises that it is the nature of the relationship between the two which is crucial: 'Stress refers, then, to a very broad class of problems differentiated from other problem areas because it deals with any demands which tax the system, whatever it is, a physiological system, a social system, or a psychological system and the response of that system' (Lazarus, 1971).

According to Lazarus (1966), 'stress is not simply out there in the environment'. Stress is a subjective experience depending on the individual's perception of the situation. He stresses the role of perception and cognitive appraisal in the stress response. The cognitive processes (thoughts, attitudes, beliefs, images) play an important role in determining whether the situation will be interpreted as stressful. He suggests that in order for an event to be a stressor, it must be appraised as threatening. When an individual is exposed to a potentially stressful situation, he/she appraises the situation and makes judgements about the situation, how harmful it is to him or her (primary appraisal). Stress occurs only if the individual involved perceives the situation as threatening to his/her important goals and he/she will be unable to cope with these demands (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984; Lazarus et al., 1985). If the situation is judged to be stressful secondary appraisals are made (see Figure 2.4). In the secondary appraisal stage, the individual determines the available coping resources and the likelihood that he or she can employ these successfully. If the person has confidence in his/her coping capabilities then the threat is likely to be negligible. If, however, the individual is uncertain of his/her coping capabilities he/she is likely to feel insecure. Generally, after we appraise an event as stressful (primary appraisal) we engage in assessing our resources (secondary appraisal). However, secondary appraisal 'does not necessarily follow primary appraisal in time' (Cohen and Lazarus, 1983). The two processes are interrelated. Sometimes our secondary appraisal of limited resources may lead to primary 'appraisals of threat where they would not otherwise occur' (Covne and Holroyd, 1982). Lazarus (1976) and McGrath (1970) emphasise the importance of the way that individuals perceive themselves and the events that impinge upon them. Therefore perception, appraisal and judgement of the situation are all important. This approach treats stress as an intervening variable.



Figure 2.4. Cognitive appraisals.

2.4 Person-Environment (P-E) Fit

The interactive model of stress provides a basis for the P-E fit approach, which suggests that stress arises from the misfit (or poor fit) between the person and his/her environment. The fundamental notion of the 'P-E fit' model is that individual adjustment consists of 'goodness of fit' between the characteristics of a person and properties of that person's environment' (French *et al.*, 1982). Two aspects of 'fit' have been considered in the work environment. 1. To what extent the individual's attitudes, values and abilities

meet the demand of the job, and 2. To what extent the work situation fulfils the needs of the person.

The main criticism of this approach is that it assumes some stagnant situation but in reality stressor situations and response to stress are dynamic processes.

The interactional models of stress are generally too complicated for organisations to adopt although there is growing research into the area. The response based model and/or stimulus based model are adopted by some organisations. In adopting the response based approach the organisations shift the responsibility to the person involved. Here the organisation tries to employees cope with environmental stressors by introducing help intervention programmes without attempting to eliminate the cause of the stress. Other organisations may adopt a stimulus based approach where they make changes to the working environment but do not take the individual needs into account. However, with the availability of sophisticated data analysis techniques, by using computers and taking objective as well as subjective measures of stress, we are now able to understand the complexities of stress. We are trying to make sense of why some individuals cope better in the same environment than others and how individuals could cope with environmental stress which cannot be eliminated. Individual differences will be discussed in chapter 4. First, understanding the sources of occupational stress will be discussed in chapter 3 because it is important to recognise the potential stressors in the environment.

Chapter 3 OCCUPATIONAL STRESS

Although different occupational groups describe their work as stressful, it seems that some occupations carry more stress than others. There is very little research to compare stress levels of different occupations and no research to compare stress levels within primary health care professionals. However, every job has potential sources of stress and we have identified these sources of stress for different primary care occupational groups in chapter 6. In this chapter we shall give a general overview of occupational stress research because the aim of this chapter is to understand stress at work. Researchers have identified six main factors which are sources of occupational stress common to all jobs (Cooper and Marshall, 1978). Figure 3.1 presents a simple model of occupational stress which shows the sources of stress that exist in the environment, the moderators, and consequences of stress, based on similar conceptualisations by different researchers (e.g. Cooper and Marshall, 1976; French et al., 1982; Schuler, 1982; Fletcher, 1988). Five of these are concerned with work stress, and the sixth one is an interface between work/home. The causes of stress at work are not restricted to the work environment, and the work/home interface is equally important. As the demands of the home environment are significantly related to occupational stress it is desirable to include the work/home interface as one of the factors. The factors are:

- 1. Factors intrinsic to the job
- 2. Career development
- 3. Role based stress
- 4. Relationships at work
- 5. Organisational structure and climate
- 6. Work/home interface

We shall examine each of these categories briefly. However it is important to note that these categorisations are not discrete components.



Figure 3.1. A model of occupational stress

1. FACTORS INTRINSIC TO THE JOB

Within this category researchers have documented many factors such as physical working condition, workload (including work overload and work underload, working long hours), shift work/night work, risk and danger, new technology and travel which may be intrinsic to the job. These are reviewed below.

1.1 Physical Working Condition

The physical demands of the working environment, such as noise, lighting, and extremes of temperature can affect one's mood and mental state. For example, it was revealed by Kornhauser (1965) that unpleasant working conditions, the necessity to work fast, to expend a lot of physical effort and to work excessive and inconvenient hours were directly related to poor mental health. Other researchers found that physical health is adversely affected by repetitive and dehumanising work settings, such as fast-paced assembly lines (Cooper and Smith, 1985). It was found from a study that excessive noise on a recurring, prolonged basis can cause stress (Ivancevich and Matteson, 1980). Noise seems to operate less as a stressor where it is excessive but expected, than in those environments where it is unexpected. Kelly and Cooper (1981) found that poor working conditions (e.g. noise, heat, fumes) together with the social and psychological consequences of isolation and tension had a significant impact on blue-collar workers.

Work may be impaired by thermal conditions when it requires critical decision, fine discrimination and performance of skilled action. It is suggested by Ramsey (1983) that there is a correlation between comfort and a person's performance on perceptual motor tasks. Working in an overheated

environment may result in lowered tolerance to other stressors and adversely affect worker motivation (Smith *et al.*, 1978). Another potential source of stress is lighting. It is important to acknowledge that poor lighting and glare can lead to eye strain, visual fatigue, headache, damaged vision, tension and frustration. Due to these factors the task could become more difficult and consume more time (Poulton, 1978). Hence, it is essential for a work environment to create a pleasant atmosphere which ultimately enhances performance.

Poorly designed physical environment of the workplace can be another potential source of stress. For example, in a patient satisfaction survey, Rout and colleagues (1994) found that patients were dissatisfied with the services in the health centre while waiting for the GP because of poor accommodation, lack of natural lighting, poor ventilation and lack of toilet facilities. When the employees in that health centre were interviewed later, by one of the authors (U. Rout) their replies were similar to the views of the patients (Rout *et al.*, 1996). Therefore it is important to have a clear and orderly place with good ventilation for employees to enjoy their work and keep their morale high.

1.2 Workload

Both work overload and work underload are described by researchers as potential sources of stress. Distinctions of workload have been identified, such as quantitative overload or underload and qualitative overload or underload. Quantitative overload refers to having too much to do in a given period of time and quantitative underload refers to having too few tasks to do in a given period of time. On the other hand qualitative overload refers to work that is too difficult for a person and qualitative underload results when the task does not utilise the skills of the individual (French and Caplan, 1973). Yerkes-Dodson Law (Yerkes and Dodson, 1908) explains the curvilinear relationship between the amount of work and health and performance in the inverted - U- hypothesis (see Figure 3.2).

1.3 Work Overload

Researchers found that both quantitative and qualitative work overload predicted high levels of anxiety and depression in a group of British tax inspectors (Cooper and Roden, 1985). French and Caplan (1970) showed an association between objective, quantitative overload and cigarette smoking, a risk factor in coronary heart disease (CHD) and cancer.



Figure 3.2. Performance as a function of arousal level; Yerks and Dodson's inverted "U" curve.

Both qualitative and quantitative work overload are potential stressors to primary care professionals. For example, increased demand by the patients on the GPs to provide comprehensive and continuing care imposes high pressure on them. In Cartwright's survey on patients and GPs, the lay respondents commented, 'Doctors today are overworked (Cartwright, 1967). If they had fewer patients they could give them more time'. In our two previous studies (Rout and Rout, 1993, 1994) it was found that time pressure and work overload were among the sources of top stressors for GPs. Other researchers found that lack of time was the most frequently acknowledged stressor for the GPs (Roland *et al.*, 1986; Howie *et al.*, 1989). Cartwright (1977) found that 20% of GPs were pressurised for time. GPs mentioned 'Not enough time ever to do one's work adequately and still have time to live a normal family life' (Cartwright and Anderson, 1981). When working faster, doctors deal less adequately with psychological problems and pressure of tune also affects judgement in other areas (Howie *et al.*, 1989).

A study of 180 doctors who were alumni of the Case Western Reserve School of Medicine reported that the sources of dissatisfaction in the lives of these physicians were not having personal free time, being on call and carrying a heavy workload (Mawardi, 1979). Mawardi (1979) suggested that, in the USA, private practitioners rated time related stresses as the greatest dissatisfaction. Doctors felt that the demands of the workload and continuous on call responsibility leaves very little personal time.

1.4 Work Underload

Work underload has been described as repetitive, routine, boring and understimulating work which is associated with ill health (Cox, 1980). Work underload was a significant source of stress among crane operators and lack of challenge and boredom were found as significant predictors of raised anxiety, depression and job dissatisfaction (Cooper and Kelly, 1984). In our interview sample of receptionists (Rout and Rout, in preparation) one of the receptionists was very unhappy with her workload because her work was very repetitive and lacked novelty. For example, she said:

"My job is boring most of the time because the practice manager always asks me to do the repeat prescriptions and type the letters. But there are so many things to do in the office one could be occupied for the whole day without thinking of work at all".

1.5 Long Hours

Jobs which require long hours of work may affect the health of employees. For example, a study (Breslow and Buell, 1960) found that long working hours was linked to death due to CHD. General practitioners are contracted to provide 24 hours service to their patients. This implies that their job is not 9 to 5 and can extend from early morning to late evenings and beyond. Some GPs may have to work excessively long hours. See the case study in box 3.1 as an example.

Box 3.1

Dr S is a single handed GP in a deprived area. She works excessively long hours. She initiated an appointment system to see patients in the surgery so that she could finish the surgery on time. However, the system did not work. Therefore she runs open surgeries. A large proportion of her patients are mainly Asians who are very casual about time keeping. Most of the time patients come in groups, usually several members of the family, towards the end of the surgery time. At the time of closing the surgery, there would be several patients still sitting in the waiting room to be seen. The reception staff are not pleased to stay behind until the last patient is seen. Some patients knock at the door even after the front door is closed. Dr S is unable to stick to her work schedule due to the high demands by her patients. She never manages to go home on time and her reception staff have the same problem as well.

1.6 Shift Work / Night Work

For many occupational groups shift work represents a major source of stress. It was found in a study that shift workers complain of fatigue and gastrointestinal disorders more frequently than day workers (Rutenfranz et al., 1977). In another study of offshore oil rig workers, the third most important source of stress was shift work along with physical conditions and travel (Sutherland and Cooper, 1987). For those GPs who provide out-of hours cover, the loss of sleep may be similar to the stress associated with shift work or long working hours. GPs who provide maternity care, singlehanded rural GPs, and those who cover their practices during night time without using deputising services, are bound to have disturbed sleep. Disturbed sleep patterns can cause deterioration in health and well-being in GPs which may in turn affect other factors such as interpersonal relationships at work and at home, efficiency and judgement. In recent years there has been a proliferation of cooperative services organised by the local GPs in various parts of the country providing out of hours cover for participating GPs. This might lower GPs self-rate stress and enable them to organise their work schedule better. Some other members of the primary health care team (i.e. district nurses and midwives) also provide out of hours service and this can be a source of stress for them.

1.7 Risks and Dangers

Recently patients have become more demanding and their expectations have risen dramatically. There is a possibility of threats from the patients if their demands or wishes are not fulfilled. There are several incidences in the country where GPs have been physically assaulted, stabbed and even murdered. GPs are most vulnerable to attacks during night visits which is a cause for concern. Occupational groups who face danger and risk such as police, mine workers, firemen, and soldiers often appear to have reduced stress levels, particularly when trained adequately (Arnold, Robertson and Cooper, 1991).

1.8 New Technology

The need to acquire skills to use new equipments may cause stress to the individual. In a rapidly changing work environment where skills may quickly become obsolete it is an added source of stress. In a study among executives and managers it was found that Japanese executives suffered from stress to 'keep up with new technology' and a high percentage of British managers also reported high pressure at work in keeping up with new

technology (Cooper, 1974). In England, GPs have been encouraged by financial help from the government to use computers and now they are in common use in general practice. Primary care professionals need to acquire computer skills. However, they are likely to encounter problems with breakdown, maintenance and upgrading of both software and hardware. Many GPs are unhappy to use the computers during surgery consultations as patients feel that GPs interact more with the computers than the patients. In our interview sample we found that GPs were under time pressure while trying to balance their attention between the computer and patients during consultation (Rout and Rout, 1993). We also found that practice managers, practice nurses and secretaries liked to use computers, but felt pressurised.

1.9 Travel

Travelling may be a source of stress when it takes up a lot of time everyday to commute to and from the work place. In the case of GPs and nurses, travelling is a part of their job, as they visit patients in their homes even in adverse weather conditions. In our study (Rout and Rout, 1993) GPs found it stressful to visit patients in poor weather conditions. Families may suffer when a member spends a lot of time away from home in travelling.

2. CAREER DEVELOPMENT

Career development includes a number of issues which can act as potential stressors for the employees. For example, lack of job security, over or under promotion, fear of redundancy, retirement, and many other performance appraisals can affect one's life. People suffering from career stress often show high job dissatisfaction, poor work performance, burnout and less effective interpersonal relationship at work (Ivancevich and Matteson, 1980).

2.1 Job Security

Threat of job loss is a potential source of stress. For example, Cobb and Kasl (1977) found that fear of job loss was associated with various health problems, such as ulcers, colitis and alopecia. Threat of demotion can be a source of stress for people who believe that they suffer from the erosion of status. Some people may have to stay in a job even if they dislike it because they do not have any suitable alternative to change. For example, some GPs in our interview sample (Rout and Rout, 1993) claimed that they are being

trapped in the job because they have nowhere to go. See box 3.2 for an example.

In our previous study interviews with overseas doctors revealed that most GPs in the sample had entered into general practice as a second choice due to a lack of opportunities to become specialists in hospitals (Rout, 1989). Some stated that they came to this country with the hope of obtaining a higher degree and becoming specialists, but experienced discrimination at every stage. Although they had qualifications and experience which were equal to local graduates they saw no prospect of becoming specialists.

Box 3.2

Dr T was a medical graduate from India. Her husband was a medical registrar in a local hospital. She always wanted to get into general practice. She thought she was lucky to get a partnership in a practice in the same area where she lived. Her senior partner was nice to her and gave the impression of being helpful. Things appeared different after a year when she realised that her senior partner had been exploiting her by preventing her registering patients in her name and making her work more than she was supposed to do. Dr T was very unhappy about it but was unable to do anything because she knew that she could lose her job if she made any protest. In the meantime her husband's tenure had come to an end and he had difficulty in getting a job in his desired field. He had to take up a job in a nearby hospital which was not his first choice. The couple had to stay in the area because of the financial commitments and their children's education. Dr T continued working for two more years after which it became unbearable. She resigned from her job and opened a surgery where she started from the scratch. After five years of struggle, she has built up her practice and now feels financially sound.

2.2 Over/Under Promotion

Over promotion can result in stress, for example, when a receptionist is promoted to a practice manager's post she will be expected to take on different responsibilities. She may find it difficult to manage things which require special skill and experience such as administration and delegation. When an individual is promoted too soon, without having the required skills or is already working hard in the previous job, she may experience low selfesteem. Lack of promotion prospects can also be a source of stress when an individual has mastered his or her job. As a result of over or under promotion, people develop behavioural disorders ranging from minor psychological symptoms and psychosomatic complaints to serious mental disorder (A'Brook, 1973).

2.3 Job Performance

Performance appraisal can be a potential source of stress for both appraiser and the appraised. In general practice regular appraisal of employees by the practice managers could be stressful especially when a decision needs to be taken to penalise a receptionist/secretary after continuous appraisal (Rout, 1996). In other instances GPs may find it stressful to fire a practice manger who is incompetent. Now the new phenomenon of GP appraisal (revalidation) is awaiting implementation. The Department of Health and the Royal College of General Practitioners are jointly planning to develop a strategy for assessing the competence of GPs. GPs are apprehensive about revalidation.

2.4 Retirement/Redundancy

Particular pressure can arise for individuals who are forced to retire early. For example, after the introduction of the GP contract in 1990 some GPs especially middle aged and older GPs found it difficult to cope with the change. Anecdotal evidence suggests that these GPs preferred early retirement to working under stress and strain. Thus their unplanned early retirement is likely to have caused anxiety and stress. Some others could not do the same because of their heavy financial commitment (i.e. mortgage, private education of their children). These GPs felt trapped in the middle. Our study supports the views of McGoldrick and Cooper (1985) that the later years at jobs provide particular pressure which becomes more significant with increasing age of the employees.

The negative consequences of redundancy are well documented. For example, Fryer and Payne (1986) suggest that a person may suffer from loss of status which accompanied the job, a sense of failure, lowered self esteem, low life satisfaction, depression, loneliness and isolation, and other behavioural problems.

3. ROLE BASED STRESS

An individual's role at work has been a main source of occupational stress, involving role ambiguity and role conflict, as well as responsibility for people and conflicts stemming from organisational boundaries.

3.1 Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity

Role conflict occurs when there are conflicting job demands from different members in the organisation, or by being involved with a job that conflicts with personal values. It was found that men who suffered from role conflict had lower job satisfaction and higher job related tension (Kahn *et al.*, 1964; Vansell *et al.*, 1981). Researchers suggest a wide range of situations which create role conflict such as the first job, a new boss, a transfer, a new company, a promotion, changes in the structure of the company will create stress (Ivancevich and Matteson, 1980). Studies also found that role conflict can lead to risks of cardiovascular ill health (for example, raised blood pressure and abnormal blood chemistry) (Ivancevich and Matteson, 1980).

Role ambiguity occurs when the individual has inadequate information about his/her work role and the behaviour that is expected from colleagues. This is quite evident in general practice for example; there is lack of clarity between the job description of the practice nurse and the district nurse and there is also some overlap between these two jobs. These professionals are under stress due to role ambiguity. GPs also face role ambiguity due to inadequate information regarding their role. For example, following the 1990 contract GPs were encouraged to set up various health promotion clinics but two years later the system was abolished. GPs felt that the goal posts were being moved too often and decisions were being taken by the government unilaterally which they found was stressful. Recent introduction of PCGs and PCTs imply further changes in general practice. A study revealed that men who suffered from role ambiguity experienced lower job satisfaction, high job related tension, greater futility and lower self confidence (Kahn et al., 1964). French et al., (1982) revealed that women perceive more role ambiguity than men.

3.2 Responsibility

Responsibility has been identified as a potential stressor associated with one's role in the organisation. Both responsibility for people and responsibility for things have been identified as stressors but responsibility for people is more likely to be stressful than responsibility for things. Researchers found that responsibility for people was related to serum cholesterol levels, diastolic blood pressure and heavy smoking (French and Caplan, 1970). Increased responsibility for people means that the individual has to spend more time interacting with others, attending meetings, working alone, and as a consequence spend more time in trying to meet deadline pressures and schedules (French and Caplan, 1970).

Occupational Stress

Researchers acknowledged that responsibility for people is significantly more likely to lead to CHD than responsibility for things (French and Caplan, 1970; Wardwell *et al.*, 1964). Other authors found that responsibility for people's safety and lives was a major determinant in predicting risk of heart disease among air traffic controllers (Crump *et al.*, 1980). A study in the UK which covered over 1000 managers revealed links between physical stress to age and level of responsibility (Pincherle, 1972). There is an increased association of CHD risk factors with older age group managers who have increased levels of responsibility. It must be acknowledged that too little responsibility may also be a source of stress for individuals.

The members of the primary health care team deal with people which involves face to face consultation. One would presume that as a consequence of this the individual members of the primary care team carry greater risk, and are likely to suffer from stress. The example of a case study in box 3.3 highlights the degree of responsibility that lies with different individual members. This case clearly demonstrates the degree of responsibility that lies when dealing with people. Emma presented a very common condition which usually requires no specific treatment, but in meningitis the presentation of symptoms can be deceiving. There can be sudden deterioration of the condition and at the best, the patient has very little chance of survival. Although Dr B had seen her earlier there were no significant clinical signs to suspect meningitis. Dr R had the advantage of seeing Emma when the signs were obvious, but sadly it was too late to save her.

D	-	-
Rov	- 4	-
DUA	~	

Emma, a 13-year-old girl was brought into the surgery by her mother without an appointment to see a doctor. First her mother reported to the receptionist requesting an emergency appointment for Emma to see a doctor for a sore throat. She is well known to the staff for demanding emergency appointments for each and every condition in the past. The receptionist gave her an appointment for the next day. Emma's mother was not happy with the offer and wanted to talk to the practice manager. The practice manager rechecked the appointment book and confirmed that it was the earliest appointment that she had been offered. As usual Emma's mother was adamant for an immediate appointment so the practice manager offered her an appointment to see the practice nurse. Emma saw the practice nurse who found Emma had a sore throat which she thought was due to a virus infection, and advised Emma to take paracetamol every six hours. She assured her that she would be better in about 48 hours time. Emma's mother was not very happy and requested to see a doctor. The nurse eventually led Emma to Dr. B. Dr B examined her and found that Emma had a slight temperature and inflamed throat. She reconfirmed the diagnosis of viral infection and advised the same as the practice nurse had stated earlier but offered to see her again if there was any significant change in her symptoms. Emma returned home but gradually her condition deteriorated. Her temperature rapidly rose and she started vomiting. An hour later she developed a rash all over her body, became delirious and finally unconscious. Emma's mother rang the surgery for a home visit. This time Dr R, a partner in the same practice went to see her. He was shocked to see Emma in a semiconscious condition and observed signs of meningitis. He telephoned for an ambulance without any delay. Emma was taken to hospital but sadly died on the way. This is a potential case for litigation. Although in this particular case failure to diagnose may not be negligence, the process of litigation can be very stressful.

4. **RELATIONSHIPS AT WORK**

Working with other people can be both a source of stress and support. Supportive relationship at work is considered to be the central factor for organisational health and individual well-being. Researchers suggest that a supportive social relationship with subordinates, peers and supervisors at work will reduce the chances of interpersonal pressures, and directly reduce perceived stress at work (Lazarus, 1966). On the other hand, inconsiderate behaviour by the boss seems to contribute to feelings of more job pressure amongst workers (Buck, 1972). It was revealed that personal relationships were considered 'time consuming' or 'trivial' among research and development scientists who were promoted to management jobs (Cooper and Marshall, 1978). GPs may be particularly vulnerable to managerial stress because of their technical and scientific background. These GPs may give low priority to relationship at work. Also, some practice managers do not have any recognised management training for managing a practice in new and flexible ways. For these practice managers, supervising the work of receptionists could be a critical aspect of his/her job. Today, emphasis on team work and participation at work are the key factors to the job in primary care. This is discussed in chapter 7. It was found in a study that most of the practice managers were senior receptionists with very little management skill (Rout, 1996). Due to continuous changes in the NHS up-to-date training is essential for GPs, practice managers and other primary health care professionals (see chapter 9).

5.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND CLIMATE

Another potential stressor for different occupations arises from the organisation itself - its structure and climate, which can make working life either satisfactory or stressful, such as little or no participation in the decision making process, lack of effective communication and consultation and restriction in behaviour (Cooper and Marshall, 1976). In a national survey Margolis et al. (1974) found non-participation at work was a consistent and significant predictor of strain and job-related stress. It was found to be related to health risk factors, including overall poor physical health, escapist drinking, depression, low self esteem, low life satisfaction, low job satisfaction, low motivation at work, intention to leave job and absenteeism from work. Caplan and colleagues (1975) revealed that lack of participation in work activity was associated with negative psychological mood and behavioural responses including heavy smoking and escapist drinking. Opportunity for participation in decision making produced significantly greater job satisfaction, higher feelings, of self esteem and low job related feelings of threat (French and Caplan, 1970).

In primary care organisations sometimes practice managers complain that they do not get an opportunity to participate in decision making and receptionists usually are being excluded from organisational communication. Participation in the decision making process may help to increase employees 'investment' in the organisation, create a sense of belonging and improve communication channels. It is important that GPs should communicate with their employees effectively and involve them in participative decision making.

6. WORK/HOME INTERFACE

Stress at work may spill over and have a negative effect on family life, while stress at home may put strain on the individual at work. Researchers believe that there is a need to understand the reciprocal relationship between work and home demands (Burke and Greenglass, 1987). However, evidence suggests that work has a much stronger influence on family than the reverse (Evans and Bartolomè, 1984). Extreme life events (such as divorce, death of a spouse or partner) can affect life at work.

Researchers found that the home/work interface is a significant source of stress for both males and females, although differences exist between the two sexes (Davidson and Cooper, 1983). Married women with young children are increasingly entering the labour market (Lewis and Cooper, 1995) and the employment of married women has been blamed for the increase in the divorce rate. Exclusively employed mothers carry a disproportionate share of household and child care responsibilities (Emmons *et al.*, 1990; Hochschild, 1989; Lewis and Cooper, 1988). Moreover, family obligations increase with parenthood, and this increase is greater for women than for men. Employed mothers would therefore be expected to experience greater stress and strain than homemakers.

Pahl (1971) argues that the demand of combining work and family roles may be highly stressful and exhausting. The stress of managing multiple roles is greater when work and family role responsibilities are both heavy (Emmons *et al.*, 1990). There is growing concern about the psychological complications which can arise when occupying both family and work roles simultaneously (Barnett *et al.*, 1992; Eckenrode and Gore, 1990; Repetti *et al.*, 1989). Noor (1994) found that there was no relationship between women's employment status and their well-being. However, it was revealed from other studies that married women with younger children had worse mental health than those without children (McLanahan and Adams, 1987). It has been suggested that for this group, trying to balance job demands and the care of very young children may increase the stress of employment and reduce its positive effects.

Research evidence suggests that the average total workload (sum of paid and unpaid work) of working women was 78 hours per week compared to 68 hours for men. Crogham (1991) found that the total working day for working mothers was 7 hours longer than that of fathers. These long working hours are a possible contributing factor for stress experienced by working women (Frankenhaeuser *et al.*, 1989). A study of male and female managers in the UK, revealed that 82% of the women managers felt they faced 'greater pressures than men as managers' (Scase and Goffee, 1989). The most common pressure was associated with the conflicting demands of home and work for these women managers (Scase and Goffee, 1989).

6.1 **Dual career family**

Economic pressure and the need to develop one's self identity, are important motivators for women to pursue full-time careers outside the home. In Britain women now constitute 45 per cent of the labour force (EOC, 1996). Dual career marriage is now becoming part of Western life. Rapoport and Rapoport (1971) describe families in which both heads of the household pursue a professional career, whilst maintaining a family relationship. Dual career couples share three jobs between two individuals, i.e., two careers and looking after the home. Women are faced with conflict because of society's traditional expectations concerning their role. However, in a review of literature it was suggested that men are taking a greater share of household tasks than previously but they have not taken the family role to the same extent as women have taken for paid work roles (Pleck, 1993). Although both men and women showed egalitarian attitudes towards work and family roles, in reality the division of labour at home continues to be unequal. When couples become adversaries rather than offering mutual support, the relationship may suffer.

Since women now constitute a sizeable proportion of the workforce, organisations can no longer afford to ignore the effects of home pressures at work. Researchers have suggested organisational policies for the reduction of stress in dual career families (Cooper, 1981). For example, on-site child care, flexible working hours, job sharing, more part-time work, paternity leave and paid leave for child sickness. We shall discuss these in chapter 8.

It has been acknowledged that individual differences relate to perceptions of stress in the environment. However, several individual differences variables have been explored as either mediators of stress appraisal or moderators of the stress-outcome relationship. Therefore, we shall review individual differences variables such as personality variables that are frequently studied in the stress literature and each has some evidence regarding its stress effects. We shall also review other moderators of stress such as coping strategies, life events, social support, ethnicity and gender in the next chapter. This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 4 THE INDIVIDUAL AND STRESS

In chapter 2 we have discussed that the interaction between the person and the environment leads to the stress response. In chapter 3 we reviewed the potential stressors present in the environment. This chapter is intended to consider individual differences which influence the experience of occupational stress.

1. PERSONALITY CHARACTERISTICS

Why are certain people more vulnerable than others to the stressors they encounter? The individual's personality, coping strategies, life stages, age, sex, ethnic background, previous experience, number and intensity of stressors and degree of social support he/she receives are seen to affect stress vulnerability. It is important to note that situations are not inherently stressful but there are certain personal factors which might make a person more or less vulnerable to stress. Researchers have identified different personality types which appear to be more 'stress prone' than others. In this chapter, we will consider personality types, life events, social support and coping strategies. In addition, certain characteristics such as age, sex, and ethnic background will be presented.

2. TYPE A: CORONARY-PRONE BEHAVIOUR

The notion of Type A behaviour pattern was first introduced by two cardiologists, Meyer Friedman and Ray Rosenman (1974) in the early 1960s and developed later establishing a relationship between certain behavioural patterns and the prevalence of coronary heart disease (CHD). These traits

were referred to as the 'coronary prone behaviour pattern' Type A (high risk of CHD), as opposed to the more relaxed 'Type B' (who had a low risk of CHD). They observed an unusual pattern of behaviour common to their cardiac patients attending the clinic. These patients were agitated and had a tendency to sit on the edges of the chairs. An upholsterer who came to their office to repair furniture commented on the excessive wear on the front edges of the couches and chairs. Following this Friedman and Rosenman launched the research which led to establishing Type A behaviour common to their heart patients.

Type A behaviour was found to be the overt behavioural syndrome characterised by 'extremes of competitiveness, striving for achievement, aggressiveness, hyper-alertness, explosiveness of speech, tenseness of facial musculature and feelings of being under pressure of time and under the challenge of responsibility'. It has also been suggested that 'people having this particular behavioural pattern were often so deeply involved and committed to their work that other aspects of their lives were relatively neglected' (Jenkins, 1971). The most significant trait of the type A person is his ceaseless sense of time urgency. Rosenman and Friedman (1974) refer to this pattern as the 'hurry sickness'. On the other hand, type B individuals are characterised by Jenkins et al. (1967) as being more relaxed and easy going, rarely becoming impatient, not easily irritated, working steadily without a feeling of being driven by time pressure, and speaking in a slower and more modulated manner. Rosenman et al. (1966) maintain that this dichotomy is not a sharp division as 'the subject with behaviour pattern A simply exhibits to an enhanced and sometimes excessive degree certain traits which are variously present in subject with pattern B but to a lesser degree'.

In their study on health service workers Rees and Cooper (1992) found that doctors had the highest overall Type A score (apart from general managers) and scored highest on the three Type A variables. They reported being more goal-oriented, under much time pressure and were very ambitious in comparison with other health workers. This may suggest that doctors may be more prone to higher stress levels and to stress-related illnesses (such as CHD).

Rosenman (1978) proposed that many people do not possess Type A characteristics when they enter an occupation but increased time pressures, demands for speed and conscientiousness required by the job can convert a relaxed Type B into a Type A individual. In general practice, Porter and colleagues (1985) found that extreme Type A personalities are more likely to report feelings of stress than extreme Type B personalities. Nevertheless, the authors warn that caution should be taken because only 4 out of the 15 doctors fell into these categories. It remains to be seen whether doctors and primary care professionals were of Type A personality before entering into

their profession or whether they develop or intensify such personality after entering into the profession.

Consider an example of how two people react differently to the same situation (see box 4.1). By analysing two personality (Type A/B) types in box 4.1 one may conclude that the GP (Type A) did not achieve anything by reacting in an irrational manner whereas the practice manager (Type B) utilised her time constructively by planning the evening dinner. The GP not only lost his time, but he also disturbed the physiological mechanism in his body by being restless which may have caused damage to his health and well-being.

Box 4.1

A GP and his practice manager were going to attend a primary health care workshop in a postgraduate centre. On the way, there was a traffic jam due to an accident. They had only 15 minutes to reach their destination. The GP started to become restless and began to open and close his car window in desperation. He started to swear, played loud music and beat drums on the dashboard. On the other hand, the practice manager sat in the car calmly and began to draw plans for the evening dinner. The personalities of the GP and the practice manager, and the coping strategies they used were totally different. The GP was impatient as he was getting delayed but the practice manager was calm, composed and engaged herself in doing a useful task.

The criticism of the early studies were that they were retrospective in nature but this methodological weakness was overcome by the Classic Western Collaborative Group Study (Rosenman et al., 1964, 1966), which largely supported the results of the earlier studies. This was a prospective study of more than 3400 American men who were evaluated by psychiatrists after intensive interviews as being Type A or Type B. It was found that after two and half years Type A men between the ages of 39 and 49 had 6.5 times the incidence of CHD than their Type B peers. Type A men between the ages of 50 and 59 had 1.9 times the incidence of CHD than Type B. In addition, the Type A men had a large number of risk factors of heart disease such as elevated serum cholesterol levels, elevated beta-lipoproteins and high blood pressure. The same relationship between behavioural types and CHD was found after four and half years of study. In the Framingham Heart Study (Haynes et al., 1978a, 1978b, 1980, 1981) Type A behaviour was a predictor of CHD among men in white-collar occupations. However, the results of some studies have not always found consistent relationships between type A behaviour pattern and CHD.

2.1 Type A Negative Components

The relationship between type A and CHD began to fade after about 1977. There were also some surprising findings that type As had lower mortality after a first heart attack than did type B patients (Dimsdale, 1988; Ragland and Bland, 1988). It is possible that all the behaviours do not contribute equally to coronary heart disease. The negative components of type A personality construct are anger, hostility and aggression (Spielberger et al., 1985). Research suggests that hostility and aggression is higher in type A people than in others (Check and Dyck, 1986). Other researchers during the 1980s also suggested that the toxic ingredients of type A were hostility and anger (Blumenthal et al., 1987; Dembroski and Costa, 1987). Reanalysis of data from the Western Collaborative Group Study also shows that the hostility component of the type A construct is the most coronary prone (Hecker et al., 1988). The connection between hostility and CHD has suggested that hostility and type A behaviour together predict elevated levels of plasma lipids and low-density lipo-protein cholesterol, which are risk factors for CHD (Weidner et al., 1987).

In a prospective study of 225 medical students (who filled out the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI), which includes a measure of hostility), Barefoot and colleagues (1983) assessed the health status of these doctors after 30 years. It was found that there was nearly 5 times greater incidence of CHD among the doctors with a hostility score above the median than among those with a hostility score below the median. Also hostility predicted mortality from all causes. The number of deaths was 6.4 times greater among those with lower hostility scores. The findings are supported by Shekelle et al. (1983) that the mortality rate among males with low hostility scores (used MMPI) measured 25 years earlier, was 18% compared to a 30% rate among those with a high hostility score. Other studies suggested the existence of coronary prone personality with a core of impatience and other activities from the type A pattern (Lloyd and Gartell, 1983). Other researchers reported that type A individuals had an increased risk for several stress related illness, not just for CHD (Goldband, 1980; Irvine *et al.*, 1982)

A study in the UK also does not support the original findings of the Western Collaborative Group Study. Type A behaviour (measured using the Bortner scale) did not predict major ischaemic heart disease events among a random sample of British males (age group 40-59 years) over a 6 year period (Johnston *et al.*, 1987). Although validity and reliability are claimed, the use of the Bortner questionnaire might not be as satisfactory as the structured interview technique to classify type A behaviour.

Friedman and Booth-Kewley (1987) reviewed hundreds of studies of CHD and the type A construct using meta-analysis (meta-analysis is a technique which has been used to combine statistically results of many independent studies). They found a significant average association between the type A behaviour patterns and CHD. They concluded that it was more likely to be the subcomponents of type A behaviour such as anger and hostility that cause CHD rather than the whole type A behavioural pattern. When the type A behavioural pattern was measured by the structured interviews, the prediction of CHD was considerably better than when type A behavioural pattern was measured by the Jenkin's Activity Survey.

2.2 The Measurement of Type A and Coronary Heart Disease (CHD)

Type A behaviour pattern is usually measured by the Structured Interviews (SI) (Rosenman, 1978; Friedman and Powell, 1984). An interviewer has the subject respond to situations that elicit impatience, competitiveness and hostility in the SI. The subject's actual content of the response is less important than how the subject responds (e.g. subject's nonverbal cues). The psychometric properties of the most popular measures of type A behaviour are not well understood. The Jenkins Activity Survey (Jenkins *et al.*, 1979), the Bortner (1969) type A scale, and the Framingham type A scale (Haynes *et al.*, 1980) all imply (to assess) type A behaviour as an antecedent of CHD.

A type A questionnaire is shown in Figure 4.1 for your own assessment. This questionnaire, based on work by Bortner will give you an approximate idea of the extent of your type A behaviour. This questionnaire yields scores ranging from 14 to 154 and summing an individual's score gives an overall measure of type A behaviour, the higher scores being indicative of more type A behaviour. The average score is 84. For general practitioners, however, the average score is 95 (Rout and Rout, 1993).

3. THE HARDY PERSONALITY

The concept of 'hardiness' (stress resistant) was developed by two psychologists Suzanne Kobasa and Salvatore Maddi (1987). It is considered that 'hardiness' keeps an individual healthy despite stressful life events. Hardy personality theory states that 'among persons facing significant stressors, those high in hardiness will be significantly less likely to fall ill, either mentally or physically than those who lack hardiness or who display

					Y	OUF	RBF	HA	VIO	UR		
Could you pleas the way you beh	se ci	ircle in y	one	num ever	iber i yday	for e	ach	of the	e 14	ques	tions bel	ow, which best reflects
For example, if number between circle one of the	you n 7 e lov	and and	alwa 11. I numl	ays o If you bers	on tin 1 are betw	ne fo usua een	or ap ally 1 1 an	poin more d 5.	tmen casi	its, or ual at	n questic pout app	on 1 you would circle a pintments you would
Casual about appointments		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 11	Never late
Not competitive	•	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 11	Very competitive
Good listener		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 11	Anticipates what others are going to say (nod, attempts to finish for them)
Never feels rusl (even under pre	hed	1 re)	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 11	Always rushed
Can wait patien	tly	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 11	Impatient while waiting
Takes things on at a time	e	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	91	0 11	Tries to do many things at once, thinks about what will do next
Slow deliberate talker	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	Emphatic in speech, fast and forceful
Cares about satisfying him/ herself no matte what others may think	1 er	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	Wants good job recognised by others
Slow doing	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	Fast (eating, things walking)
Easy going	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	Hard driving (pushing yourself and others)
Expresses feelings	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	Hides feelings
Many outside	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	Few interests outside work/home
Unambitious	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	Ambitious
Casual	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	Eager to get things done

Figure 4.1. Type A questionnaire

alienation, powerlessness and threat in the face of change' (Kobasa et al., 1985).

Hardiness involves three components: commitment, control and challenge (Kobasa, 1979). Commitment means the tendency to become intensely involved in whatever one is doing and believe in the value of that work (sense of self). Conversely individuals low on this commitment dimension tend to be alienated from work and from themselves. Control is defined as the tendency to believe as if one can influence the course of events encountered rather than remain powerless. Challenge involves the expectation that it is normal for life to change and gives opportunity for personal growth. These people look for stimulation and they see change as stimulating.

In stressful situations people with hardy personality tend to remain healthier than those who feel external forces make them powerless and alienated. It is suggested that people with 'hardy' personality tend to make positive and optimistic cognitive appraisal and this leads to the use of appropriate coping strategies. An example of the hardy personality and a contrast to this personality is given in box 4.2.

Box 4.2

Dr P has been a GP for 25 years in a group practice. He managed his surgeries to a satisfactory level, until he was faced with additional pressure. He experienced difficulty in coping and blamed his partners and the practice manager for his own problems. The changes in the NHS during the 1990s, which resulted in mounting paperwork, made his pressure exacerbated. He blamed the government for everything. He started drinking alcohol heavily, became depressed and finally resigned from the job. On the other hand, Dr K in the same practice was happy to see the changes, encouraged other partners to take on fundholding and felt in control of the situation. He arranged his work schedule according to the changes, was able to continue his recreational activities and felt happier. It is important to state here that Dr K was always committed to his work and found the changes challenging and stimulating. It is evident how Dr K's hardy personality helped him cope better than Dr P.

Research has shown that hardiness is a good predictor of health, even in the face of stressful life events (Kobasa *et al.*, 1982, 1985). Kobasa *et al.* (1982) observed the positive buffering effect on a sample of lawyers. Hardiness is also associated with reduced diastolic blood pressure under conditions of laboratory test (Contrada, 1989). Hardiness buffers against burnout in intensive care nursing (Lambert and Lambert, 1987; Rich and Rich, 1987). Pollock (1989) believes that hardy individuals engage in more

active coping and seek more resources than the less hardy do. Collins (1996) examined the relation of work stress, hardiness and burnout among hospital staff nurses. It was concluded that promoting hardiness through staff development programmes may help to manage stress and reduce burnout in the health care setting. It is also suggested by other authors that when selection of medical (and/or nursing) students is undertaken the personality hardiness factor should be considered (Fain and Schreier, 1989)

4. LOCUS OF CONTROL

The concept of locus of control was developed by Rotter (1966, 1990), based on social learning theory. In Rotter's model individuals may be classified along an internal-external (locus of control) continuum. Locus of control refers to the extent to which the person perceives that he/she can control a given situation. The people at the internal extreme of the dimension view their behaviour and that of those around them, as being directly under their control. On the other hand, external people see their behaviour as influenced by events which are outside of their control and most events as dependent on chance, luck or fate.

Internality is associated with academic success and motivation to achieve (Rotter, 1966). Internal people are more confident that they can bring about changes in their own environment but the external feel powerless to bring about changes. Externals more likely to experience higher levels of anxiety, and report neurotic symptoms. It has been suggested by Davidson (1985) that men are more likely to be internalisers whereas women have a strong tendency to be externalisers. Externals appear to be easy going people, prone to persuasion and ready to accept information, whereas internals like to be in control and repel efforts aimed at controlling their behaviour (McKenna, 1987). However, Rotter (1966) suggests that both externals and internals are more psychologically maladjusted than the people scoring in the mid range. Internalised locus of control may be an important asset for primary health care professionals. An example of locus of control is given in box 4.3.

Studies have also shown that locus of control is linked to coping with stress and dealing with personal or family health problems (Donham *et al.*, 1983; Ludenia and Donham, 1983). Internals expend considerable amount of mental energy in getting information that will enable them to influence events around them. These people squander more effort to cope with or achieve mastery over their personal, social and work environment (Phares, 1976). In addition, an internal locus of control has been found to be a major characteristic of the 'hardy personality' type discussed previously, who were

able to maintain good health despite high stress levels (Cooper, Cooper and Eaker, 1988).

Box 4.3

Mrs D, a practice manager with internal locus of control believes that she has control over what happens in the practice and that her input influences the doctors which ultimately influences her personal outcomes. She is confident that she can affect a change in the practice. Doctors and staff in their practice find it difficult to avoid principles agreed in the practice meetings. In contrast Mrs H, another practice manager in a neighbouring practice with an external locus of control believes that she has little control over the situations in her practice and ultimately the outcomes are determined by others or by chance. She experiences difficulty in rearranging the schedule during staff shortages although all have agreed to cooperate in times of need. We found from our interviews that she was given the authority but she does not know how to handle it. She feels that she has no power to change anything in her practice. She interprets the situation in this manner rather than the actual event. This shows that personality plays a role in determining personal outcome.

5. LIFE EVENTS

A considerable amount of research suggests that certain life event changes increase the likelihood of stress-related illness. Simply encountering changes, pleasant or unpleasant, desirable or undesirable, is believed to raise stress level. Much of the research carried out by Holmes and Rahe (1967), who attempted to discover what life-change situations are most stressful and what physical problems, if any, may develop because of stressful lifechanges. They asked large groups of individuals to assign arbitrary points to various life events depending on how much readjustment each had required. The greater the number of points assigned to an event, the more stressful it is for the individual experiencing it. The list of events in the Holmes and Rahe's (1967) scale include items such as birth of a child, divorce, and death of spouse (see Figure 4.2 for example items).

Holmes and Rahe attempted to discover if life changes affect personal adjustment and health. They related the total number of points accumulated by individuals during a 12 months period to changes in their health. They found that the greater the 'stress points' individuals accumulated the greater their likelihood of becoming ill. In a series of studies they found high life change scores were related to the onset of illness within the following two-

year period. For example, studies have shown a positive correlation between mounting life change and sudden cardiac death (Rahe and Lind, 1971) and time of onset of myocardial infarction (Rahe and Paasikivi, 1971; Theorell and Rahe, 1975).

Listed below are some example items from the Holmes-Rahe social adjustment scale showing the events which occur in the process of living (for a full scale refer Homes and Rahe, 1967).

LIFE EVENT	POINTS VALUE
Death of spouse	100
Divorce	73
Death of close family member	63
Sacked from work	47
Retirement	45
Death of a close friend	37
Trouble with boss	23
Change in residence	20
Change in eating habits	15

Figure 4.2. Some examples from the Holmes-Rahe social adjustment scale

A number of life event lists using similar techniques have been developed, for example, the Psychiatric Epidemiological Research Interview Life Event Scale (Dohrenwend et al., 1982). Although there is an established fact that there is a link between changes in life events and the onset of illness there are some flaws in questionnaires which attempt to measure the effects of these changes. An important criticism of the questionnaires is that individual perceptions of the life events are not taken into account. Each item on the life event scale may have a different meaning for each individual being questioned. In fact items on any life event scale should relate specifically to the individual being questioned. Also everybody does not experience traumatic life events as studied by Holmes and Rahe. Research has shown that it is negative rather than positive life events that show substantial relationship with outcomes such depression as and psychosomatic symptoms (Thoits, 1983).

6. DAILY HASSLES

Hassles are "the irritating, frustrating, distressing demands that to some degree characterise everyday transactions with the environment" (Kanner *et al.*, 1981). Lazarus *et al.*, 1985, 1988) found that minor daily hassles (see

50

Figure 4.3 for example items) are important causes of stress. They developed a Hassle Scale, which contains 117 items that range from minor annoyances, to major problems on which people indicate the extent to which they have been hassled by common events during the past month. The greater the hassle individuals experience the poorer their psychological well-being.

Lazarus and colleagues report that the more hassle people experience the larger the number of symptoms and minor ailments they report (De Longis *et al.*, 1988; Lazarus *et al.*, 1985). Although traumatic life events have an adverse impact on health, daily hassles in life may sometimes have greater effect on health and well-being. The example in Box 4.4 shows how daily hassle can be stressful for individuals.

Box 4.4

Dr J lives in a valley 8 miles away from his practice. His driveway is very steep and he experiences difficulty in driving during winter months especially when there is frost or snow fall. One morning he was late getting up and was surprised to see heavy snow fall during the night. However he quickly got ready and got into the car. He wanted to take a chance and drove off. Unfortunately he got stuck in the snow on his driveway. He was always prepared for these kinds of situations but on this particular day he could not find the spade in its normal place. He started to panic as the time was almost 9 o'clock, when he should have started the surgery. In the past, in similar situations, he had used his second car (which is front wheel drive) but his wife had already left home for her work in that car. A neighbour with a four wheel drive had towed his car in the past, but he was away on holiday. Dr J panicked and became agitated. He developed palpitation, sweating and became irritable. He was swearing at his son, thinking that he may have put the spade somewhere. Then he calmed himself down and looked for the spade again. To his great relief he found it in the garage not far from its usual place although it was partially covered by a bin bag. He managed to clear the snow and was able to reach his surgery.

The example in the box 4.4 shows that Dr J could have avoided or handled the situation in a different way. Clearly Dr J could have put his alarm on to get up on time. Secondly, he could have kept his spade in a place where he could have found it easily and/or he could have kept himself calm while looking for the spade. Performed poorly at a task Criticised verbally Interrupted while talking Was stared at Was embarrassed Argued with someone Had car trouble Had difficulty in traffic Misplaced something Bad weather Money problem Heard bad news Experienced narrow escape from danger Was late for work/appointment Exposed to upsetting TV show

Figure 4.3. Examples of daily hassles

7. UPLIFTS

Uplifts refers to "positive experiences such as the joy derived from manifestation of love, relief at hearing good news, the pleasure of a good night's rest and so on" (Kanner *et al.*, 1981). It was found by researchers that more pleasant experiences (uplifts) can help to withstand the unpleasant feelings that arise from the experience of hassles. It is believed that uplifts 'buffer' the stress of hassles on the mental and physical condition of a person. Uplifts reduce the effects of annoying, frustrating problems, and assist as a source of peace, satisfaction and happiness (Kanner *et al.*, 1981). The following are some of the examples of uplifts: saving money, liking colleagues, or finding something presumed lost. It is suggested that illness is expected to be more likely to occur when hassles are frequent and uplifts relatively less (Lazarus and Cohen, 1977; Lazarus, 1980).

8. SOCIAL SUPPORT

Social support refers to the help or support from other human beings such as spouse, family, friends, neighbours, colleagues and acquaintances. Cobb (1976) suggests that individuals with social support believe they are loved and cared for, esteemed and valued, and part of a social network that can provide goods or services and mutual defence in times of need. House (1981) defines social support as having four components:

- 1. Emotional support provides empathy, care, love, concern, sense of belongingness.
- 2. Instrumental support involves direct assistance, as when a person in need gets the help in goods or services (eg. money).
- 3. Informational support involves giving advice, suggestions or information which can be used in coping with a problem.
- 4. Appraisal or esteem support occurs through people's encouragement by approving the actions of the individual or by recognising them. This type of support helps to build the person's feeling of self-worth and being valued.

According to House (1981) social support can reduce stress and improve health in three possible ways:

- 1. Social support can directly reduce stress level. For example, support from work colleagues can reduce interpersonal pressure at work. This is illustrated in box 4.5.
- 2. Social support can improve health and well-being by raising resistance to illness.
- 3. Supportive relationships buffer the impact of stress on health and promote a sense of well-being. This is illustrated in box 4.6 where a woman doctor expressed her emotion when she was under stress.

In England, 16% of men and 11% of women report a severe lack of social support. Men and women in unskilled manual jobs are more than twice as likely to report this lack of support compared to those in professional employment (British Heart Foundation, 2000).

Box 4.5

Mrs. V is a practice manager in a group practice. Her husband is a police officer and works full-time. She has a good relationship with everyone at work. She has sympathetic ears and also gets sympathy from others at times of need. The doctors encourage her to develop new and innovative ideas and cooperate with her in implementing the ideas. She gets excellent help from her husband at home on all aspects of domestic work. If there is a problem at work she discusses it openly with her husband who gives her full support by listening to her and giving suggestions. She expressed that because doctors empower her in the workplace and with her husband's support at home she can cope with the pressure of the work after the accelerated changes in the NHS which has increased the workload in the practice tremendously.
'I was angry and upset. I couldn't understand why one of my partners attacked me during the practice meeting. I burst into tears and I felt indignant. When I came back to my office to do the paperwork after the meeting I could not concentrate and continued sobbing. My senior partner came in and talked to me for some time in a sympathetic manner and was very supportive. He is a trained counsellor. Although my problems did not go away he made me think things clearly. I recovered rapidly and coped well'.

There are mainly two traditional models of social support - buffer model and direct effect model. According to the buffer hypothesis social support acts to protect people from stressful conditions i.e. social support is most influential under high stress (Cobb, 1976). The buffering hypothesis states that social support influences health by protecting the individual against the negative effects of higher levels of stress. The protective function is effective mainly when the individual encounters a higher level of stress. On the other hand, under little or no stress conditions, lesser or no buffering occurs. Individuals seek and report more social behaviour when stress increases (Dunkel-Schetter, Folkman and Lazarus, 1987; Schwarz, 1977). Women who had strong personal resources were more likely to receive instrumental support under high stress conditions but they were more likely to rely on their personal resources under low stress conditions (Hobfoll *et al.*, 1991). In addition, those with weak personal resources were unlikely to receive help when they needed it most.

Researchers view that social support is beneficial because it helps people to cope with stress. Cohen and Wills (1985) suggest that buffering works in two ways. First, those people with high levels of social support, when exposed to strong stressors are less likely to appraise the situation as stressful than those with low levels of social support. Second, social support can buffer the effects of stress by modifying people's responses to stressors after they have appraised the situation as stressful. For example, people with a high level of social support may talk to someone who could provide a solution to the problem. On the other hand, people with a low level of social support may not get this favour and therefore the negative effect of stress is more than for people with high social support.

In a study House (1981) measured the amount of support workers received from their supervisors, co-workers, spouse, relatives and friends. He found that support from supervisor and co-workers moderately reduced perceived stress at work. Support from spouse, relatives and friends, had little or no direct effect on the perception of stress at work or direct effect on health, but the support sources had buffering effects.

The direct effect hypothesis states that social support reduces stress regardless of the state of health, and is beneficial to health and well-being regardless of the level of stress. The hypothesis maintains that the invaluable effects of social support are similar under both high and low stressor intensities. Direct effect works in several ways (Cohen and Wills, 1985; Wartman and Dunkel-Schetter, 1987). For instance, people with high social support may have a greater self-esteem and sense of belonging than those with low social support. This produces a positive outlook which may be advantageous to people's health independent of the experience of stress i.e. by increasing resistance to illness. Also high social support may stimulate individuals to lead a healthy life-style, for example, a supportive relationship can help to establish healthy habits (good nutrition, exercise, help to prevent unhealthy habits like smoking or drinking alcohol excessively). This principle is followed in Weight Watchers, Alcoholics Anonymous and other self-help groups.

A study in California (Berkman and Syme, 1979) found that the death rate was higher among men who were unmarried, had fewer social contacts with friends and relatives and who were not church members. For women marital status did not have any effect, but close relationship patterns, and church membership were connected with lower death rates. Another study looked at the differences between Japanese and American cultures in terms of social support and stress. Japan has the lowest rate of coronary heart disease (CHD) in the world because of a lower intake of fat in the diet. It was found that the high-fat diet of Americans contributed substantially to their rate of CHD. There was an attempt to find out if there were other social factors involved in the much lower mortality rates due to heart disease among the Japanese. It was revealed that when Japanese people moved to Hawaii, the rate of CHD went up and it went up again when they moved to California (approximately double the rate in Japan). This difference could not be explained because the known risk factors of hypertension, serum cholesterol level and smoking were roughly the same in all these regions (Marmot et al., 1975). Matsumoto (1970) explained that the Japanese way of life may be generally more supportive. He suggests that there is an increasing emphasis on individualism in the west, whilst in Japan, collectivity orientations have been strongly maintained. The value system in Japan emphasises group welfare and group consensus. Marmot et al. (1975) suggest that the demanding and hectic lifestyle of America with a lack of social support are the reasons for the rising prevalence of CHD among Japanese living in California.

Researchers have shown that people who lack social support from family, friends and co-workers have more psychological and physical symptoms than those with support. It was found by Gore (1978) that unemployed people who lacked social support had higher serum cholesterol levels, depression and illness compared to those with supportive relationship. Studies also revealed that a lack of support from spouse or partner was related to poor mental well-being, anxiety and depression among construction site managers (Sutherland and Davidson, 1989). It is well known that social support from the boss or co-workers could benefit individuals in the workplace (La-Rocco and Jones, 1978; House, 1981).

Several studies support the main effect model of social support. However, it is important to note that the actual sources of support, the type of stress, the observed outcome, class and gender will show whether a main effect or buffering effect will function.

Researchers found that the average effect of social support across stressful events is modest and sometimes it has a negative effect on the recipient (Sarason *et al.*, 1990; Vaux, 1988). It was also found that social support can harm an individual's health (Suls, 1982). Members of the social network with a tendency to intrude may actually make things worse (Lieberman, 1982). Conflict within a relationship may add more to distress than to mitigate (Stephens *et al.*, 1987).

9. COPING STRATEGIES

As yet, there is still confusion about the meaning and definition of coping and how it functions. Coping can be defined as "an individual's attempt to manage internal and external environmental demands or conflicts which tax one's resources" (Lazarus and Launier, 1978). Recently, Lazarus and Folkman (1991) suggested that "coping consists of cognitive and behavioural efforts to manage specific external and/or internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person". Coping is not a stable individual trait but is constantly changing as a function of continuous appraisals and reappraisals of the situation or the event.

According to Lazarus and Folkman (1991) there are two functions of coping, problem-focused and emotion-focused. Problem-focused coping involves taking direct action to change a stressful situation (for example, by seeking information about what to do or by confronting the individual who is responsible for the particular problem) or to reduce the demands of the situation or increase ones resources to deal with it. Emotion-focused coping attempts to reduce the emotional consequences of the stressful situation, it usually does not change the threatening condition but makes the individual feel better. In this case the individual avoids thinking trouble and deny the situation. On the other hand, emotion-focused coping such as denial can serve a positive function on a short term basis where direct actions are limited. Individuals rely on both types of coping (Lazarus and Folkman,

1991) to manage stressful situations. One form of coping may be preferred to the other depending on the situation. For example, problem-focused coping could be used when the outcome of an event is appraised as amenable to change, whereas, emotion-focused coping could be used when the outcome of an event is appraised as unchangeable (Folkman and Lazarus, 1980).

Some research indicates that individuals employ different methods of coping for different stress agents but others suggest that there are stabilities in coping (i.e. individuals employ the same or similar modes of coping over a period of time). Gorzynski *et al.* (1981) studied how 30 patients coped with the threat of breast biopsy. These patients were studied earlier by Katz *et al.* (1970). It was established by Gorzynski and colleagues (1980) that the 'psychological defence patterns' were stable over time and also hormonal secretions were more or less stable. Kobasa (1979) also suggests consistencies in coping from her studies. However, Lazarus and Folkman (1991) argue that there is both stability and change in coping.

Folkman and Lazarus (1988) provide a questionnaire to assess the coping process. The items include problem-focused categories such as 'talk to someone to find out more about the situation' and emotion-focused categories such as 'didn't let it get to me'. They identified 8 kinds of coping using the revised 67 item "ways of coping" questionnaire (Folkman and Lazarus, 1985; Folkman *et al.*, 1986). Two kinds are problem-focused, one is confrontative and interpersonal, the other emphasises planful problem-solving. Six others are primarily emotion-focused. These include distancing, escape avoidance, accepting blame, seeking support, positive reappraisal and exercising self-control over the expression of feelings. Figure 4.4 contains a sample of items from the above scale.

According to Pearlin and Schooler (1978) coping can be categorised into three parts: responses that change or modify the situation; responses that change the meaning of the situation and responses that manage or control the negative consequence of a stressful event. The authors point out that the first category of response is less frequent because of the individuals lack of ability to change the situation. The second category of responses act cognitively to 'neutralise' the stressor. The final category of coping responses aim to decrease the negative impact of a stressful event. Pearlin and Schooler's data showed that it was more difficult to manage occupational stressors than to manage life stressors (for example, marriage and parenting). Ross and Altmaier (1994) suggest that in the area of occupational stress actual control is more difficult to exert, and hence the best coping strategies are those which emphasise dealing with events rather than changing them. Please think about the events or situations which have been stressful for you during the last three months. By 'stressful' we mean a situation which was difficult or troubling to you, either because it made you feel bad or because it took effort to deal with it. How do you usually cope with these situations?

Please circle the appropriate number.

 1 = Strongly disagree 2 = Moderately disagree 3 = No feelings either way 4 = Moderately agree 5 = Strongly agree 	
1. Blamed myself	12345
2. Kept my feelings to myself	12345
Wished I could have changed what happened	12345
4. Got mad at the people or things which caused the problem	12345
5. Let my feelings out in some way	12345
6. Just concentrated on what I had to do next - the next step	12345
7. Talked to someone about how I was feeling	12345
8. Didn't let it get to me; refused to think about it too much	12345
9. Went on as if nothing had happened	12345
10. Avoided being with people in general	12345
11. You went over the problem again and again	12345
12. Talked to someone who could do something about the problem	12345

Figure 4.4. Ways of coping

Individuals can exhibit different coping styles. Some may confront the problem directly by gathering information and taking direct action. Others may react suddenly without thinking through the consequences of the problem. For example, in box 4.7 problem solving worked out right for Dr M but disastrous for Dr H.

Box 4.7

Dr M had seen a patient as an extra (i.e. patients seen as emergency who come without an appointment) during his morning surgery who complained of heartburn and excessive flatulence. He was diagnosed to have indigestion and was prescribed antacids. At 4 PM the receptionist rang through to Dr M to inform him that the patient he had seen earlier had died suddenly. Dr M kept himself calm and continued the consultation with his current patient as he was half way through. He made a telephone call to the patient's relatives and extended his condolences after he had finished the consultation with his patient. Then he continued to see the rest of the patients in the surgery as the surgery was fully booked. At the end of the surgery Dr M asked the receptionist for the details of the conversation with the patient's relatives and gathered all the information. Then he went to the patient's house to meet the relatives of the deceased and handled the situation in a calm and confident manner. On the other hand, Dr H, in the same practice went through a similar situation. He saw a patient with a minor problem and the patient died suddenly the next day but he dealt with the situation in a different manner. He panicked after hearing the death news of the patient and immediately left the surgery to see the relatives of the deceased. His surgery was fully booked. His patients were waiting in the waiting room until he came back from the deceased patient's house an hour later after all the hassles. The patients were impatient after waiting for a long time in the waiting room. There was chaos in the surgery. He was unable to concentrate in the surgery and had to ask some of his patients to come back for the next available appointment. Some of them complained to the receptionists. The receptionists tried their best to keep the situation under control but without success. They were also under stress because the waiting room was too full and there was hardly any space to move around.

Coping behaviour can be described as either adaptive or maladaptive. It was revealed from some research that the immune system may be adversely affected by maladaptive coping strategies. In a study of women attending breast screening clinics it was found that women with a tendency to keep 'emotional material' buried are significantly more at risk from breast cancer than those who express their feelings, seek help and acknowledge the underlying stress related event (Cooper *et al.*, 1986).

10. GENDER

With rapid change in the society the role of women is radically changing. Today, 70% of married women work and over 41% of women with a child under five years of age are in employment, compared with 24% in 1983 (Social Trend, 1991). Women in contemporary society still face discrimination that add stress to their working conditions. Davidson (1990) has pointed out that despite the sexual discrimination and equal-pay legislation, there is still a gap between men's and women's earnings, and the law still sanctions unequal treatment in the areas of pensions and retirement. It is important to understand the gender-stress relationship at the work place. In the study of stress and women the most popular topics have been the rolestrain, dual role conflict, and role overload which presumed to affect married working women (Long and Porter, 1984). Despite working full-time, women are often expected to meet domestic commitments. There is some evidence that conflicting demands from work and family can be stressful. Now women are developing the same stress related illnesses as men. For example, Davidson and Cooper (1983) have shown that certain stressors in society adversely affect women more than men; such as lack of resource, support for working mothers, expectation of child rearing practices, and male attitudes towards working women. Karasek *et al.* (1987), in a Swedish study, found that working women showed higher levels of exhaustion, headaches, dizziness, depression, and respiratory problems than the men.

11. AGE

Age may play a moderating role in the perception of stress. For example, Theorell (1976) in a study of construction workers found "the measure of discord among employees to be much higher in the 41-56 age group than in the 56-65 year olds". Other researchers found that mid-life crisis increases one's sensitivity to stress regardless of occupation (McLean, 1979). The GPs continue to take 24 hours responsibility for their patients throughout their career irrespective of their age. In fact the average GP spends 73 hours working per week (BMA, 1987). As Chamber states, "The ageing process makes all this more difficult to manage because of increased fatiguability and likelihood of physical ailments" (Chamber, 1989). These fatigued doctors are likely to make errors and perform less than their full potential.

12. ETHNICITY

There are several problems for ethnic minorities in the workplace which create additional stress for them. For example, selection and recruitment processes are biased against ethnic minorities at work. In addition, lack of role models or mentors in the workplace can create stressful situations for minority groups. There is evidence of racial discrimination against ethnic minorities in the work environment (Smith, 1976). In our interview sample, one of the receptionists in a doctor's surgery felt discrimination for her colour by her colleagues and patients. This may promote feelings of inadequacy, low morale, poor motivation and low-self esteem which ultimately will create stress.

13. CONCLUSION

A large number of complex factors such as personality, coping strategies adopted, past experience, ethnicity, gender, social support, needs and wants

are responsible for an individual's vulnerability to stress. In this chapter we have reviewed the personality types such as type A coronary prone behaviour, locus of control, hardy personality and other conditioning variables such as age, gender and race. The research reviewed suggests that personality does play a part in the stress-health relationship. We considered both positive and negative components of various personality constructs. This information can be useful for management training, health promotion and counselling programmes. This may also be useful for GP practices to develop selection processes aimed at identifying those professionals who may be predisposed to stress-related illness. It is important to have a basic understanding of the influence of personality on stress-health relationship. This will help in developing self-awareness and increasing feelings of control which are critical components in the stress-resistance process. In addition to personality, coping strategies and social support are reviewed because these moderator variables affect stress vulnerability. In dealing with stress it is important to recognise the potential sources of stress, and understand the attributes of the person that will mediate the cognitive appraisal and subsequent responses to that event. In the next chapter consequences of stress will be discussed.

This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 5 CONSEQUENCES OF STRESS

It is difficult to estimate the cost of occupational stress because of several problems inherent in the effects of stress. Not only the individual suffering from stress pays a high toll, but his family and the organisation suffer as well. Stress produces a number of negative consequences, especially physical and mental ill health. In this chapter, we shall consider the effect of stress in terms of cost to the individual and to the organisation. This will include a brief review of literature on physical and mental health. Then behavioural response to stress, such as alcohol consumption and smoking will be discussed. And finally job satisfaction, absenteeism and burnout will be considered.

1. COST OF STRESS

It is illustrated by Rees and Cooper (1990) that approximately 1 in 8 of workplace subjects have stress symptoms of equal magnitude to patients attending clinical psychology out-patient clinics. In the BIS Applied Systems Survey of Stress in the British manufacturing industry it was revealed that 86% of managers felt they were suffering from stress, yet nearly three quarters of the companies provide no support (Tiernan, 1989). Often the smaller organisations, with less than 500 workers, fail to provide access to occupational health services for the employees (BMA, 1992). It was estimated (Industrial Review, 1986) that 30 million working days a year in Britain are lost through psychoneurosis, excluding psychosomatic complaints. The Confederation of British Industry (CBI) estimates that 6.7 million working days were lost in 1999 and the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) suggests that stress related illness costs the UK 7 billion pounds each year (Baker and Saunders, 2000).

Several 'caring' professionals are prone to occupational hazards due to the stress of the job. For example, doctors, dentists, nurses, and health technologists appear to "have higher than expected rates of suicide and alcohol/drug abuse" (Maslach and Pines, 1997). Studies have shown that there are links between job stress, dissatisfaction, reduced mental well-being and poor self-concept (Kornhauser, 1965; Lock, 1976). Other researchers have found that job overload, role conflict and role ambiguity contribute to numerous pointers of physiological and psychological tension, for example, increased heart rate, raised cholesterol, blood pressure, job dissatisfaction and smoking (French and Caplan, 1973). Stress can be manifested by other illnesses such as panic attacks, phobic states, anxiety and diabetes (Sapolsky, 1994). It has been reported that 48% of premature deaths in Britain are due to lifestyle and stress related illness (Palmer, 1989). The immune system is also affected by psychosocial stressors (Cohen and Herbert, 1996).

In a review article Ganster and Schaubroeck (1991) demonstrated that job stressors can have an effect on health. However, Beehr and Newman (1978) reviewed studies on job stress and summarised that three negative personal outcomes result from it: physical, psychological and behavioural symptoms. Table 5.1 summarises the symptoms that show the onset of work stress from the literature.

Physical symptoms	Mental symptoms	Behavioural symptoms
Erratic breathing	Irritability	Increased alcohol consumption
Tense muscles	Feeling of hopelessness	Increased smoking
Restlessness	State of anxiety	Increased or decreased eating
Diarrhoea or constipation	Feeling of depression	Nail biting
Nausea	Inability to concentrate	Hair pulling
Sweaty palms	Difficulty in making decisions	Increased or decreased sleep
Frequent indigestion	Loss of sense of humour	Social withdrawal
Headaches	Undue tiredness	
Dry mouth	Feeling of guilt	
Shaky hands	Irrational fear	
Chest palpitations	Increased moodiness	
Dizzy spells		

Table 5.1. Symptoms of stress

Some primary care professionals suffer from physical and/or mental symptoms of ill health, whilst others manifest stress in behavioural terms through increased smoking or drinking. The range of symptoms that primary care professionals suffer was revealed from interviews carried out by us during 1993 and 1994. Some examples are given below:

General practitioner:

"I feel that people's expectations have risen to such a level that I find it difficult to cope. Recently one of my patients was given a prescription for a morphine injection during the morning. One of her relations requested a visit at 10 pm because they hadn't collected the injection from the chemist and the patient was in pain. I had no morphine with me at that moment but I offered pethidine instead. Her relative insisted on morphine, which was not available at that time even through emergency chemists. As a result of her insistence the patient did not take any pain killer and suffered from pain. A few days later I received a letter from the FHSA that a complaint had been lodged against me because of my unsympathetic attitude, and the hearing will take place next month. I know that I've done nothing wrong but I have been feeling very uneasy since I received the notification. I realise that I am losing concentration during surgery consultations. I have no patience to listen to patients' symptoms. When I return home at the end of the day I get irritable with everybody at home. I do not like to play with my children. I can't sleep well. I have nightmares thinking of the outcome of the hearing. I had given up drinking and smoking six years ago but started again. I find it difficult to discuss my problems with anyone".

Practice nurse:

" I am very happy in my job but there are times when I feel pressurised especially before the end of the month, when all the paperwork must be completed. I get palpitations and frequent migraine headache".

Receptionist:

"The computer system in the surgery has been changed three times in the last two years. I am still struggling to get the hang of it. When I am given something to do I go really slow and can't finish the job. I panic, my hands sweat, I feel restless and get a dry mouth".

Practice manager:

"I was quite happy as a senior receptionist. Since I became the practice manager, I initially felt happy and proud of myself but now I think I can't cope with the job, due to all these added responsibilities. I get frequent stomach pain and excessive wind. I am losing concentration and feel tense all the time. My bowels have become loose. My doctor said that I have developed Irritable Bowel Syndrome".

District nurse:

"I have just come back to work after being off sick for 5 months. It all started when we had a new manager who I found to be the most awkward person to work with. She changed my territory three times in three months and insisting on a lot of unnecessary paperwork. I felt frustrated and undervalued. I didn't enjoy my job any more. I felt withdrawn, suffered from stress and lost weight. I feel okay now with treatment".

Community psychiatric nurse:

"I hardly get any free time nowadays. I have been asked to write reports on each and every patient that I deal with. There is no secretarial help: I feel stressed due to increasing work pressure. I feel tired all the time. I have no appetite. I have lost my sense of humour and find it difficult to socialise]".

2. STRESS AND PHYSICAL ILLNESS

There are several physical diseases which are caused or aggravated by persistent stress. Some of the common stress disorders are described in this chapter. Psychosomatic disorders are diseases which are believed to have psychological factors as their causative agents. However, specific psychosomatic diseases such as ulcers, rheumatoid arthritis, asthma and headaches are linked to psychosocial factors (Friedman and Booth-Kewley, 1987). Stomach ulcer is often caused by increased acid secretion into the stomach (known as hyperacidity) and this is thought to be partly associated with psychosocial factors such as hostility, anxiety and rage (Engel et al., 1956; Weiss, 1984; Wolf and Wolf, 1943).

Since heart disease and stroke are the most common causes of death (Table 5.2), we will only concentrate on cardiovascular disease.

Heart disease	45%	
Strokes	12%	
Cancers	22%	
Respiratory disease	12%	

Table 5.	Cause	es of de	eath in	the UK

Source: Fry and Horder, 1994

2.1 Cardiovascular Disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the most prominent killer among industrial nations. In the UK, over 250 000 deaths a year were due to CVD (Office for National Statistics, 1998). Circulatory diseases which include heart attacks and strokes were among the top causes of death in 1992, among males and females in England (Table 5.3). There is strong evidence that hypertension and heart disease are linked to stress. The incidence of myocardial infarction (MI) is 300 000 each year in the UK (British Heart Foundation, 1999).

The impact of coronary heart disease (CHD) is very high and accounts for 2.5% of total NHS expenditure, resulting in the loss of 35 million working days each year (Public Health Common Data Set. 1995). Recent figures show that CHD costs the NHS £1.6 billion per year and the overall cost of CHD to the UK economy is £10 billion per year (British Heart Foundation, 1999). The Standardised Mortality Rates (SMR) for CHD and stroke for the UK, the USA and Australia can be seen in Figure 5.1. Compared with Australia and the USA, the UK has the highest SMR for CHD and stroke. In 1984, mortality rates for CHD for the 12 European Community (EC) countries differed enormously. At that time, the mortality rate for the UK was the second highest rate in the EC after Ireland. Since 1970, there has been a decline in mortality rate in Belgium and the Netherlands, but there has been an increase in mortality rate in Greece. Currently CHD is the most common cause of premature death in the UK: 26% premature deaths in men and 16% of premature deaths in women are from CHD. Recently the UK death rate from CHD was among the highest in the world showing over 140,000 deaths per year (1 in 4 male and 1 in 5 female deaths) (British Heart Foundation, 1999). In 1991, 13% of males were classified as 'untreated' hypertensive and 4% as 'treated' hypertensive in England. For females the comparative figures were 11% and 6% respectively (Department of Health, 1995).

Several studies in the area of occupational stress and health have attempted to determine which working conditions are associated with CHD risk. For example, the psychological demands of the job, autonomy, job satisfaction, work overload and low levels of control over one's job seem to be particularly important in affecting stress levels. Alfredson *et al.* (1982) found that increased risk of myocardial infarction was associated with occupations characterised by hectic work and low levels of control over work pace and degree of variety.

United Kingdom			F	Percentages and thousands			
U U						80 &	All
	Under 1	1-14	15-39	40-46	65-79	over	ages
Males							
Infectious diseases	4.8	5.1	1.7	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.5
Cancer	1.0	17.3	13.5	34.3	31.6	20.9	28.0
Circulatory diseases1	4.0	4.0	10.7	43.8	48.2	47.3	45.5
Respiratory diseases	11.9	5.1	3.4	5.3	10.3	16.7	11.1
Injury and poisoning	17.6	34.2	52.7	6.6	1.3	1.2	4.2
All other causes	60.8	34.2	18.0	9.3	8.3	13.5	10.7
All males (=100%)							
(thousands)	1.1	1.3	10.2	58.4	140.9	94.9	306.6
Females							
Infectious diseases	4.3	4.8	1.9	0.6	0.4	0.3	0.4
Cancer	1.5	18.0	33.3	51.8	30.6	14.2	24.3
Circulatory diseases	5.6	4.4	10.7	26.7	46.6	52.3	46.6
Respiratory diseases	10.6	5.6	3.4	5.8	9.2	13.7	11.1
Injury and poisoning	16.8	25.8	28.9	4.0	1.4	1.4	2.2
All other causes	61.3	41.4	21.8	11.1	11.8	18.0	15.3
All females (=100%)							
(thousands)	0.7	0.9	4.8	36.4	111.5	169.9	324.2

Table 5.3. Selected causes of death: by sex and age, 1992

¹ Includes heart attack and strokes

Source: Office of Population Censuses and Surveys; General Register Office (Scotland); General Register Office (Northern Ireland). (cited in Social Trends, 1994)

The most influential theory of job stress is Karasek's (1979) demandcontrol model or job decision latitude model. In his two-dimensional demand-control model, Karasek (1979) demonstrated that high job demand and low decisional control are associated with increased CHD. It is important to note that these are psychological demands and not physical demands. The demand-control model was tested by Fox et al. (1993) by employing both objective and subjective measures in a sample of nurses in a single institution. They found that neuro-endocrine arousal and other outcomes were explained by the interaction of objective and subjective workload demands with perceived control. The interaction of these variables predicted carry-over effects after work. The significance of these findings is that they showed heightened physiological arousal elicited by work demands which can persist after finishing the working day (Daniel et al., 2000). This group of nurses were studied in follow up research by Ganster et al. (1999) and it was revealed that the elevated after-work physiological response of the nurses predicted the healthcare cost for the next five years.



Figure 5.1. UK, USA and Australian mortality comparisons 1970-1988

Several other studies have demonstrated an 'inverse social gradient' in mortality from CHD among civil servants in England (Bosna *et al.*, 1999; Marmot *et al.*, 1997). The CHD rates among highest grade employees were significantly lower than those in the lowest grades (clerical and office support staff). Out of all the factors examined, personal control in the work place was the largest contributor to this 'social gradient' (Daniel *et al.*, 2000). Karasek's job demand-control model has been tested in several other populations and successfully predicted CHD and mortality in two studies of male Swedish workers and in numerous studies in the USA (Karasek *et al.*, 1981; Tyroler *et al.*, 1987).

Haynes and Feinleib (1980) re-analysed data from the Framingham Heart Study (cited in chapter 4) and discovered that working women (i.e., women who had been employed outside the home for more than half their adult years) were not at significantly higher risk of CHD than housewives. However, the incidence of CHD was higher among working women with children than housewives and working women without children. The likelihood of CHD increased linearly with the number of children for working women, but not for housewives. The working women perhaps had high family demands contributing to CHD. In addition, clerical workers and women with unsupportive bosses were more likely to develop CHD. These women probably had low control over their jobs. The job demand-control model was tested by LaCroix and Haynes (1986) in the Framingham Heart Study. In the mid 1960s around 900 males and females were observed over a period of 10 years for the development of ischaemic heart disease. It was found that both males and females in high strain occupations were approximately one and a half times more at risk of developing ischaemic heart disease.

In the realm of occupational stress, researchers have found that employees with unsatisfying yet demanding jobs, requiring a great deal of responsibility, have a higher incidence of CHD than do those whose jobs are less demanding. Stress, especially when accompanied by anxiety, is manifested through the cardiovascular system (Matthews *et al.*, 1986). In determining the effect of stress on CHD, it is important to note how a person reacts to different stressors in the environment. In this context we have examined the type A behaviour pattern and CHD in chapter 4.

Studies demonstrated that death from heart disease has been more common amongst doctors than in the control population in the USA (Dickinson and Martin, 1956). On the other hand it was found by Doll and Peto (1976) that deaths from heart disease had been declining in British doctors, and that doctors under 54 years old were less likely to die of ischaemic heart disease and myocardial degeneration than the general population.

There are several known risk factors associated with cardiovascular disease, ranging from psychosocial to biological. The cumulative effect of known risk factors does not explain all the variance in cardiovascular occurrence, and hence there may be other unknown factors which contribute towards the occurrence of the disease. We have only considered briefly the link between stress and CHD.

3. STRESS AND MENTAL HEALTH

Recently it was found that 18% of women and 13% of men have high levels of psychological distress as measured by the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ12). People with low incomes and those who live in London are more likely to report a high GHQ score (British Heart Foundation, 2000). Of the 328 million days lost from work in Great Britain in 1984-5, 53 million (16%) were due to mental health causes (Cooper *et al.*, 1988). In a large organisation Zaleznik *et al.* (1977) studied 2131 employees. It was found that 24% reported suffering insomnia, 21% restlessness and agitation, 19% fatigue, 16% felt their work adversely

affected their health, 13% felt the need to withdraw and 11% were worried about having a nervous breakdown. The researchers reported that due to illness or conflict, 15% of the employees were not able to complete the questionnaire, which might have underestimated the prevalence rates of stress reactions.

In an epidemiological study Murray (1977) studied the admissions to, and discharges from, all hospitals in Scotland of male doctors aged 25 years or over. All male non-doctors of social class 1 were compared with the male doctors. The overall mean annual first admission rate was 203 per 100 000 for the non-medical males of social class 1 and 449 per 100 000 for male doctors. It was found that the rates were higher among doctors for all diagnostic categories except personality and behaviour disorders, but there was no significant difference between doctors and non-doctors for schizophrenia, and other psychoses and neuroses. However, the study found that the rates for drug dependence, alcoholism and depression were significantly more common amongst middle aged doctors than middle aged non-doctors.

Government statistics show explicitly, suicide rates are higher for doctors than other professionals such as lawyers, school teachers, and the clergy (Bennet, 1982). The 1970-1972 Decennial Supplement (HMSO, 1975) revealed that the major causes from which doctors are more likely to die than the general population are suicide (SMR - 335), cirrhosis (SMR -311), and accidents (SMR - 180). In Britain, doctors are nearly 3.5 times more likely to commit suicide than the general population. Studies have shown that male GPs reported significantly higher levels of anxiety and lower levels of job satisfaction than other normative groups (Rout and Rout, 1993, 1994). In a sample of GPs Levita (1995) found that 68% reached or exceeded the GHQ threshold score (i.e. the score that can be interpreted as indicating high strain). A substantial proportion of GPs suffered from psychological (worry, unhappiness, depression) and physical (lack of sleep, decrease in working activity) strain. Another study showed that male GPs had worse anxiety and depression than the patients that they treat (Sutherland and Cooper, 1992). Rees and Cooper (1990) investigated stress and health among health service employees and found that health workers reported significantly greater pressure at work and higher rating of physical and mental health compared with white collar and professional workers in industry.

Caplan (1994) surveyed 81 hospital consultants, 322 GPs and 121 senior hospital managers. GPs were more likely to be depressed than managers and there were no significant differences between hospital consultants and GPs. GPs were significantly more likely to show suicidal thoughts than consultants but not managers. However, the level of stress, anxiety and depression in consultants, GPs and managers in the NHS seemed to be high. In a national questionnaire–based study, Ramirez *et al.* (1995) reported that the prevalence of psychiatric disorder in consultant oncologists was 28% and they had equivalent levels of emotional exhaustion and low personal accomplishment to those found in American doctors and nurses (Maslach and Jackson, 1986).

Appleton *et al.* (1998) assessed the levels of psychological symptoms, job satisfaction and subjective ill health in GPs in Leeds, UK. They found that 52% of the GPs showed high levels of psychological symptoms and 60% felt that their physical health had been affected by their work. King *et al.* (1992) sent questionnaires to hospital doctors in London to study past and current emotional distress, sources of stress, type of help sought and perceived outcome of that help. They found that the doctors were subject to high levels of personal distress and those doctors who experienced emotional distress had difficulty in disclosing this to anyone outside their immediate family and friends. However, the physical health of doctors appears to be better than their mental health (BMA, 1992, 1993).

Evidence suggests that nursing has one of the highest rates of suicide and psychiatric outpatient referrals (Jones, 1987). Tyler and Cushway (1992) reported that the General Health Questionnaire caseness measure (a good predictor of psychiatric admission) is consistently found to be above the threshold for 30 % of nurses sampled across different populations of general nurses.

4. STRESS AND JOB SATISFACTION

A recent study found that perceived stress predicts job dissatisfaction (Koleck *et al.*, 2000). Physical and mental ill health reduces the satisfaction obtained from the job and may reduce job performance. Studies have shown links between job satisfaction and CHD (Jenkins, 1971), which is detrimental to the aims and objectives of the workplace. French and Caplan (1970) established that poor relationships with other members of the organisation could result in psychological strain in the form of lower job satisfaction. Low job satisfaction is related to non-participation in decision making, inability to provide feedback and lack of recognition of good performance (Kasl, 1973).

Job stress has been found to have a direct effect on dissatisfaction among GPs (Rout *et al.*, 1993, 1996) and offshore oil personnel (Ulleberg and Rundmo, 1997). Doctors were dissatisfied with their work due to heavy workload, lack of personal free time and being on call (Mawardi, 1979). Low job satisfaction was associated with higher levels of prescribing certain drugs with potential adverse side effects in GPs (Melville, 1980). In a study of family doctors, time pressures and financial costs of operating a practice were the

major sources of job dissatisfaction (McCraine *et al.*, 1982). A strong positive relation between exhaustion and dissatisfaction was observed among care givers (Bellani *et al.*, 1996). Job dissatisfaction was significantly related to reported stress from organisational features (i.e. staff relations and resources) rather than factors more directly associated with nursing (Guppy and Gutteridge, 1991).

5. ALCOHOL

The sensible limits for drinking endorsed by the Department of Health and medical authorities were 21 units for men and 14 units per week for women (1 unit being 1 standard drink, ½ pint of beer, a glass of wine or a single measure of spirit). The Department of Health reviewed the alcohol drinking issue in December 1995 and raised the sensible limit to 28 units a week for men and 21 units a week for women. This was interpreted as meaning that the Government had increased alcohol consumption to 28 units a week for men and 21 units a week for women. The Government denied this interpretation and proposed a daily limit of 3-4 units for men and 2-3 units a day for women. Medical and scientific bodies argued that the old 21/14 limits should not have been raised. The health survey for England in 1993 classified 9% of men and 5% of women as 'problem drinkers', who drank more than occasionally, perhaps due to psychological and physical dependence. The highest proportions of 'problem drinkers' were in the 25-34 age group (13% for men and 7% for women).

In the UK, in 1998, 39% of men drank more than 4 units of alcohol and 21% of women drank more than 3 units of alcohol on one day in the previous week. In 1996 the mean weekly alcohol intake was 16 units for men and 6.3 units for women. In 1996, 27% of men and 14% of women aged 16 and over were drinking more than 21 and 14 units a week respectively (Department of Health, Oct 1999). Overall 38% of men and 21% women in the UK consume more alcohol than the daily recommended limits (British Heart Foundation, 2000). Alcohol consumption varies markedly with social class in men and women. The proportion of men and women consuming alcohol is highest amongst those in the employers and managers roles (Table 5.4). Professional women are three times as likely to drink more than the recommended limit than those in manual jobs (British Heart Foundation, 2000).

The cost of alcohol-associated illness in the UK was estimated at £1687 million in 1986 (Marmot and Brunner, 1991) and the overall social cost was around £2.5 billion during the 1990s (Health Update, 1993). It was

estimated by the Health Education Authority (1989) that approximately over eight million working days are lost each year due to alcohol consumption.

In a number of studies different occupational groups showed varied alcohol drinking problems. For example, Hingley and Cooper (1986) found that 8% of nurse managers consumed alcohol on a daily basis, compared to 4.8% of the female population. In a study of oil rig workers, Sutherland and Cooper (1986) reported that 61% often consumed alcohol during onshore leave as a method for stress relief.

	Males %		Females %	
	Smoking	Alcohol	Smoking	Alcohol
Professional	5	26	6	14
Employers and Managers	12	30	7	14
Intermediate and junior, non-manual	8	26	7	11
Skilled manual	17	28	11	9
Semi-skilled manual	18	26	12	9
Unskilled manual	22	26	13	6
All socio-economic groups	14	27	9	11

Table 5.4. Heavy cigarette smoking¹ and consumption of alcohol above sensible limits²: by socio-economic group³ in Great Britain, 1990

¹20 or more per day

²22 units or more for males, and 15 units or more for females, per week

³ adults aged 16 and over

Source: General Household Survey (cited in Social Trends, 1994)

In the USA, Margolis and colleagues interviewed 1500 employees in a variety of occupations, and discovered a positive relationship between escapist drinking and a number of specific stressors (Margolis *et al.*, 1974). Those experiencing high job stress drank more than those in occupations where there was low job stress. It is argued by some authors that the presence of high levels of stress at work can cause some individuals to resort to heavy drinking as a coping technique (Hurrell and Kroes, 1975). However, it is not clear why some people under stress become alcoholics and others control their alcohol intake. It is suggested that the influence of genetic factors plays a significant part in severe alcoholism among men. Sutherland and Cooper (1990) suggest that a genetic component could consumption and tolerance to alcohol. However it is important to make a distinction between severe alcoholism and problems with drinking.

It was found that the first admission rate in Scotland for alcohol dependence was 2.7 times higher among doctors than among social class 1 controls (Murray, 1978). A nationwide survey of 1278 medical students

found that in a typical week 17% of respondents exceeded the recommended limits for sensible drinking (Ghodse and Howse, 1994). In addition, the study found that 10% of the respondents were current smokers and 10% were ex-smokers and 37% of the respondents used other drugs. Several studies showed that medical professionals are especially susceptible to cirrhosis, suicide, poisonings, accidents, and alcohol addiction (Allibone et al., 1981; Bennet, 1982; Murray, 1978; Lloyd, 1982). In a British review of psychiatric illness in doctors, Rucinski and Lybulska (1985) concluded that the most common diagnoses are alcoholism, drug addiction and depression. However, drug and alcohol abuse problems appear to be more common in male doctors (AMA, 1978). For example, Gomberg (1979) reported that there were approximately 4 to 5 male alcoholics for every female alcoholic. It is worth mentioning that doctors do not like to discuss stress with colleagues and peers often ignore the symptoms of stress in their colleagues (Rawnsley, 1985; Symons and Persaud, 1995). The problems found here may be the tip of the iceberg. It was estimated that there may be as many as 3000 practising GPs in the UK who are alcoholics, while many others may show other signs of stress (Allibone et al., 1981). It was revealed that 13 000 - 22 000 doctors in the USA were alcohol dependent at some stage in their career (Bissel and Jones, 1976). A study of health and lifestyle of GPs and teachers showed that self-medication was common among GPs (Chamber, 1992).

However, alcohol consumption appears to be associated with a relatively low risk of CHD in a number of studies (Marmot, 1984). In two prospective studies (The US Nurses Health Study and the Health Professionals Follow up Study), alcohol consumption was associated with a significant reduction in risk of CHD (Stamfer *et al.*, 1988; Rimm *et al.*, 1991). Nevertheless, other longitudinal studies show higher total mortality in heavy drinkers, but predominantly due to causes other than CHD (Boffetta and Garfinkel, 1990). Alcohol drinking can adversely affect cardiovascular disease through its effect in increasing blood pressure at intakes above 4 units of alcohol a day. This could partly account for the increased risk of stroke (Department of Health, 1995). Therefore, the risk of alcohol consumption outweighs the benefit.

6. SMOKING

In the UK, large numbers of deaths are due to smoking related diseases, such as lung cancer, respiratory disease or heart disease, all of which could be prevented. In 1995 one in five of all deaths in the UK were caused by smoking. However, in spite of the knowledge that smoking cigarettes causes

death and illness, people continue to smoke in large numbers and 28% of adults are regular smokers (Health Trends, 1995). A high proportion of unskilled and manual workers smoke heavily (Table 5.4). The percentage of men who smoked cigarettes fell by 8% between 1982 and 1992 while the percentage of women who smoked cigarettes fell by 5%, at a slower pace, from 32 to 27 percent (Table 5.5).

More recent figures show that 27% of adults (28% men and 27% women) aged 16 and over smoked cigarettes in 1998 in England. The prevalence of cigarette smoking among adults has dropped substantially since 1978, although it levelled off in the 1990s (Department of Health, 1999). However, the prevalence of smoking is higher for people in manual than non-manual socio-economic groups (British Heart Foundation, 2000).

Table 5.5. Prevalence of smoking cigarettes among adults aged 16 and over, by sex, in England, 1982-1992

					Percentages ¹		
	1982	1984	1986	1988	1990	1992	
Male smoker ²	37	35	34	32	31	29	
Never smoked ³	32	34	33	35	37	39	
Female smoker ²	32	32	31	30	28	27	
Never Smoked ³	51	50	51	51	52	53	

¹Percentages rounded to nearest whole figure

² Information on smokers is based on respondents who stated that they smoked at all nowadays

³Prior to 1986, this category was "never or occasionally smoked cigarettes"

Source: OPCS General Household Survey Analysis of Department of Health (cited in HMSO, 1994 Ed)

A study of more than 10 000 UK myocardial infarction (MI) survivors has shown that non-fatal MI rates are five times greater among smokers than non-smokers (Parish *et al.*, 1995). The risks were greatest in the 30-49 age group, three times more common in smokers than non-smokers in the 50-59 age group, and twice as great at ages 60-79. An estimated 20% of deaths from CHD in men and 17% of women are due to smoking. About 28% of men and 26% of women in the UK are smokers. Smoking cessation is associated with a reduction in the risk of recurrent cardiovascular disease of up to 50% within one year (Daly *et al.*, 1983). Not only is smoking related to heart disease incidence, but also it is associated with neuroticism and anxiety (McCrae *et al.*, 1978). Hennigan and Wortham (1975) expressed the view that people who are not smokers and are in good physical condition are all able to maintain low heart rate during the normal stress of the working day, whereas stress is more likely to increase the heart rate of people with less physical fitness.

In a study on cigarette smokers and non-smokers Jones and Parrot (1997) found that smokers reported significantly higher stress levels than non-smokers on both day and night shifts. Previous studies in the UK also found that current smokers were more stressed than either non-smokers or former smokers (Cox *et al.*, 1987; West, 1993). Robertson (1990) reported that heavy smokers reported higher levels of anxiety, neuroticism and depression than non-smokers.

It has been found that smoking is one of the most common ways of coping with stress among nurses (Hawkins et al., 1982). Between 1972 and 1980 the proportion of smokers in all groups fell, especially among professionals (Social Trends, 1983). Doctors were one of the first groups of individuals who gave up smoking once its harmful effects were known (Registrar General, 1978). In our sample of GPs 91.4% of doctors were nonsmokers (Rout and Rout, 1993). In a recent study 78.6% hospital doctors and nurses in the North West of England were non-smokers (Rout and Rout, 2001). In our district nurse sample in the North West of England (Rout, 2000) a higher percentage of nurses were non-smokers (91.9%) compared to other studies (Hingley and Cooper, 1986; Dunn et al., 1994). It was found by Golding and Cornish (1987) that fewer medical students were smokers or illicit drug users than non-medical students. Doll and Peto (1976) demonstrated the beneficial effects achieved by doctors due to decreased smoking. The SMR for doctors from lung cancer was 35% of that expected for the general population (OPCS, 1978). Smoking can be seen as a form of palliative coping which provides temporary relief (Lazarus, 1981). Hence, giving up smoking could promote general health, but residual tension may remain, which in turn influences the behaviour in a negative way, e.g., excessive alcohol consumption and self-prescribing drugs (Lloyd, 1982; Bennett, 1982; Murray, 1978, 1983).

7. ABSENTEEISM

Absenteeism is an accelerating problem for many industries and an obvious cost of stress to employers. It has been reported by Kearns (1986) that 60% of absences from work are caused by work-related disorders and in the UK 100 million working days are lost each year due to absenteeism. Hingley and Cooper (1986) report that short-term absences among nurses are believed to result from occupational stress. Doctors and nurses are more likely to take time off because of stress than the common cold (Neurolink, 2001). The NHS is significantly affected financially by occupational stress. It was demonstrated by the Nuffield Trust Study that cutting sickness rates

by just one per cent could make a saving of over £140m (Williams *et al.*, 1998).

Several factors may contribute to absenteeism, such as family commitments, illness, or voluntary withdrawal. Studies have shown that poor health, particularly poor psychological well-being, is a major cause of absenteeism (Miner and Brewer, 1976). Porter and Steers (1973) have reported that job dissatisfaction is a major factor in blue-collar absenteeism from work, intention to leave, and labour turnover. It has been suggested that dissatisfaction with pay, inconsiderate leadership, failed expectations, lack of autonomy and poor support from co-workers are factors associated with high rates of absenteeism or labour turnover. A case study is given in box 5.1 to show how absenteeism can cause serious problems for the organisation.

Box 5.1

Dr Y was a full-time partner in a group practice of five doctors. She expressed that she did not get any support from her colleagues during her illness. The senior partner was always unsympathetic towards her. She felt insecure in her job. She told us that her pay was far lower than the other partners. Ten years ago she developed a disc problem and since then she has reduced her commitment. Accordingly her share was reduced to 60%. Gradually, over the years her workload has increased, but her pay remained the same. She has repeatedly raised this issue in the practice meeting, but the outcome has never been favourable to her. Her expectations of a pay rise have been dashed again and again. She gets upset and stavs off sick several times in a year claiming that she has problems. Her partners took on extra workload and had to reschedule their routine. These episodes were not only stressful for the doctors but also stressful for the practice manager as she had to arrange locums at short notice. Patients were unhappy to find that their appointments were cancelled or that they had to see another doctor.

Although Dr Y continued to remain absent from work frequently, she did not wish to leave the practice. Her partners also were not very keen to dissolve the partnership, as it would involve spending time and money. If Dr Y was to be replaced, it would mean extra work, time and expenditure, such as advertising for a partner, short-listing candidates, interviewing, etc. It may be necessary to invite an outsider (a psychologist) to sit at the interview panel to assess the suitability of the interviewees. Besides costing time and money the changes disrupt routine work and may lower group morale.

8. BURNOUT

Burnout is a negatively valued psychological response that is characterised by physical, mental and emotional exhaustion. It is an 'erosion of the human spirit' which results from prolonged exposure to high levels of occupational stress (Baron, 1986). Veniga and Spradley (1981) defined burnout as 'a debilitating psychological condition brought about by unrelieved work stress, which results in: 1) depleted energy reserves, 2) lowered resistance to illness, 3) increased dissatisfaction and pessimism, and 4) increased absenteeism and inefficiency at work'.

According to Veniga and Spradley (1981) burnout progresses through five stages:

- 1. Stage of job contentment, where the person is content with his/her job, but he/she works harder and expends more and more energy without replacing it.
- Stage of fuel shortage, where the individual starts to feel tired due to lack of energy, and has disturbed sleep. He/she is unable to do as many activities as he/she used to do. He/she shows a tendency to avoid making decisions and lacks enthusiasm.
- 3. Stage of chronic symptoms, where the individual feels exhausted. He/she shows symptoms of physical illness, such as tension headaches, backaches, and nausea, and may wake up early in the morning feeling tired. He/she shows signs of anger and loses temper without reason.
- 4. Stage of crisis, where symptoms become critical. His/her mind is always pre-occupied with work problems. Sometimes, he/she feels like escaping from the job and from the life.
- 5. Stage of final breakdown, where the individual shows signs of serious deterioration, indulges him/herself with heavy drinking and/or drugs, or the symptoms may show in physical or mental breakdown. At this stage the individual shows serious deterioration.

Burnout professionals work harder and harder, but accomplish less and less. When symptoms of stress appear one must act immediately before stress turns into burnout. The primary cause of burnout is continuous face-to-face interactions with individuals (Edelwich and Brodsky, 1980; Jones, 1987). Burnout occurs among caring professions such as human service workers and medical professionals (Maslach, 1976, 1982). Medical professionals caring for ill or dying children are particularly vulnerable to burnout (Clarke *et al.*, 1984). In a UK study it was found that GPs in Northamptonshire have suffered from a higher level of burnout on all three sub-scales of the Maslach burnout inventory than North American physicians and nurses (Maslach's results derived from a study during the mid 1980s) (Kirwan and Armstrong, 1995). Molassiotis *et al.* (1995)

surveyed 129 nurses and 29 doctors in bone-marrow transplant units. Half of the sample was emotionally exhausted and 80% reported feelings of low personal accomplishments. The majority of these professionals had experienced difficulties in their personal lives which were directly linked to stress at work.

The Maslach Burnout Inventory was used to study burnout among health professionals (Maslach and Jackson, 1982). Three psychological components of burnout are assessed by this instrument: emotional exhaustion, depersonalisation and perceived inadequacy of professional accomplishment.

- Emotional exhaustion: the feeling of being unable to help people.
- Depersonalisation: lack of sensitivity, treating people like objects.
- Perceived inadequacy of professional accomplishment: feeling of falling short of personal expectations for performance at work.

Our interviews with several primary care professionals during 1993 and 1994 revealed several cases of burnout. Some of the examples of burnout cases are as given below (see boxes 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 5.5, 5.6 and 5.7).

Male general practitioner

Box 5.2

Dr L was a general practitioner. His life's ambition was to build his career in hospital medicine, hoping to become a consultant physician. He worked hard and passed his membership examination. Once he realised that his chances of becoming a consultant were rather remote he decided to get into general practice. Dr L found that the set-up and the type of work carried out in general practice were totally different to what he had expected. He appeared to have lost interest in everything, cancelled his surgeries without giving prior notice, became irritable with patients and surgery staff. His wife complained that Dr L showed a detached attitude towards her and the children. He did not sleep well and started getting up in the early hours of the morning. He was not prepared to discuss his problems with his wife or friends. Dr L was previously a non-smoker but liked an occasional drink. Recently he started drinking heavily and became a chain smoker. His partners were worried about him and offered to discuss any help that he needed, but he did not want any help from them. A few months later he suffered a nervous breakdown and resigned from his job.

Female general practitioner

Box 5.3

Dr A was working in a group practice in the North West of England. She joined a group practice of three doctors and was initially happy for a year until the circumstances appeared to be different than she had initially perceived. Her senior partners started to push more and more work towards her. She tried her best to cope with the workload but began to feel tired. She was unable to relax and felt undervalued. Her appetite became poor and she lost weight. Her patients commented about her weight loss and withdrawn appearance, which made her feel even worse. She felt depressed and had to stay off work for several months. After seeing her GP she was admitted to hospital with severe depression. After a while she recovered from her illness but decided not to go back to work. She is now at home. She told us that her parents were disappointed because they felt that so many years of medical training has been wasted. However, they were happy to see that she had recovered from the depression.

Female general practitioner

Box 5.4

Dr P, a mother of two children was a full-time GP in a group practice of five doctors in an urban area. Her husband was also a general practitioner in another practice. She was very ambitious and hard working. She had to look after the house and the children as her husband never helped her. She coped well for two years until the 1990 GP contract came into effect. Her workload increased significantly, she had to bring paperwork home, and she experienced increased out of hours demand from patients. She found it difficult to cope with these demands. She experienced headache, palpitation, lack of concentration, low self esteem, lost weight and felt depressed. She lost interest seeing patients, became unsympathetic and treated them like objects. Her colleagues were aware of her condition but were indifferent towards her. It became unbearable for her to continue and ultimately she left her job. Female general practitioner

Box 5.5

Dr S was a full-time partner in a group practice of three doctors. She was sincere and hard working. Both of her partners exploited her and made her work hard. She carried on working but at a price to her own physical and psychological health and to her marriage. While going through a difficult period in her practice, her marriage ended in divorce which added to her stress. Her two grown-up children decided to live with their father making her feel lonely and abandoned. She was unable to work effectively in the practice. Her partners dissolved the partnership and as a result she had to leave the practice. She started a single handed practice in the same area. There were several hurdles before she could set up her practice. Although she was without the hassles of her previous partners she experienced difficulty in working on her own. After two years of starting her own practice she resigned from general practice and has remained unemployed.

District nurse

Box 5.6

Sister M has been a district nurse for 20 years. She was very popular amongst the patients and doctors alike. Although she had enjoyed her work all these years, her perception of district nursing changed after the recent changes in her local district nursing service. She found that the patients had become very demanding and did not realise that nurses were under restriction for supplying free items (commodes, incontinence pads and pants etc.). Besides, her manager wanted her to produce details of her daily activities and report on each and every patient seen. She expressed that these administrative activities were time consuming and of no benefit to patient care. She lost interest in her job, became irritable, and finally resigned from her job.

Practice manager

Box 5.7

Mrs H was a practice manager in a group practice of five doctors in an urban area. She had appropriate training and qualification for her job. She was managing the practice quite well until the NHS changes brought in during the 1990s. Although she knew that her job was mainly administrative, the new changes created more and more paperwork. She put more and more hours into her job. The doctors in the practice were not very sympathetic to her increased workload, rather they continued delegating more and more administrative work. She could not cope any more. She showed signs of irritation towards the ancillary staff and to the doctors as well. She started grumbling about not getting any job satisfaction, she was unable to socialise with others and appeared withdrawn. On several occasions she stayed off sick leaving the responsibility of running the practice with the senior receptionist. However, she carried on working but was unable to take decisions and found it difficult to manage the staff. She lost her appetite, lost weight and became depressed. She took early retirement on grounds of ill health.

In this chapter, we have considered the costs and consequences of stress in terms of physiological, psychological and behavioural outcomes. However, it is difficult to determine the cause and effect relationships between stress and ill health, but in summary, we could say that stress does play a role in ill health measure, which is expensive to the person, organisation and ultimately to society as a whole. This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 6

POTENTIAL SOURCES OF STRESS AMONGST PRIMARY HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS

In this chapter we are able to focus only on a few members of the primary care professionals. This does not imply that other occupational categories are less important but due to the lack of space we decided to include only the following professionals: general practitioners, practice managers, practice nurses, receptionists, district nurses, health visitors and community psychiatric nurses. Although other studies from the literature will be cited we will be focusing mainly on our own studies.

1. GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

There have been a number of studies on stress and the health among GPs (Porter *et al.*, 1985; Makin, Rout and Cooper, 1988; Rout and Rout, 1993, 1994, 2000; Chambers, 1992; Chambers and Belcher, 1993). Constant time pressure, heavy workload, problems of practice administration, home/work conflict, demands on the job, patients' expectation and emergencies are among some of the stressors for GPs (Porter *et al.*, 1985; Howie *et al.* 1989; Rout and Rout, 1993, 1994, 2000; Rout *et al.*, 1996). Schatter (1998) conducted a study among a sample of 464 metropolitan GPs and found that over 10% reported occupational stress.

In a sample of Australian GPs, it was found that 'physical overwork' was the main stress that was caused through medical practice (Bates, 1982). In a study of GPs' job satisfaction and quality of prescribing, Melville (1980) found low job satisfaction to be associated with higher levels of prescribing of certain drugs. She suggests that job dissatisfaction appeared to be correlated with frustration and gave two reasons for this. According to her, the personality characteristics of some GPs might not match the requirement of general practice work. Secondly, certain aspects of the GP's task could lead to dissatisfaction. Mechanic (1972) found that time factors were major sources of dissatisfaction for physicians in the primary care setting. Grol and colleagues found that negative feelings about work (i.e. frustration, time pressure, tension) correlated with a high rate of prescribing and reluctance to provide an explanation to patients. Positive feelings about work (i.e. satisfaction, feeling at ease) were correlated with a more open approach to patients and more attention to the psycho-social aspects of the complaints (Grol *et al.*, 1985). Recently, GPs' job satisfaction and psychological health were compared with medical house officers in Leeds (Kapur *et al.*, 1999). It was found that GPs were less satisfied with their hours of work and the recognition they received for their good work, but more satisfied with their job variety and job autonomy. The authors suggest that the burden imposed on GPs by the 1990 contract and the reduction in junior doctors' hours of work and more structured hospital training are possible explanations.

A study on doctors and health service managers revealed that GPs are more likely to be depressed and show suicidal thinking than senior health service managers and hospital consultants (Caplan, 1994). Other authors have found that GPs reported depression and anxiety frequently as problem areas (Chambers and Belcher, 1993). After the introduction of the 1990 GP contract, Sutherland and Cooper (1992) found a fall in job satisfaction and an increase in anxiety and depression among GPs in 1990 when compared to 1987 (data from Rout, 1989). Even before the introduction of the 1990 contract, it was found that the work of GPs makes them particularly prone to anxiety (Rout, 1989).

Research into the attitudes and behaviour of GPs, has shown that they have difficulty in disclosing psychological or physical problems (Richards, 1989). Several studies have shown that self-medication is widely practised by GPs (Allibone *et al.*, 1981; Richards, 1989). The commonly believed myth that doctors are indispensable and should carry on working even when they are ill (Richards, 1989) may be the reason for this widespread self-medication. Self-medication with antidepressants and tranquillisers may be detrimental to the health of doctors. The mortality and morbidity data on GPs are well documented from previous research and suggest that they may indeed be at considerable risk of illness and other stress related problems (Murray, 1976; HMSO, 1975; Rout and Rout, 1993).

A study by Porter *et al.* (1985) gives in depth information about the time allocation for different activities of GPs. The aim of their study was to analyse the relationship between workload, stress, job performance and quality of care in general practice. Eighteen doctors were studied over 3 days in three group practices in Edinburgh. They used interview, diary and questionnaire methodologies to find out workload, work-flow, self-perceived pressure and stress, and stressor-mediating factors (such as personality, biography, attitudes/orientation, and social support). Direct patient care accounted for 83% of the allocated time (about 28 hours per week) and

practice-related work accounted for a further two hours per week. Activities outside the practice accounted for 2.5 hours per week. The average consultation rate during 66 surgery sessions was 7 patients per hour (range was 3.8 to 11.5 patients per hour). The average stress score was 4.7 and there was a wide range of values of 'stress' per doctor (3 doctors had an average score of 0 and one doctor had an average score of 10, **maximum** = 14). The practice with the slowest consultation rate recorded the lowest proportion of pressure scores and the practice with the fastest consultation rate recorded the highest proportion of pressure scores. The findings show that there is a high degree of individual variability in experiencing stress and the rate of consultation is proportional to the pressure score. The authors suggest that it is important to understand the behavioural changes that might occur when the GP is challenged by stress and the subsequent consequences on patient care.

The following discussion presents the findings of some of our recent studies. The aims of the studies were as follows:

- Identifying sources of stress among GPs
- Assessing the mental health and job satisfaction of GPs
- Identifying the relationship between the stressor agents and outcomes
- Highlighting the differences as a function of gender.

First, a brief outcome of study 1 and study 3 will be described together, as both are qualitative studies. Then our quantitative studies will be described.

1.1 Qualitative Studies on GPs (Study 1 and Study 3)

Our studies on stress among GPs in the UK have been going on since 1987 (Rout, 1989; Rout and Rout, 1993). The interview sample described here is part of the most recent series of studies and relates to 74 GPs including both male and female, who participated in the interview studies that we conducted. The sample of GPs was selected from a variety of practices, for example solo v group, urban v rural and social mixed areas. Confidentiality and anonymity of participants were assured. In-depth interviews were carried out with GPs, their spouses and their children. The detailed analysis of the spouses and children's interviews is reported in our previous book (Rout and Rout, 2000). The interviews were aimed at exploring personal and professional aspects of general practice, especially stress related to the job and possible overflow of stress into their family life. The interviews were recorded on audio tape and took between 35 minutes and one hour. A qualitative approach was adopted since the aim was to gain an understanding of how GPs perceived and experienced stress. The age range of GPs varied from 32 to 60 years. The tapes were transcribed and thematic analysis was performed.

Responses to questions about sources of stress were analysed to identify recurrent themes concerning sources of stress at work and at home. For convenience, the stressors concerning male and female GPs will be discussed separately. However the detailed analysis of the interview sample can be found in our previous books (Rout and Rout, 1993, 2000).

1.1.1 Male General Practitioners' Stress

When the GPs were asked to what extent they found their job stressful, 100% indicated that they experienced moderate to high stress at work. The stressors included the following:

- time pressure/work overload
- on-call
- interruptions
- increased demands by patients
- unrealistically high expectations
- communication

Time Pressure/Work Overload

Time pressure was the most frequently reported stressor for GPs. The doctors often complained about shortage of time for managing too many tasks in a limited period. One GP explained:

'My surgeries are getting longer and longer day by day because quite a large number of patients want to be seen straight away and these patients come with minor ailments which could wait for some days. I have provision for seeing extras ... so called emergencies after the end of my booked appointment session. Some people take advantage of this. They don't bother making appointments, they just turn up at the reception and demand to be seen immediately. I don't mind seeing genuine cases but if you look into their medical records you will notice that it is the same group of people who repeatedly come as emergencies for every little thing, like repeat prescriptions, sick notes and things like that. I carry on seeing patients, and get late for home visits. There isn't enough time for lunch so I have a bite of a sandwich in my car in between home visits. I don't catch up with paperwork and other routine jobs. Basically everything gets thrown out of schedule'.

On-call

Another potential source of stress for male GPs was the pressure of on-call. GPs have a contractual obligation to provide 24 hour cover for their

patients. Some GPs use deputising services if available in their areas while others do their own out-of-hours cover. They have to remain on-call during the day and night. In recent years there has been a significant growth of GP co-operatives in various parts of the country enabling GPs to provide out-ofhours cover for their patients through these co-ops. It may be a cost effective way for out-of-hours cover but usually participating GPs are required to work for their co-ops. This is illustrated by the following quotation:

'Life is a bit easier since we started our co-op services in our area. It takes the load off your shoulders after 7 pm until 7 am the next morning. There is no co-op cover after 7 am in the morning. If a patient rings for a visit I shall have to visit. It is a bit difficult in the morning especially while you are trying to get ready to go to the surgery. Even when I don't get a call I have this apprehension that the telephone might ring. You can't really switch off. Anyway, as a co-op member I have to work for the organisation as well, at least one six hour session a week and this can be really stressful at times'.

Interruptions

Comments made by GPs during interviews suggest that interruptions of any kind are considered as very stressful. Interruption during consultation is not only irritating to the doctor but also distressing to the patient. One of the GPs exemplified this by stating:

'I hate interruption during consultation. I have given strict instructions to my staff not to ring through to me while there is a patient with me but that doesn't make any difference. You can take it for granted that the phone will ring and the receptionist will always have an excuse. Staff have been instructed to take the caller's telephone number so that I could return their call later but there will be one or two receptionists who tend to panic when they receive calls from problem cases. I know I need to reinforce my strict instruction not to interrupt me again during consultation but it does not always work.'

Increased Demands by Patients

From the interview sample it was learnt that the GPs felt pressurised in meeting the increasing demands made by patients. A male GP who has been practising for 20 years complained:

'I never saw patients demanding so much ten years ago. I think they are encouraged by the politicians to demand for everything they want.
They want immediate appointments to see their GP, demand home visits for people who are quite capable of attending the surgery and they even threaten litigation if their demands are not met. They wish to see specialists at short notice and have no patience to wait for operations. I think they should complain to their local MP about the services not meeting their demands'.

Unrealistically High Expectations

Many GPs felt that the expectations and needs of the public have risen to such a high level that they find it difficult in meeting these needs. This theme follows on from the previous one:

'Patients' expectations have never been so high before. My patients just want an excellent and express service. They are quite right to expect quality service but where does it come from? We don't hold the key to everything; we need resources to meet their demands. Some patients don't understand that there is a waiting time to see a consultant, they don't realise that there are restrictions on prescribing certain drugs like Viagra. I do my best to meet their clinical needs but can't make other agencies meet everyone's expectations'.

Communication

The authors found from their interview sample that GPs are poor communicators and they lack interpersonal skills. The senior partner/s assume that the junior partner/s would perform the job the way he/she has conducted it in the past. There were also problems of communication among GPs and practice staff. A junior partner in a group practice commented:

'General practice is a team work and therefore there is a need to keep the communication network open to all the members in the organisation. We could all be doing the same thing but in different ways. We had a problem in our practice with entering data into the computer. One of us was entering blood pressure as hypertension, another partner as essential hypertension and the practice nurse was entering as blood pressure screening. It caused problems while carrying out audits, as all the data was not entered into the appropriate section. We could have avoided this problem by proper communication to all individuals concerned. We have the same problem with receptionists because sometimes they were not informed about the policies that we doctors and the practice manger had agreed in the practice meeting. Sometimes one of my partners wants to see extras at the end of his booked surgery and the other partner wants to see extras in between his booked patents. The receptionists were not

informed about this by the practice manager so they asked patients to come at any time. All the doctors were unhappy about it. We develop different protocols and take decisions on a lot of things but often they are not passed on to our staff. No wonder the staff do their job differently than what we decide in practice meetings. My senior partners still don't understand that communication is essential for the implementation of the practice policies. They carry on doing the same old thing'.

1.1.2 Female General Practitioners' Stress

The proportion of female general practitioners in England and Wales was 18.0% in 1981 and 28.6% in 1993 (Wilson and Allen, 1994) which shows a clear rising trend of female GPs entering into general practice. Recent figures show that during 1996, 30% of GPs in England were female (Pullinger, Dept of Health, 1998). Now, female medical students average just over 50% of the UK's annual intake to medical schools (Wilson and Allen, 1994). Despite working full-time women are often expected to meet domestic commitments. There is some evidence that conflicting demands from work and family can be stressful (Lewis and Cooper, 1988). Heins et al. (1977) found that female doctors spend 90% as much time in medical practice as male doctors while tending to assume direct responsibility for home and family, therefore, they have the added burden of trying to balance the demands imposed by both sides. It was found that women are more likely than men to enter a speciality, which is not their first choice (Parkhouse and Ellin, 1988) and many more women than men fail to achieve their desired status in general practice (Buchan and Stock, 1990).

In a recent study in Canada, Stewart *et al.* (2000) found that multiple roles (competing demands at home and work), high expectations (they had to outperform male colleagues) and working environment (inflexibility of work and on-call schedules, inadequate work supports, inequalities in promotion and reimbursement, and harassment) were major stressors for female physicians. In our previous studies it was found that female general practitioners felt that it was difficult to balance their traditional and professional roles at the same time (Rout, 1989; Rout and Rout, 1993).

Research evidence suggests that stress and pressure may be different for male and female doctors (Cartwright, 1987). Findings from other studies suggest that costs of stress and strain might extend into the private life of doctors (Cartwight, 1967; Cartwright and Anderson, 1981) which may be more prevalent for women doctors as they take more responsibilities at home. Although the divorce rate for male doctors is lower than other professional groups, it is higher among female doctors (Rosow and Rose, 1972). Therefore it is important to consider gender differences in stress research among doctors. We extracted several additional stressors for the female GPs from the interview transcripts [Full descriptions of the results can be found in our previous book (Rout and Rout, 2000)]. The important stressors for female GPs are as follows:

- emotional involvement
- role conflict
- work-home conflict
- lack of support

Emotional Involvement

Some women GPs find it difficult to distance themselves from patients. They particularly find it hard to break bad news to the patients and their relatives. As a female GP illustrated:

'For me it is extremely difficult to break bad news to a patient who has an incurable disease. Sometimes the relatives pressurise me not to tell the patient about the real diagnosis which puts me into a moral dilemma. Once I had to break the news to a 17 year old school girl that she had a brain tumour. The whole family was devastated with the news. I felt awful in managing this case'.

Role Conflict

Female doctors are more susceptible to role stress due to the multiple role demands inherent in running a career, home and family. The stress is a product of conflict between the role of a woman and role of a doctor. Carrying out the traditional role of a mother and a spouse and a professional role in a satisfying way requires time and energy. Time demands impose a tighter schedule on the personal lives of women doctors than men, the women being less able to relax. One young female doctor who had joined a practice recently was a typical example:

'My partners in the surgery do not understand my role as a GP and a mother. I was not clear about the holidays and other arrangements although they told me I could take time off during school holidays. But when my daughter was ill I was not allowed to take time off.'

Work/Home Conflict

This theme is similar to the previous one. Conflicting demands from work and home can be very stressful for some doctors. As one of our female GPs indicated:

'At the end of the day I have to look after two children. When I am on-call this becomes very hard in dealing with the patients on the phone

and interacting with my children. I have no time to put my feet up and watch a nice programme on the telly. There is no help from my husband.'

Lack of Support

On the whole, the women GPs we have spoken to believed that their husbands were not understanding about their work commitments. This is illustrated by a female GP:

'My husband expects me to do everything at home. We both are doctors. He is able to become a consultant because I sacrificed my career for raising the children. Now he should understand and share some housework and responsibility but he does not'.

Interestingly, male GPs were affected more by the work related aspects of the job (on call, interruptions, demands by patients), whereas female GPs were affected more by the job interfering with their family life (conflict between career and family and lack emotional support).

1.2 Quantitative Studies

A national sample of GPs was studied (Rout, 1989; Rout and Rout, 1993) to identify sources of job stress associated with high levels of job dissatisfaction and mental ill-health. After interviewing GPs we constructed a questionnaire and distributed those to a sample of GPs for our pilot study (Rout, 1989; Makin, Rout and Cooper, 1987). This questionnaire, along with other valid measures, were sent to a random sample of 4000 GPs throughout England. The return questionnaire sample was 1817, of which 1474 were male and 343 were female. Of these, 91% were in group practices.

The demographic picture was typical of the general practice occupational group nationally, except that slightly fewer doctors aged 65 or over responded. In terms of health behaviour outcomes, 91% of GPs did not smoke; 32.5% had an occasional drink, 36.7% had several drinks a week, 18.6% had one or two drinks every day, and nearly 6% had 3 to 6 drinks or more daily. Male GPs consumed significantly more alcohol than the female respondents. The stressor items (38 items) were analysed to identify common stressor themes. These items were grouped statistically into six factors: demands of the job and patients' expectations, interruption, practice administration, work/home interface and social life, dealing with death and dying, and medical responsibilities for friends and relatives (see Table 6.1).

Table 6.1. Job stressors identified by GPs: Factor analysis of stressors
Factor 1: Demands of the job and patients expectations (62.8% of variance)
Fear of assault during night visits
Visiting in extremely adverse weather conditions
Adverse publicity by media
Increased demands by patients and relatives for second opinion from hospital specialists
No appreciation of your work by patients
Worrying about patients' complaints
Finding a locum
Twenty-four hour responsibility for patients' lives
Taking several samples in a short time
Unrealistically high expectations by others of your role
Factor 2: Interruptions (10.6% of variance)
Coping with phone calls during night and early morning
Night calls
Interruption of family life by telephone
Emergency calls during surgery hours
Home visits
Dealing with problem patients
Remaining alert when on call
Factor 3: Practice administration and routine medical (8.6% of variance)
Hospital referrals and paperwork
Conducting surgery
Practice administration
Arranging admission
Working environment (surgery set-up)
Time pressure
Factor 4: Home-work, interface and social life (7.7% of variance)
Demands of your job on family life
Dividing rime between spouse and patients
Demands of your job on social life
Lack of emotional support at home, especially from spouse
Factor 5: Dealing with death and dying (5.5% of variance)
Daily contact with dying and chronically ill patients
Dealing with terminally ill and their relatives
Factor 6: Medical responsibility for friends and relatives (4.4% of variance)
Dealing with friends as patients

The model of stress in GPs illustrates the sources of occupational stress and subsequent stress outcomes, based on our findings (see Figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1. The six broad sources of stress identified in our study showing how the outcome is a direct response of a GP's perception of the sources of stress and his skill in coping with them.

The study showed that female GPs were significantly more satisfied with their job than their male counterparts. Male GPs had significantly higher levels of anxiety than the normative comparison group. On the other hand female GPs had significantly lower scores on the anxiety, depression and somatic anxiety scales. Multivariate analysis showed that the stressors associated with the demands of the job, practice administration, interruption and home/work interface were predictive of job dissatisfaction. Predictors of overall mental ill-health included the stressors of practice administration, interruptions, demands of the job and patients expectations and home/work interface. It was concluded that the sources of stress identified as significant predictors of both lack of mental well-being and job dissatisfaction were related to managerial and social skills rather than technical skills and abilities. These skills can be developed by training.

In the second quantitative study our objective was to compare the measures of job satisfaction, mental health and job stress amongst GPs, by surveys before the new contract came into effect, and again 3 years later (Rout and Rout, 1994). We distributed 850 questionnaires in 1993 to a national sample of general practitioners. A total of 414 questionnaires were returned of which 380 were sufficiently complete for statistical analysis. The sample consisted of 68.9% male and 30.8% female GPs. Their ages ranged from 25 to 65. The sample in 1987 study was 1817 GPs (see previous study for details).

It was found that GPs were more stressed in 1993 than in 1987. Both male and female GPs appeared to be more depressed and had higher levels of somatic anxiety in 1993 than 1987. GPs were less satisfied with their job in

1993 than in 1987 (see Table 6.2). This may be due to the great number of changes that have taken place during this intervening period. They had to work in an uncertain environment during these years. They have been compelled to fulfil the requirements of the new changes in their job. Karasek's (1979) job strain model predicts that job strain results from the combination of low job decision latitudes (constraints in decision making or less control over the task) and heavy job demands. This same combination is associated with job dissatisfaction. As mentioned earlier, the high demand nature of general practice is well documented. The accelerated changes in general practice in 1990 was beyond the control of the doctors due to lack of consultation with ordinary members of the profession (Bain, 1991). This has resulted in considerable tension among GPs. We suggest that there was a perceived loss of control among GPs. The findings highlight the importance for GPs to have control over their work environment, status in their job and recognition from others for work well done. These findings have important consequences for what can be done about GP stress. This is discussed in chapter 8.

Table	6.2.	Mean	scores	on job	o satis	faction (1	high score :	= hig	h sat	isfa	action), me	ntal	hea	lth
(high	score	e = po	or men	ntal he	ealth),	drinking	behaviour	and	type	A	behaviour	by	sex	of
respondents (comparison between 1987 and 1993 data)														

n an an an Alachara an Annaichte an an an an Alacharachadh an Annaichte		GPs 1993			GPs 198		
	n	mean	sd	n	mean	sd	t
Job satisfaction							
Males	262	44.14	10.35	1433	50.30	8.23	9.20***
Females	116	44.97	7.98	335	52.80	7.36	9.27***
Mental health							
Males	260	10.10	7.87	1401	8.96	6.68	2.20*
Females	117	12.79	7.27	316	10.80	6.51	2.60**
Free-floating anxiety							
Males	260	3.93	3.49	1439	3.70	3.17	1.07
Females	117	5.45	3.53	335	4.84	3.35	1.67
Somatic anxiety							
Males	260	2.71	2.60	1426	2.36	2.18	2.29*
Females	117	3.14	2.33	331	2.65	2.24	2.01*
Depression							
Males	260	3.46	2.91	1431	2.92	2.65	2.89**
Females	117	4.20	2.85	335	3.37	2.40	3.07**
Drinking behaviour							
Males	262	2.84	1.01	1467	1.89	1.02	14.00***
Females	117	2.70	0.84	343	1.70	0.91	10.86***
Type A behaviour							
Males	261	94.55	17.73	1450	93.09	19.70	1.29
Females	117	96.65	14.66	338	92.39	15.79	2.66**

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

The next study (Sibbald, Enzer, Cooper, Rout and Sutherland, 2000) compared GP job satisfaction from 1987 to 1998, covering a period of major changes in the organisation of British general practice. Postal surveys of national samples of GPs were carried out in 1987, 1990 and 1998. The questionnaire contained a list of job stressors and a job satisfaction scale. The three samples were 1817 GPs in 1987, 917 GPs in 1990 and 1828 GPs in 1998. From 1987 to 1990 stress increased for 8 of the 14 stressors. Of these three subsequently declined in 1998 (interruptions by emergency calls, night visits and home/family life disturbance) and three continued to increase (unrealistically high expectations of role by others, working environment and adverse publicity by the media). In sum, the results suggest that job satisfaction among GPs has declined from 1987 to 1990 followed by partial recovery from 1990 to 1998. However, most aspects of job satisfaction have yet to return to 1987 levels.

The downward trend in satisfaction from 1987 to 1990 and 1990 to 1998 in relation to freedom to choose one's own method of working and amount of responsibility given, suggest that managerial control is not an important determinant of GP satisfaction. It has been suggested that for doctors, clinical autonomy is a more important determinant of job satisfaction than managerial autonomy (Lichenstein, 1998). As mentioned earlier, the introduction of the 1990 GP contract gave GPs control with enhanced accountability. This may have eroded their clinical autonomy.

A recent study (n=205) was conducted in the North West to find out the differences between male (63.4%) and female GPs (36.59%) on their job satisfaction, stress and mental health (Rout, 1999). Although there was no significant difference between male and female GPs on the job satisfaction scale both genders were unhappy about their rate of pay, hours of work and amount of work they do. Multivariate analysis disclosed three job stressors (time pressure/interruptions, working environment/communication, career and goal achievement) that were predictive of high levels of job dissatisfaction for both male and female GPs. The mental health scores from the present study were compared with those of the 1993 study (Rout and Rout, 1993) and the normative population. Male GPs had significantly higher scores on the free-floating anxiety, somatic anxiety and depression scales in 1997 than in 1993. Female GPs had higher scores on the somatic anxiety scale in 1997 than in 1993. Male GPs exhibited higher levels of free-floating anxiety and depression and lower levels of somatic anxiety than the normative population. Scores for female GPs on somatic anxiety and depression were lower than the norm. This remarkable mental well-being may reflect the fact that women GPs are more likely to work part-time than their colleagues and/or they adopt better coping strategies. The results of this study are consistent with Brown's (1992) study which found that Canadian women doctors had lower depression scores than other populations. Another comparative study on working and non-working mothers found that working

women were less depressed than non-working mothers (Rout *et al.*, 1997) which shows the effects of employment on women's mental health are positive.

2. PRACTICE MANAGERS

The second occupational category considered in this chapter is the practice manager. While stress amongst GPs has been the most extensively studied in primary care, little is known about stress experienced by practice There has been very little research conducted on practice managers. managers' stress. One study on managing change found that practice managers usually felt no access to financial information and involvement in important decisions in practices (Pringle, 1992). Instead, they are informed of the outcome of a planning meeting and expected to show enthusiasm and commitment to implementing the plan. Following the 1990 changes in the NHS, practice managers are having to work under pressure in order to achieve patients' satisfaction, maintain staff morale and accomplish the objectives of the practices. During 1994 we conducted a study to identify sources of stress among practice managers in the North West of England and to highlight their coping strategies (Rout, 1996). A qualitative approach was adopted since the aim was to gain an understanding of how practice managers perceived and experienced stress, particularly in an exploratory study. Indepth interviews were carried out with 26 practice managers out of which 25 were female and one male, 23 were working in group practices and 3 were in solo practices. Their age range varied from 32 to 54 years and their experience ranged from 4 to 11 years. The interviews were tape recorded and took between 45 to 90 minutes. The tapes were transcribed and a thematic analysis was carried out.

Responses to questions about sources of occupational stress and coping strategies were analysed to identify recurrent themes concerning sources of stress at work and at home. All the practice managers in this sample considered dealing with a variety of new forms to be a high pressure activity. Other stressors identified were time pressure/NHS change (due to time spent to study the new changes), staff problems, dealing with problem patients, practice organisation, pressure from the GPs, staff and patients, communication difficulty, practice organisation, and lack of delegation. An example of a practice manager's experience of pressure can be seen in box 6.1.

Mrs Z was newly married when she took up the post of practice manager in a single handed practice in 1989. She was managing the practice quite well until the 1990 GP contract was introduced. She had to struggle to understand the new principles in the new contract. The doctor in the practice delegated more and more administrative work to her. She took on more and more responsibility and had to take paperwork home on many occasions. Her marital life became strained. She became stressed and had difficulty in conceiving. She was trying for a baby during the time of her interview. She complained of heavy workload in the surgery: "doctors are putting on more and more pressure, I have no time to rest for a few minutes". She was having to fill up different claim forms otherwise doctors would lose money. Her husband was unsupportive, blamed her for working too hard for the practice and not being able to relax. However, eventually she became pregnant but unfortunately she lost the baby. Her stress level was on the rise. She felt that she would be happier by leaving her job. Eventually she left the job.





Figure 6.2. Sources of stress in practice managers

The following are some of the stressors that we extracted from the interviews.

NHS Change/Time Pressure

With the rapid change in the NHS, the practice managers have been experiencing additional pressure and finding it arduous to manage. For example, as one practice manager commented:

'I know my job involves administration but there have been so many changes in recent years it has taken more time for me to learn the changes than actually do the job. I feel that goal posts are being moved too frequently to suit the NHS managers. I can't see this mounting paperwork is of any benefit to patient care. The doctors are under pressure of workload and they are passing on more work to us'.

Another practice manager said:

'It is very difficult to keep up with the changes'.

Problem Patients

The practice managers in the interview sample were concerned about difficult and demanding patients; some even showed their distress about violent patients. As a practice manager expressed:

'Sometimes it is difficult to control the situation when there is a problem patient. They are abusive and at times very aggressive'.

Communication/Practice Organisation

A common theme running through the interviews was communication difficulty within the practice. These practice managers expressed that the doctors take decisions without the knowledge of the practice manager and in other circumstances a clear-cut practice policy is ignored by some doctors when it comes to implementation. As a practice manager remarked:

'There is a practice policy but it does not work. It is demoralising. For example, it is agreed that when more than one doctor is on holiday the others should give up their half days. When I ask the doctors to chip in they always come up with an excuse to avoid work. I feel as though I am talking to a brick wall'.

100

Delegation

There was a feeling amongst the practice managers that they were not trusted by the doctors and they were not delegated important jobs. Often practice managers feel frustrated, angry and undervalued by the doctors. As a practice manager commented:

'Doctors think that they would lose their authority if they delegate certain things. Sometimes they don't trust me. I feel angry and frustrated when doctors, without considering me pass messages on to the cleaner'.

Our study confirms the study of Gilligan and Lowe (1993) who found that practice managers felt no involvement in practice decisions and that the average GP is a poor manager with poor communication skills and has an inadequate idea of motivating staff. The results concerning perceived communication difficulty in the practice is discussed in chapter 8. However, for other occupational groups, the main sources of stress are overwork, both in terms of quality and quantity, role conflict and role ambiguity but for practice managers these stressors do not appear to be particularly important.

Coping

When asked about how they coped with stress and tension that they experienced, a commonly used coping strategy expressed by the practice managers was talking to friends and spouses. Other coping strategies used by the practice managers included having a drink in the pub, having a smoke, and taking a hot bath. When asked about how their stress could be reduced, suggestions included more training, improvements in communication, better working condition and social support.

We suggest that there is an obvious need for practice managers to improve and implement working systems within the practice and they must seek management training. While the patients are becoming more demanding, the shape of the practice organisation may have to change to cope with it (see chapter 8) and for practice managers there is an urgent need for further training in order to acquire new skills. This is discussed in chapter 8.

3. PRACTICE RECEPTIONISTS

Although the important nature of reception work in general practice is well recognised (Pritchard, 1981; Arber and Sawyer, 1982) there is no previous study addressing stress amongst receptionists at work. However a study by Freeman (1989) addressed the issue of the influence of receptionists on continuity of care in four group practices. Most receptionists thought that the patients should see the same doctor but their influence seems to be very little compared with that of the doctors. In a group practice receptionists would find it easier to handle the appointment system if the workload was equally distributed among the doctors. The authors felt that with great variation in demands by the patients to see particular doctors, even a rigid practice policy would not help to solve the problem for the receptionists. It has been shown by Copeman and Van Zwanenberg (1988) that receptionists feel a lack of understanding by their GPs and unappreciated by the general public. They are taken for granted by the doctors and patients.

As there is more emphasis on primary health care team the responsibility of receptionists are becoming more complex. Therefore, we decided to carry out a pilot study on stress among receptionists so that training needs could be addressed. The study was carried out in 1993 in the North West Region of England. Semi-structured interview schedules were developed and piloted by the authors. These combined with open ended questions and probes concerning sources of stress at work, with a critical incident technique (Dewe, 1991). In the latter, respondents were asked to think of, and describe a recent incident or situation which they found particularly stressful, and to describe the coping strategies they employed. Twenty eight receptionists were selected from a variety of practices, for example, solo v group, urban v rural, and social mix areas. The interviews were carried out in their workplace and they were tape recorded and took between 35 to 90 minutes. Then the tapes were transcribed and thematic analysis was carried out.

The main sources of stress identified by the receptionists were patients demands for appointments to see a particular doctor, communication difficulty with patients/doctors/practice manager/practice nurse and other health care workers, interruption, immediate issue of repeat prescription, non-emergency cases to be seen in weekend surgeries, demand to collect repeat prescriptions on Saturdays, increase in workload due to change, communicating with deaf and elderly patients, prejudice, organisational problems, talking to people when extremely busy, dealing with drug representatives who come without appointments, dealing with emotionally upset patients (i.e. bereaved patients), depressed and aggressive patients. We shall describe only few of these.

Communication

The first major theme perceived was lack of communication. There was a widespread belief that the GPs and practice managers knew more about the situations than they were prepared to communicate. The receptionists felt uneasy because they believed that the GPs and the practice managers were not open with them. Also some receptionists felt that decisions were taken without involving them and decisions were often not communicated to them.

There was a widespread feeling among the receptionists that they are not being valued by their GPs and practice managers. A receptionist in a group practice said:

'Practice policies are made in the practice meetings but no one tells us what the doctors expect us to do. You only get to know about the new policy when things go wrong and you are simply told that you should have known. They don't value our work'.

Another receptionist expressed:

'Sometimes doctors don't help in stressful situations. When a patient telephones enquiring about something, the doctor may either be too busy to give advice or simply refuse to offer any help. You are then stuck with the problem, while the patient at the other end of the telephone maybe thinking that you are being obstructive to him/her'.

Another typical example:

'Patients think it is your fault if they can't see the doctor of their choice or if the doctor is running late'.

Discrimination/Prejudice

Racial prejudice and discrimination can promote feelings of inadequacy, inferiority and low self-esteem. Being members of a particular racial group can affect a person's response to stress. Also lack of role models in the workplace can create a stress situation and increase response to other stressors. This leads to role conflict for the racially different person (in this case an Indian receptionist). She feels stressed without the support of a sympathetic manager or a colleague. The following quotations are self explanatory:

'Whenever I take a problem to the practice manager she gives the impression that it was my fault. She follows one set of rules for me and a different one for other staff. Instead of any support she always treats me unfairly. The practice manager is inconsistent'.

'Sometimes the attitude of some patients towards coloured receptionists is appalling'.

'They give you racist remarks. Although I am Indian, they would call me that black girl. Even colleagues at times talk about this indirectly'.

Organisational Problems

This is one of the biggest problems in the practices that we visited during the interviews. In order to achieve the goals, practices need to work as a team and good work done by individuals needs to be appreciated. As one of the receptionists stated:

'Sometimes the problems do not get resolved by the practice manager. She does not appreciate my efforts. Often I do the good work but the credit goes to my colleagues'.

Another receptionist described about the doctors who do not appreciate their work:

'We are supposed to work as a team in the surgery. You can see that receptionists take all the abuse from the patients but don't get any support from the doctors. Doctors talk down to you. They expect us to carry on as if nothing has happened'.

Increase in Workload due to Change

The increase in workload due to the changes in the health care system has not only affected the doctors but also the office staff. They have to work hard to cope with increased typing, filing, recording data on the computer and also to cope with increased demand from patients. A receptionist voiced:

'There has been such a great increase in our workload, following the new changes, yet there is no backup for us'.

Drug Representatives

Some practices allow drug representatives to see doctors and nurses by an appointment system only, whereas in other practices there are no restrictions. Usually the representatives, like the patients, report to the receptionists first before seeing a doctor. It is not uncommon for some representatives to call at the surgery without an appointment wanting to see the doctors. The receptionists feel pressurised by these representatives wanting to see the doctors. As one receptionist said:

'Our practice manager is very strict about drug reps who come to see the doctors without appointment. I know one or two reps who never make any appointment and come to the reception and insist on seeing the doctor to hand over something to him. When I ask them to leave the object at the reception they make an excuse that it has to be delivered in person. I find it hard to turn them away because sometimes the doctors break the rule and say.....'I really wanted to see him'. You see, where is the principle then. I feel like a piggy in the middle'.

Self reported critical incidence fell into two categories, interpersonal incidence and incidence reflecting a lack of communication. Interpersonal incidence involved relationship with general practitioners, practice managers and peers. Incidences reflecting lack of communication were also interpersonal in nature. However, the receptionists were able to describe affective and physical responses to specific critical incidence. Responses included a wide range of reactions including anger, frustration, resentfulness and feeling undervalued. For example, as a receptionist stated:

'I feel frustrated when I know I can't do anything about the situation. I get really angry'.

The results from the interviews revealed a number of problems with which the receptionists are concerned. The key issues are communication and other organisational problems. As mentioned earlier, GPs lack the understanding of the stressfulness of receptionist job. There is a clear need for training in communication skills for the receptionists, GPs and other primary care professionals. The GPs need to consider this and other organisational issues in dealing with stress at work. This is discussed in chapter 8.

4. STRESS IN NURSES

The nursing profession is so diverse that it is outside the scope of this book to describe individual branches. There have been a number of studies conducted on occupational stress among nurses. These pieces of research mostly have been carried out in hospital environments. However, we will focus on stress among practice nurses, district nurses, community psychiatric nurses and health visitors as these occupational groups relate to the primary health care team.

Before discussing sources of stress amongst nurses in the primary care setting, from our interview sample, we shall briefly review sources of stress in nurses in general. While there is very little literature available on sources of stress among nurses working in primary care, there are an enormous number of studies available on stress among hospital nurses in different branches, for example, midwives (Wheeler and Riding, 1994), mental health nurses (Power and Sharp, 1988), nurses working in operating theatres (Davis, 1989), intensive care units (Hague, 1987), hospices (Foxall *et al.*, 1990) and nursing homes (Dunn *et al.*, 1994).

Tyler et al. (1991) found that conflict with doctors was an important stressor for highly trained nurses and nurses in the private sector. Parker and Kulik (1995) found that levels of work support and job stress were both significant predictors of burnout. Higher burnout levels were significantly associated with poorer self-rated and supervisor-rated job performance, more sick leave, and more reported absences for mental health reasons. Leary et al. (1995) examined stress and coping strategies in community psychiatric The stressors included professional isolation. ineffective nurses. communication channels, and inadequate support, supervision and training. According to Cooper and Mitchell (1990) sources of stress for nurses include workload, organisational support, dealing with patients and relatives, role confidence and competence, and home/work conflicts. Gray-Toft and Anderson (1981) found that death and dying, conflict with other professionals and peers were other sources of stress. Other authors (Snape and Cavanagh, 1993) reported that a shortage of resources and too few staff were the major sources of stress in a group of neurosurgical nurses. A study by McNeely (1995) shows that lack of communication was one of the important sources of stress amongst nurses. In a recent study on two teaching hospital nurses Bennett and colleagues (2001) found that lack of managerial support was associated with negative mood states and low levels of work satisfaction. The key predictors of negative effect was lack of management support, job overspill, having to make decisions under time pressure and lack of recognition by the organisation. One of the authors (U. Rout) conducted a study on stress and satisfaction among district nurses in the North West of England. The major sources of stress isolated by district nurses related to time pressure, administrative responsibility, having too much to do, factors not under their control, interruptions, keeping up with NHS changes, and lack of resources (Rout, 2000). The highest levels of satisfaction were reported for the amount of variety in their job, and the lowest level of job satisfaction was reported for chance of promotion.

Bailey (1985) suggests that commonly shared sources of stress seem to emerge from at least six areas, workload, patient care, interpersonal relationships with colleagues (e.g. nurse-nurses, nurses-doctors), knowledge of nursing and nursing skills, types of nursing and bureaucratic-political constraints. These sources of stress can also be sources of satisfaction for some nurses (Clause and Bailey, 1980; Bailey, 1984; Birx, 1983; Steffen, 1980). For example, lower workload, support from colleagues in organisations, and working within desired types of nursing, all provide satisfaction for nurses (Clause and Bailey, 1980). The question may be asked, why do some demands give rise to stress to some and satisfaction to others. One may appraise these demands as a challenge and opportunity others may appraise these as threatening. As Shakespeare wrote in Hamlet (IIii), 'nothing is either good or bad but thinking makes it so'.

5. **PRACTICE NURSES**

The authors are unaware of any studies on stress among practice nurses but one recent comparative study on primary care professions in the North West region of England found that the work done by practice nurses has increased many fold after the introduction of the 1990 contract (Rout and Rout, 1997). Theoretically, stress can occur not only when the demand on an individual exceeds his/her perceived capability (overload), but also when capability exceeds the demand (underload). But in practice nurses' workload, stress is invariably the demand exceeding capability type and work underload is not a common feature of nursing except in some minor repetitive job. This implies that stress among practice nurses is an area worth exploring. According to the data from the RCN's Daphne Heald Research Unit (Practice Nurse, Dec 1994) job satisfaction was much higher among practice nurses than health visitors and district nurses, but they expressed their unhappiness at GPs' attitude towards them as money spinners rather than health professionals. A practice nurse expressed that she gets extra pressure from GPs but no support. In a quantitative study one of the authors (Rout, 1999) compared job stress, job satisfaction and mental well being of practice nurses and GPs in England. It was found that GPs had lower job satisfaction and greater pressure at work than practice nurses. Practice nurses reported lower scores on anxiety and depression. The major sources of stress for practice nurses were dealing with the terminally ill and their relatives, time pressure and administrative responsibility. One interesting finding was that although the practice nurses had a high workload, they also reported high autonomy in the management of that workload.

In another study we compared job satisfaction of practice nurses with other primary care professionals and it was found that practice nurses were more satisfied in their job than GPs, practice managers, receptionists, district nurses and health visitors (Rout and Rout, 1997). This suggests that the practice nurses indeed are a satisfied group of professionals who enjoy their freedom of choice to work in the general practice environment. Our qualitative study on practice nurses is described below.

We conducted in-depth research with 15 practice nurses to identify the sources of stress among them. The study was carried out in five areas of Greater Manchester, Salford, Bury, Bolton, Rochdale and Stockport chosen by pragmatic consideration. An interview procedure was followed, similar to the ones adopted for practice managers and receptionists.

The nurses reported that lack of job description, time pressure, patients' attitudes, doctors' attitude, communication, sexual harassment from male patients, patients who do not speak English, and patients making appointments for one thing but asking for advice for others were the main sources of stress.

Lack of Job Description

Lack of job description may create relationship problems among different professionals. While district nurses are employed by the Health Authorities/Community Trusts, practice nurses are employed by their GPs but their main aim is patient care. However, there are some areas where their roles and duties can be conflicting. As one practice nurse said:

'There is always some overlap between my job and the district nurse. My job description has no clear boundary. We don't have good relationships with district nurses'.

Patients' Attitude

The attitude of some patients can make the nurses feel frustrated and undervalued. The following two quotations are self explanatory:

'Some patients come with pre-conceived ideas on health issues learnt from women's magazines, TV or radio, for example, cholesterol and heart disease. There are still controversial opinions on diet and treatment. When I try to explain, they do not accept that. They think that the nurse knows less than the doctor. It is very annoying'.

'Some patients think doctors are too busy but nurses have bags of time. Some of them simply come to have a chat, others come for counselling without realising that nurses are not counsellors'.

Time Pressure

Some of the nurses in our interview sample felt pressurised for time as they had to cope with various tasks within a limited time. When one task takes longer than expected then a backlog builds up creating stress for the individual (in this case for the practice nurse). This is illustrated in the following quotations:

'Some drug representatives come to see us with an appointment of 5 minutes but invariably take more than 15 minutes. I have so much to fit in. I feel pressurised for time when I see these drug reps'.

'Some patients demand your attention when you have a lot to do...... Someone may come for a blood pressure check up and then start talking about yesterday's car crash on Market Street'. 'I am always running late finishing my job because patients are being sent by doctors and receptionists without realising I am engaged in paperwork and some patients just knock on the door without any appointment'.

Sexual Harassment/Aggression

All the nurses we interviewed were women and some of them felt that they were disadvantaged because of their gender. Sometimes the public develop misconceptions by watching comedy programmes where nurses are painted as playing sexy roles. The following quotations are self explanatory:

'People get the idea from the media that nurses are sexy. Some men think we are easy prey with suspenders and short dresses and this is annoying'.

'You may think that you are safe to attend elderly men but in reality it may be different. I feel uneasy while going to elderly men's houses as some of them, although not aggressive, do make sexual advances while I am attending to their medical needs'.

'Some drug addicts can be very abusive and aggressive and I've seen some of them carrying knives. There is always a fear of being beaten up. I really get frightened because there is no panic button in my room'.

Communication

Although practice nurses get job satisfaction while working in primary care setting, they feel lonely at times. They expressed that there was a lack of communication between doctors and nurses. Two of the practice nurses asserted:

'I like working here because there is no hierarchical system like hospitals but it can be too lonely. As a nurse you are in an isolated room in the surgery on your own, you have no one to talk to'.

'My doctor has no appointment system, so when a patient comes to see me I would not know whether he or she has been to see the doctor. If he/she has been to see him I don't know the actual conversation between the doctor and the patient. Also, I don't have the patient's record. The doctor should communicate to me before sending the patient to me'.

Doctors' Attitude

Some practice nurses commented that the doctors' attitudes towards them have not changed even though they are not working in a hospital environment. As a nurse commented:

'They perceive us just as a pair of helping hands'.

A nurse working in a single handed practice commented:

'My doctor does not understand that I should have holidays according to my schedule. Perhaps he does not like to go away for a break as it would cost him for his locum or perhaps he wants to catch up with his minor surgery list'.

It is not uncommon for doctors to send patients to see the nurse straight away knowing fully well that nurses run an appointment system. The following quotations from the interview sample explains this:

'I hate it when I have a queue of patients and I can't see them properly. On top of that I get frustrated when the doctor asks patients to come to see me straightaway without asking me about my booking, I really get annoyed'.

'It is frustrating when you are doing a dressing and the doctor sends another patient without any prior notice. Sometimes I have to rush especially if there is an ECG to be taken. The job I was doing gets interrupted'.

'Doctors don't allow me to do everything that I want to do'.

Administration

Although nurses are mainly responsible for patient care they do often have to fulfil certain administrative responsibilities which can be quite pressurising. As a nurse commented:

'Towards the end of the month it is very stressful as all the claim forms are supposed to be ready to be sent away for payment for example FP34D (claim form for drugs dispensed), FP 1001 (claim form for contraceptive services provided), FP1002 (claim form for intrauterine devices fitted) and FP/MS (claim form for minor surgery)'.

Job Satisfaction

In spite of all the stressors, some practice nurses felt that they got pleasure working in a general practice set-up rather than in hospital setting. They had the independence to get on with the job in a primary care set up as opposed to a hospital environment. They felt very satisfied with their job because there was no interference from the doctors. For example, as one nurse said:

'In our practice the doctors send us to different training courses. Here we get on well. It's not the same in hospitals. We have our independence, they don't tell us what to do. Our practice manager knows our role very well. We have lot of freedom here'.

The information given by the practice nurses shows a clear indication of stressors. Perceived lack of communication with doctors and other members of the primary health care team was one of the major sources of stress. We shall discuss this issue in chapter 8. However, they were very satisfied with their job which replicates our finding from quantitative studies.

In summary, these professionals (practice managers, practice nurses and receptionists) have a lot in common and they play active roles in the primary care setting. They all felt that their jobs were stressful. The main sources of stress are as follows: time pressure, patients demand, administration, communication, organisational issues, paperwork and NHS change. These issues will be discussed in chapter 8.

Next, we have described the sources of stress amongst district nurses, health visitors and community psychiatric nurses together because they are employed by community trusts, not by the GPs and they are mostly attached to defined practice/s. The results from our qualitative studies on these professionals are given below.

6. DISTRICT NURSES, HEALTH VISITORS, AND COMMUNITY PSYCHIATRIC NURSES (CPN)

District nurses, health visitors, and CPNs form an integral part of the primary health care team. Recent changes in the NHS have affected the work pattern of all these professionals. The authors have gathered information on the sources of stress and their coping strategies by extensive interviews. The main sources of stress are as follows: time pressure, lack of resources, administration/paper work and staff shortages.

Time Pressure

District nurses, health visitors and CPNs exclusively work in the community (i.e. at patients homes and health centres). This involves travelling from place to place and dealing with patients' existing problems and planning on any new problems encountered while attending to the patients. Obviously this is time consuming and as a result their timetable gets out of schedule. These nurses also feel that patients, and their relatives in particular, are very demanding. Now-a-days they want to know the exact time of arrival of the nurse in their house for the home visit. As a district nurse highlighted:

'Patients are aware of the patients' charter and they know what their demands are. If you are late for your appointment they can wave the patients' charter leaflet at you and tell you straight away that you are late. They don't understand that there are many other people worse than their own condition requiring more attention..... I wish I had more time in hand to finish my job'.

A CPN expressed:

'I follow up patients at home and make an assessment of their condition. Some patients are hostile to the idea of follow up and don't allow me to enter their house, instead they argue about their rights and consume time for unnecessary reasons. Spending time in this way throws my time schedule out of routine'.

Lack of Resources

Recently many health professionals have experienced financial restrictions in providing services due to lack of resources. They are unable to meet the increased expectations of the patients. As a district nurse commented:

'Patients have become very demanding. They expect everything to be done for them then and there. A lot of them talk about the new patients' charter and about their rights to everything. They don't realise that there are financial restrictions that are imposed on us. They don't like it when we ask them to buy something like incontinence pads while we put their name on the waiting list for a free supply. These days relatives are very reluctant to offer any simple help'. A CPN gave another typical appraisal of this stressor:

'I enjoy my job as long as I am able to render my services to the patients. We are being asked to provide speedy services without extra resources, for example, not having enough places to provide accommodation to some urgent cases'.

Administration/Paperwork

The new changes in the NHS have brought an increased amount of paperwork. The managers insist every action is reported to them in the format devised by them. These professionals feel that the paperwork is taking a large amount of their time without any benefit to patient care. As a CPN described:

'I enjoy my work and I am not against change but I don't like to spend time on paperwork to satisfy my managers. They are asking us to produce reports on each and every case. They are supposed to provide us secretarial help but in real life you end up doing everything by yourself.

A district nurse who found paperwork as a major stressor said:

'I have a feeling that my managers are more bothered about written reports than actual patient care'.

A health visitor expressed:

'We have a big responsibility for children in the community. We have to prepare pages of reports for case conferences on problem cases such as parental negligence, child abuse etc'.

Staff Shortages

The market economy introduced to the NHS has made the managers conscious of their balance sheets. It has been expressed by some of the district nurses, health visitors and CPNs that during certain periods when their colleagues are on holidays the managers don't always employ temporary staff. This increases the workload of remaining workforce which may add more stress. As a district nurse admitted:

'We have a good understanding among the staff and we try to cover each other in case of need but when someone is on holiday the managers should provide adequate cover by employing temporary staff or 'bank' nurses. They try not to do that in order to save money and when they do, they employ someone of a lower grade. On the one hand the patients demand more and on the other hand, the managers don't provide enough staff'.

A CPN stated:

'Our managers want us to respond to any urgent requests made by patients to visit them within two hours. Its fine when you have adequate staff to cover but if there are people on leave or absent due to sickness there are no replacements. I feel really stretched during staff shortages'.

Coping

A common coping strategy was 'talking to colleagues'. However, they expressed that they had to relax at the end of the working day and they utilised different methods for this such as: listening to their favourite music, reading a novel, going to a beauty clinic, having a massage, watching a video, going out for a drink, dancing and doing keep-fit exercise.

The information given by these professionals gives clear indication of where the perceived problems lie. It was mentioned that lack of resources, staff shortages, administrative work and time pressure were the major sources of stress. The new administrative procedures require the staff to spend a substantial amount of their time in dealing with paperwork, which could be utilised for providing services to the patients. The government need to provide more resources to primary care. This is discussed in chapter 9.

In this chapter we have considered sources of stress in certain groups of primary health care professionals. The themes common to many of these groups are communication difficulty, time pressure, increased demands from patients, work overload and organisational change. Some of the potential sources of stress could be minimised by the openness of the primary health care team members and by improving communication skills. Although some potential stressors are inherent to the job and cannot be eliminated, it is essential to have training to improve communication, managerial and social skills. This is discussed in chapter 9.

Chapter 7

STRESS MANAGEMENT: INDIVIDUAL STRATEGIES

In the preceding chapters we have seen that stress can create several physical, psychological and behavioural problems for individuals. In chapter 6, we identified a number of factors, for each primary care professional, which put them under pressure. It is important for the individual and the organisation to adopt necessary strategies to deal with stress at work. We shall consider individual strategies of dealing with stress in this chapter and organisational-level stress management intervention programmes will be considered in the next chapter.

DeFrank and Cooper (1987) classify stress management programmes into two levels of intervention i.e. at the individual level, and at the group or organisational level. Sometimes a combination of programmes is offered in organisations. Murphy describes three types of workplace interventions for stress reduction and prevention: employee assistance programme (EAP), stress management training (SMT), and stress reduction strategies. The first two target the employee and the final one the environment (Murphy, 1984). Stress reduction techniques are taught to try to reduce the individual's personal vulnerability to stressors. These techniques are meditation, relaxation, and different methods with a cognitive focus. This chapter will concentrate on these techniques.

1. MEDITATION

The meaning of meditation is 'exercising the mind'. Individuals who meditate report being calm. They may appear calm and quiet, but remain quite alert at the same time. There are many good articles on meditation theory and history (for example, Pearce, 1982; Bond 1986; LeShan, 1974).

Two Eastern approaches of meditation from Hindu philosophy are internalised into Western practice. These approaches, called Mantra and Yantra meditation, are derived from Hindu Sanskrit words (Petersen, 1979; Wood, 1969). These can be exercised to induce relaxation and to explore self-awareness.

1.1 Mantra Meditation

Mantra meditation deals with sounds and phrases; for example, a neutral word or a verse from a prayer is repeated again and again to aid concentration. Several Sanskrit words in yoga qualify as Mantras. For example, 'Ram, Syam, Om, or Ahhom'. Ram and Syam are names of Hindu Gods and 'Om' is regarded to be the basis of everything. Another traditional Hindu Mantra is 'Om Namah Shivaya' meaning 'I bow to Lord Shiva'. Moslems use 'La ilaha illa llah' meaning 'There is no God but Allah', a line from the Koran. Jews and Christians pray 'Amen' at the end of their prayer.

However, mantras do not have to be sacred or religious. Researchers have shown that nonsense syllables or simple words like 'one' or 'calm' or 'relaxed', 'harmony' can be repeated by the meditator to produce relaxation experience and meditation (Petersen, 1979; Benson, 1980). Therefore, primary health care professionals could practice Mantra meditation without objecting to it on grounds of their religion.

1.2 Yantra Meditation

During practising Yantra meditation the individual needs to adopt a visual image (such as a candle or an abstract shape) to exterminate distracting thoughts from the mind. The object of concentration can be anything. It is necessary for them to choose the object of their choice. In religious practice, the object of meditation is God. However, ultimately the idea is to concentrate on one thing only at a particular time.

One has to sit cross-legged or in any comfortable position in a quiet place and has to attend to the visual image. It is important that one should not stare at the visual image but should allow the thoughts to come and pass away naturally. Eventually, the mind becomes clear and bright. When distracting thoughts disturb the mind, attention should be given to the natural rhythm of breathing. This would prevent the disturbing thoughts and produce the meditative state.

1.3 Transcendental Meditation (TM)

Transcendental meditation (TM) is a type of meditation with religious overtones. The origin of TM can be traced back more than a thousand years when the movement was begun by Maharishi Mahesh Yogi of India. The procedure uses techniques of breathing, visualisation, relaxation and repetition of Mantra (Nideffer, 1976). TM is used as a method of improving physical and mental health and reducing stress (Benson, 1984). Benson (1974) investigated TM and its impact upon stress reduction and developed another technique, named secular meditation, which duplicated the results of TM (i.e. drop in the rate of metabolic function - such as, reduced systolic, diastolic blood pressure, heart rate and respiratory response). It is recommended that the relaxation response 'can act as a built-in method of counteracting the stresses of everyday living, which bring forth the fight-or-flight response' (Benson, 1974).

In an experiment, it was found that meditators responded 30 per cent faster and more accurately than non-meditators to a key-pressing task (Bloomfield *et al.*, 1975; Petersen, 1979). It was argued by the researchers that the meditators were in a state of 'restful alertness' and the non-meditators became tense before pressing the selected key, which slowed them down. The investigators conclude that meditators can develop the combination of relaxation and alertness. Studies have also found that TM lowered anxiety, increased job satisfaction and improved work performance (Kuna, 1975). One could follow the steps given in box 7.1 for practising meditation. Although most meditation approaches emphasise the sitting position during meditation, TM does not have any preference for standing or sitting (Layman, 1980).

Box 7.1

1. Choose a calm, quiet environment and make sure that you have a comfortable sitting position with eyes closed.

2. Do not cross your arms or legs.

3. Choose a word or phrase (Mantra) that can be repeated again and again silently.

4. Make sure that your breathing is regular by concentrating on deep breathing ('inhale', 'exhale', 'inhale', 'exhale').

5. It is important to adapt a passive attitude and disregard distracting thoughts. Each time you become aware of the distracting thoughts, bring your mind to the 'word' of your meditation. The sound of the Mantra disappears as the mind experiences subtler levels of thought.

2. **RELAXATION**

The most popular relaxation procedures can be categorised as progressive relaxation, transcendental meditation, autogenic training and biofeedback. These procedures are unique in their own way. However, they all produce the same physiological result, i.e. resulting in the relaxation response.

The 'purpose of relaxation training is to reduce the individual's arousal level and bring about a calmer state of affairs from both psychological and physiological perspectives. Psychologically, successful relaxation results in enhanced feelings of well-being, peacefulness, a sense of control, and a reduction in felt tension and anxiety; physiologically, a decrease in blood pressure, respiration, and heart rate should take place' (Matteson and Ivancevich, 1987). There are several excellent books written by stress management consultants on relaxation and stress control. Relaxation is a skill to be learned and requires motivation, effort and commitment. There are simple relaxation techniques, which anyone can practice.

2.1 Deep Muscle Relaxation

When the hypothalamus (part of the brain that controls stress-response) is stimulated by a variety of sensory impulses, it becomes highly charged. Then, each and every stressor could easily lead to a stress-response. It is important to cut down the sensory impulses going to the brain by lying down, closing the eyes and deeply relaxing the body. By doing this both body and mind can return to a state of equilibrium and restore the balance. Deep relaxation can help in preventing the build up of tension, fatigue and anxiety.

Using the deep relaxation method, Patel and her colleagues (1973,1975, 1985,1987, 1988,), found a reduction in high blood pressure and the risk of having a heart attack in the future and improved quality of life. The technique is based on yogic exercise.

Through a screening programme in one industry, Patel *et al.* (1985) identified 192 males and females who were at higher than normal risk of developing heart disease. The criteria they chose were the presence of the following three factors: 1) mildly raised blood pressure not considered high enough for drug therapy, 2) mildly elevated serum cholesterol for which only dietary advice was given, and 3) ten or more cigarettes smoked in a day. The researchers divided the subjects randomly into two groups, control and treatment group. Both the groups were given advice to reduce the intake of saturated fat and salt in their diet, to stop smoking, and also relevant information on high blood pressure. In addition, the treatment group was

given training in physical and mental relaxation and stress management techniques. They checked the blood pressure of the treatment group on occasions, after 8 weeks, 8 months, and 4 years. It was found that the level of blood pressure was significantly lower at each of the three examinations. Over the four years, there was only one abnormality of the ECG in the treatment group, while in the control group there were six cases of CHD, including one fatal attack. In another similar study Patel *et al.* (1988) observed 5 cases of CHD in the control groups compared with one complication in the treatment group. The authors suggest that the same repeated results are unlikely to be due to chance alone. The advantage of this therapy over the drug treatment was its absence of side effects from drugs and a better quality of life.

Deep muscle relaxation should be practised in a quiet and comfortable place, by lying on a bed or on the floor or sitting on a comfortable chair. The instructions are given in box 7.2 from Patel (1989):

Box 7.2

Lie down in a comfortable position. Make sure your head, body and legs are in a straight line. Keep your legs a little apart and allow your feet to flop loosely so that your heels are pointing inwards and your toes are pointing outwards. Keep your hands by your side with palms upwards and fingers slightly flexed.

Close your eyes. Fill your lungs very slowly, starting at the diaphragm and working right up to the top of the chest, and then very slowly breathe out. Allow your breathing to become normal and regular after two to three slow breaths. Breathe in and out gently and rhythmically using your diaphragm. Don't force your breath. Be aware of your breathing pattern. Feel the subtle difference in the temperature of the air you are inhaling and exhaling. The air you breathe in is cooler and the air you breathe out is warmer.

Now you are consciously going to relax each part of the body in turn. Relaxation means the complete absence of movement. You should concentrate on the part you are relaxing.

Take your mind to the right foot and relax the toes, heel and the ankle. Then move your attention slowly up, relaxing your leg, thigh and hip. Feel all the muscles and joints of your right leg becoming completely relaxed. Relax as deeply as you can. Just keep your awareness to this feeling of deep relaxation in your right leg for a few seconds.

Now take your mind to your left foot and repeat the process, working up the leg, thigh and the hip as before. Let all the tension ease away and enjoy the feeling of relaxation for a few seconds. Then concentrate on your right hand. Relax the fingers, thumb, palm and wrist. Move your attention up to your forearm, upper arm and the shoulder. Feel every muscle and joint in your right arm becoming deeply relaxed. Concentrate your attention on this feeling of relaxation in your right arm for a few seconds.

right arm for a few seconds. Next become aware of your left hand and relax the fingers, thumb, palm, wrist, forearm, upper arm and the shoulder. Let all the tension ease away from the left arm.

Next concentrate on the base of your spine, vertebra by vertebra, relaxing each vertebra and muscles on either side of the spine into the floor. Relax your back, first the lower back, then the middle back and finally the upper back. Release all the tension from your back. Let the relaxation become deeper and deeper, feel the back merging with the floor.

Next, concentrate on neck muscles. Let all the muscles in the front of your neck relax. Let your head rest gently and feel the back of the neck relaxing.

Next, relax your chest. Every time you breathe out relax a little more. Let your body sink into the floor a little more each time. Let all the nerves, muscles and organs in your chest relax completely. Relax the muscles of your stomach completely.

Next, concentrate on your face. Let the jaw relax so that it drops slightly. Relax your lips, teeth and tongue. Relax the muscles around your cheek bones and your eyes and the muscles around your eyes. Relax your forehead and let all the muscles in your forehead become completely relaxed. There is no tension in your facial muscles. Now relax the muscles around your head. Now your body is completely relaxed.

2.2 Progressive Muscle Relaxation

Progressive muscle relaxation was developed by Jacobson (1929, 1976). Modern progressive relaxation techniques are variations of Jacobson's work in the early part of twentieth century. These are very effective in reducing stress (Rimm and Masters, 1979). One of the reasons why muscle relaxation reduces psychological stress is that the method tends to arouse pleasant thoughts in the individual (Peveler and Johnston, 1986).

In Jacobson's technique the subject must tense the muscle before relaxing it. This helps to differentiate between tension and relaxation. Relaxation procedure involves systematically tensing and relaxing specific muscle groups. The training procedure lasts several months and requires a great deal of practice in the beginning. However, the ultimate aim is to produce a relaxation response to counter stress in a particular situation. Progressive relaxation should be practised twice a day for 10-20 minutes, once in the morning and once at night before going to bed. However, each individual may relax at his/her own rate. It should not be practised just after a heavy meal. One must find a comfortable position to sit or to lie down to practise relaxation.

3. AUTOGENIC TRAINING

Autogenic training is very similar to progressive relaxation in many ways. There are six psychophysiologic exercises. The basic technique of autogenic training (or Autogenic Regulation Training, ART) was developed by Schultz (1959), a German Psychiatrist, and utilised by Luthe (1963). Individuals repeat a series of phrases mentally by giving themselves instructions to different parts of their body. Before moving into the next exercise the subject must practice the previous exercise until the desired results are obtained.

Researchers reported several benefits of autogenic regulation training. For example, episodes of insomnia, tension headaches, and asthmatic attacks are reduced (Wiltkower and Warnes, 1977; Rosa, 1976). Others have found that autogenic training practice regulates heart rate, reduces respiratory functioning and decreases blood pressure and muscle tension (Schultz and Luthe, 1959; Luthe, 1963; Luthe and Blumberger, 1977). Bailey reported that individuals who practice autogenic training report relaxation, peace, tranquillity, and well-being (Bailey, 1985). The response generated by autogenic training appears to be psycho-physiologically similar to Benson's relaxation response (Bakal, 1979; Benson, 1980).

Self-hypnosis plays an important role in autogenic training (Ulett and Peterson, 1965). According to Quick and Quick (1984) autogenic training is a method of self-hypnosis, which 'emphasises the development of individual control over physiologic processes through organ and symptom specific exercises'. Although, autogenic training can be self-taught, it is preferable to learn from a qualified supervisor because this might have adverse effects (e.g., palpitation). One has to adopt a passive attitude while practising autogenic training and could practice three to four times a day. Autogenic exercises involve the individual giving instructions of heaviness, warmth and peacefulness to his/her limbs. It can be practised in any position as long as the practitioner is comfortable. It is important that one should not suffer from heart disease or alcoholism which prevents the individual practising autogenic training (Bailey, 1985).

Bailey (1985) describes a 6 week schedule of autogenic training, which can be practised by individuals. The exercise needs to be practised in the

consecutive weekly exercise, 3 times per day in sitting or reclining position. See Bailey (1985) for instructions for six weeks schedule of autogenic training.

4. **BIOFEEDBACK**

Biofeedback training uses instruments to help individuals control responses of the autonomic nervous system. Body signals can be displayed by various means (for example, lights, sounds). For example, an individual monitors an auditory signal of his/her heart rate or muscle tension and tries with different thoughts and feelings to slow the heart rate or to reduce the muscle tension. When the individual recognises the feelings associated with decreased heart rate or muscle tension, the equipment is removed and the individual learns to control his/her own heart rate or muscle tension.

Biofeedback training can be helpful for people suffering from anxiety where they learn to reduce tension and anxiety indirectly by reducing functions of sympathetic nervous system. This in turn lowers arousal and prolongs relaxation. Biofeedback training has been used as a method for stress management by helping individuals learn to relax specific muscles (Quick and Quick, 1984). However, it is suggested that one needs to combine biofeedback with lifestyle change and cognitive coping strategies to obtain satisfactory long-term results (Rice, 1992).

5. SYSTEMATIC DESENSITISATION

Wolpe (1958, 1973) developed the process of systemic desensitisation. This is a method for reducing stress, and is based on the view of classical conditioning. This method involves a process of reversing the associations that have been established previously between some environmental event and the stress response (Rimm and Masters, 1979). This method is used in dealing with specific stress reactions such as phobias and anxiety. For example, an individual with a fear of heights could be desensitised to this phobia through a series of systemic approximations to the fearful objects.

Before starting the desensitisation, the individual must have had adequate relaxation training. Also, a hierarchy of situations with their threat potency should be constructed. The aim of the hierarchy of the situation with their threat potency is to bring the individual into contact with the source of fear, gradually. For example, while imagining the feared object, the individual becomes relaxed. The feared object becomes associated with relaxation. More intense images of the feared object are presented until the individual maintains relaxation while imagining the intense, feared object. Then the fear response is terminated.

Box 7.3 shows how a receptionist dealt with a frightening situation by using systemic desensitisation. The receptionist was made to imagine each of the scenes while feeling calm, relaxed and comfortable. The entire process of systematic desensitisation took several sessions after which Miss F, (the receptionist) was able to deal with the patients. Alternatively, the psychologist could accompany the receptionist to the reception desk and help her to achieve a relaxed state there.

Box 7.3

Miss F was a receptionist in a group practice. One day a patient came without an appointment while Miss F was at the reception desk. (The reception area was separated from the waiting room by a long desk). The patient demanded to see a particular doctor immediately. Miss F explained that there was no appointment available, but if he was prepared to wait he would be seen as an emergency by one of the doctors. He was impatient and wouldn't accept any alternative. (Miss F was simply following the doctors' instructions and was not in a position to let him see a doctor immediately on demand). He suddenly became aggressive and verbally abusive. Miss F became very nervous and frightened. She approached the practice manager who took over the charge of dealing with the patient.

Miss F stayed off sick for several weeks. She was a sincere worker and the practice manager felt her absence. The practice manager learnt from Miss F, that she was frightened of facing patients after that incidence. She discussed the matter with Miss F and was able to persuade her to come back to work. A clinical psychologist was appointed by the practice manager who carried out systematic desensitisation in the following manner by following a hierarchy:

1. Miss F was made to go to the psychologist's office and taught to associate a relaxed state with thoughts of being in the reception area.

2. The next stage was that Miss F made to imagine the association between relaxed state and being at the reception window.

3. Then Miss F was made to think of calling patients to come to the reception desk.

4. Next step was to imagine dealing directly with different patients.

5. Finally, she was made to imagine as clearly as possible the association of her relaxed state with the image of the patient who was aggressive to her in the first place.

6. STRESS INOCULATION TRAINING

Meichenbaum (1979) developed the stress inoculation training approach. It is a cognitive approach to the management of stress, and achievement of personal goals (Meichenbaum and Cameron, 1983; Meichenbaum and Turk, 1982). Stress inoculation occurs in three stages:

- The first stage is conceptualisation where the individual understands the causes of stress. This understanding occurs through discussions between the therapist and the patient.
- In the second stage (skill acquisition and rehearsal) the individual learns behavioural and cognitive skills (for example, he/she may learn relaxation and desensitisation, cognitive re-definition, social skills training) and practises these skills.
- In the third stage (application and follow-through) the individual applies the learnt coping skills in the real world.

Bailey (1985) illustrates a useful example of stress inoculation training (SIT) format which shows how it can be utilised for the practice of personal control over stress (see Bailey, 1985). According to him, SIT involves four phases, i.e., educational, behaviour-rehearsal, application and self-reinforcement. This is similar to the previous three-stage explanation. Bailey (1985) suggests that the education and behaviour rehearsal phases permit the individual to:

- 1. prepare for a threat that induces threat
- 2. confront and deal with stress-inducing threats
- 3. cope with feeling of inadequacy or being overwhelmed
- 4. achieve self-reinforcing statements, which lead to personal control over stress.

7. BREATHING EXERCISES

Breathing is an involuntary, automatic function, controlled by the autonomic nervous system. This reflects our general state of stress arousal. However, breathing is also voluntary and can be manipulated by an act of will. By controlling breathing the individual can control tension. One should learn correct breathing techniques, which play an important part in the prevention of respiratory ailments (e.g., asthma, emphysema). Through practising breathing exercises the individual will be able to regulate breathing patterns and increase oxygenation capacity. Mainly there are two types of breathing:

1. Costal breathing includes upper costal breathing and middle costal breathing. This type of breathing is identified by an outward and upward

movement of the chest wall. It is beneficial during vigorous exercise but it is not suitable for every day activity.

2. Diaphragmatic or abdominal breathing. Breathing with the diaphragm is the most important method available for stress management. This method aids even movement of breath which helps to strengthen the nervous system and relaxes the body. During diaphragmatic breathing, the diaphragm contracts and pushes downwards making the abdomen relax. As a result, the lungs expand to create a vacuum and draw air into them. During expiration the diaphragm relaxes, the abdomen contracts and the air gets expelled. This method of breathing provides the body with sufficient oxygen and gets rid of carbon dioxide. This relaxes the body and the mind. Also this method acts to correct shallow breathing habits. An example of abdominal breathing exercise is given by Patel (see Patel, 1989).

8. COGNITIVE RESTRUCTURING

Cognitive restructuring is a technique by which stress-provoking thoughts or beliefs are changed for more constructive ones, which can promote individuals' well-being (Mahoney, 1977). The most widely used technique for changing irrational cognitions was developed by Albert Ellis (1962, 1977) and is called Rational Emotive Therapy (RET). According to RET, stress often arises from 'irrational beliefs' or faulty training. Ellis (1977) described the A-B-C-D-E paradigm to help the individual in disputing his/her irrational beliefs and construct healthier alternatives. An example is given in box 7.4.

Box 7.4

Jill was considered as the most efficient secretary in the surgery. One day she entered Mr L's (a patient in the practice) blood report into Mr M's (another patient in the surgery) records. When Mr M went to see the doctor he was told that he had developed blood cancer. Mr M was devastated at the news. Arrangements were made for him to see a consultant in hospital. The next day Mr L went to see the doctor and at this point it was discovered that Jill had misfiled the blood report. Jill was reprimanded for her mistake. Because of her fault Mr M had to go through severe distress. If the mistake had not been spotted the consequences could have been worse. Jill was devastated at this incident. She regretted for her mistake. She lost confidence, felt guilty and later became anxious and depressed. She was ashamed and felt that she was totally worthless. Jill was treated with RET.
A - represents an activating situation or experience.

B - refers to certain beliefs that the individual carries response in 'A'. Jill focused on irrational thoughts, thinking, 'I am useless', 'I am good for nothing'. Instead her thoughts could be rational such as: 'I suppose I deserve to be told off', 'I should be more cautious and responsible'.

C - refers to the behavioural, emotional and physiological consequences of B. Jill became anxious and depressed which is inappropriate. The appropriate consequence could have been feeling disappointed and promising to be vigilant next time.

D - stands for disputing irrational beliefs while at therapy. This involves differentiating between true concepts (such as, 'I wished I could have been careful', and irrational one such as, 'I am totally useless').

E - refers to the effect of the therapy. This incorporates a restructured belief system. With the therapy effect Jill would be able to cope with the work environment confidently.

Another approach similar to RET - called cognitive therapy, attempts to restructure the thought pattern. This approach, proposed by Aaron Beck (1976), can help in the management of stress. However, it focuses mainly on treating depression. The subjective responses to situations and associated physiological responses can be changed by changing individual's interpretation of the situation. The cognitive approach has been used successfully in treating stress-related problems, i.e., anxiety and depression (Beck, 1976).

9. CONSTRUCTIVE SELF-TALK

Quick and Quick (1984) recognise that 'constructive self-talk' helps people cognitively to reappraise stressful situations. They describe this as 'intermittent mental monologue'. When an individual engages in 'positive self-talk', he/she can achieve positive results. On the other hand, if the individual engages in 'negative self-talk', he/she will achieve nothing and continue to be under stress. It has been suggested that constructive self-talk is not just positive thinking but a form of guided self-dialogue (Meichenbaum, 1985).

The therapist encourages the person to recognise his/her negative selftalk. When it is recognised, it is written down sentence by sentence. Then an alternative to negative self-talk sentences are developed, the opposite to each original sentence. See Table 7.1 for examples of situations, 'mental monologues' and alternative strategies for constructive self-talk.

Situation	Negative self-talk	Constructive self-talk alternative
A GP on his way to attend a hearing of complaint brought against him	I may be found guilty.	I've done nothing wrong.
	I may be fined.	I don't have to worry.
	I may lose my job.	I have indemnity policy and know someone else who went through the same situation and nothing happened to him.
A receptionist waiting to see the practice manager after a patient made a complaint against her	I will be reprimanded for I was wrong.	I have all my colleagues to back me up.
	I will feel embarrassed to come back to the office.	This man has made complaints against everyone in the office and they all have seen the practice manager.
A GP on the way to the surgery get a flat tyre	Oh God! Patients will panic and there will be chaos in the surgery.	Well people will understand about the traffic. They will think I'm stuck in the traffic.
	I can never finish my surgery on time	I shall take it easy, maybe I can finish surgery if my partner can take all the visits.

Table 7.1. Constructive self-talk

10. MULTIMODAL THERAPY

It is usually revealed by therapists that when a person enters therapy they have had multifaceted problems. Therefore, it is insufficient to use one particular method in treating that individual. In this case many different approaches are used by therapists. The concept of multimodal therapy was introduced by Arnold Lazarus (1981). In this technique the individual's problems are separated into levels and appropriate methods are chosen for each level by the therapist. Lazarus (1986) believes that the multimodal assessment procedures involve the therapist assessing the individual from seven discrete modalities (comprised of an entire range of personalities), they are as follows: Behaviour, Affect, Sensation, Imaginary, Cognition, Interpersonal relationships, the need for Drugs. The first letters yield BASIC ID, an acronym, which is easy to remember (Lazarus, 1986).

The therapist in association with the individual 'determines which particular problems, across the BASIC ID, are most salient' (Lazarus, 1986). 'The major danger of multimodal therapies is that the individual may be overwhelmed by too many techniques and hence it is essential that the therapist should limit the number of techniques and explain to the client the rationale of using particular methods for specific treatments' (Roskie, 1991).

11. PHYSICAL EXERCISE

Life was physically very active for our ancestors. Modern living, by comparison, makes our lifestyles sedentary. Over the years, scientific inventions, although they have made our life more comfortable, have influenced us to become dependent upon them. As a result, we have developed a tendency for physical inactivity. For example, we tend to take a lift instead of climbing stairs, or drive a short distance instead of walking.

The benefits of exercise cannot be underestimated. By doing regular exercise we feel fit and feeling fit increases our physical and mental health, which ultimately improves our resistance to stress. According to Quick and Quick (1984) 'aerobically fit individuals' have been shown to have 'a better interplay between their activating, stress-response sympathetic nervous system and their relaxing restorative parasympathetic nervous system. This suggests that fit individuals may be less psychologically reactive in stressful situations'. Quick and Quick (1984) state that 'aerobic exercise is the only form of exercise which can predictably achieve cardio-respiratory fitness'. However, it is important to remember that vulnerability to coronary disease results from a multitude of factors, such as genetic endowment, diet and exercise. Genetic endowment cannot be reversed by doing exercise alone, but exercise could help the individual, who is at risk of coronary disease, to live a healthier quality of life.

11.1 Physical Benefits of Exercise

There are many positive effects on the body if we take regular exercise. Some of the most important ones are as follows:

- it improves cardiovascular functioning
- it reduces risk of heart disease
- · it increases muscle tone and improves figure
- it reduces high blood pressure
- it increases physical strength
- it keeps the joints supple
- it reduces body weight
- it improves sleep patterns

11.2 Mental Benefits of Exercise

There are many mental benefits of doing regular exercise. Researchers suggest that exercise reduces reaction to psychosocial stressors (Crews and Landers, 1987) and others note that exercise can prevent or reduce depression (Morgan and Goldston, 1987). Other benefits include:

- improved mental functioning
- · alertness and efficiency
- · improved body image and self-esteem
- increased feelings of self-control
- · independence, and self-sufficiency
- reduced levels of stress (Rice, 1992)

Nevertheless, the precise nature of psychological and physiological processes of exercise contributing to stress management is not clear (Matteson and Ivancevich, 1987). It is suggested that individuals should exercise 3 to 4 times a week and 30 to 40 minutes each time, to achieve aerobic improvement. The exercise you choose should fit into your lifestyle. To achieve aerobic fitness you do not have to engage yourself in extremely demanding exercise. There are several keep-fit, aerobic or yoga classes available to join. You can choose one that suits you and could try to include that in to your routine. Home-based treadmills and other exercise machines can be beneficial. Even a skipping rope could be used which is cheap and can be used anywhere.

Before embarking on an exercise programme one must take a few precautions. A thorough medical check up should be done if the individual is over 35 years of age. Overweight people should take extra precautions. It is important to remember to use warm-up and cool-down periods before and after exercise. To prevent relapse one has to try getting support from family and friends. Researchers suggest that spouse involvement is useful in weight loss programmes and may work in exercise programmes (Brownell *et al.*, 1986). When there is a strong sense of group cohesiveness, group exercise can help adherence (Carron *et al.*, 1988).

12. NUTRITION AND HEALTHY LIFESTYLE

Stress vulnerability increases with poor diet, (i.e. eating the wrong food or eating too much). Too much sugar in a diet depletes vitamins and minerals. Reduction of certain B vitamins (e.g., thiamine, niacin and B_{12}) can result in increased irritability and nervousness. It is suggested that

caffeine acts as a stimulant to the central nervous system (Boulenger *et al.*, 1987). Lane (1983) stated that caffeine stimulates the autonomic nervous system and decreases the threshold for stress reactions. When an individual consumes a large amount of caffeine he/she is more likely to interpret an event as stressful. Researchers suggest that caffeine is an anxiogenic substance that is dose related. When ingested at around 720 mg caffeine provokes anxiety (Boulenger *et al.*, 1987). It is believed that coffee or caffeine consumption may contribute to the development of CHD (LaCroix *et al.*, 1986) but the evidence still remains inconclusive (Grobbee *et al.*, 1990; LeGrady *et al.*, 1987; Tverdal *et al.*, 1990).

In comparison with Australia, the USA and other EC countries the UK has a relatively low consumption record of fruit and vegetables (excluding potatoes), pulses, meat and cheese (Department of Health, 1994). In addition, the UK has a comparatively high consumption record of potatoes and an approximately average consumption of cereals, sugar, fish, eggs, milk, butter and oils. The National Food Survey in the UK shows that over the last 50 years the proportion of food energy derived from carbohydrates has declined and there has been a corresponding increase in the proportion of energy derived from fat, in the years following the war (Department of Health, 1994).

From the mid 1950s to the early 1970s the total consumption of fats and oils remained steady, around 50g/day, but the figure has dropped to around 35g/day in 1992 (Department of Health, 1994). The total meat consumption increased in the mid 1950s but since then there has been a steady decline in consumption of lamb. Although these figures look appealing there has been a drop in consumption of fish (27g/day in 1950 to 20g/day in 1990, Department of Health, 1994). Consumption of fatty fish lowers cholesterol level and thus has a protective effect on CHD. Saturated fat consumption is very high in Western countries including the UK. In the diet, there are three main types of fat, saturated, mono-unsaturated and polyunsaturated. Saturated fat tends to activate the liver to produce more cholesterol, but polyunsaturated fat tends to lower the cholesterol in the blood. Monounsaturated fat neither increases nor decreases cholesterol. It is essential that one should cut down the saturated fat intake in the diet and try to eat polyunsaturated fat. Fatty fish, such as herring, mackerel and sardines are excellent sources of polyunsaturated fat. Eskimos have a low incidence of heart disease because they eat large amount of fish. This fact should encourage people to include more fish in their diet.

There are two different types of lipoproteins, high-density lipoprotein (HDL) (good cholesterol) and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) (bad cholesterol). HDL has a protective function against CHD whereas LDL tends to narrow the arteries by forming plaques in the arterial walls. It is

found that some individuals tend to have a genetic disposition to produce more lipoprotein (a), a newly discovered LDL (Hajjar *et al.*, 1989). This lipoprotein does not respond to diet and makes individuals susceptible to heart attack. Individuals who are physically active and do regular exercise tend to carry more HDL whereas people with sedentary lifestyle tend to carry more LDL (Gutlin and Kessler, 1983).

Carbohydrates are essential for the brain to function efficiently and to provide fuel for physical activity. Additionally, it provides quick energy and gives the feeling of a full stomach, with fewer calories than protein and fat. On the other hand, excessive amounts of carbohydrate can produce a sedative-like effect related to brain chemistry and tryptophan (Lieberman *et al.*, 1986). It is therefore, better to avoid a high carbohydrate meal during lunch time as it can lower mental alertness for almost 3 hours after eating (Rice, 1992).

Protein is the basic requirement for growth and repair. Antibodies and other components of the immune system are proteins. Therefore, protein plays a vital role in protecting against diseases (Gershoff, 1990). When we are under stress or suffer from illness, our bodies' demand for protein may increase by 100% (Rice, 1992). There is a popular myth that protein produces strength and meat is the best source of protein. But we acquire strength through exercise and carbohydrate plays a vital role in providing energy for exercise.

Most stress researchers appear to agree about the value of proper diet to maintain a healthy body and develop higher resistance to illness and stress. A proper diet may mean cutting down on fat intake (particularly saturated fat), increasing the amount of complex carbohydrate intake (to increase fibre intake) and eating more fruit and vegetables.

13. ESCAPE THROUGH SELF-MEDICATION

Some people use tranquillisers, alcohol and other drugs to cope with stress. Although they may be successful in the short term, these behaviours have a negative effect on health. The high prevalence of alcohol and drug abuse in the medical profession is well documented (see chapter 5). The medical profession in the UK has expressed their concern about drug dependency and alcoholism amongst doctors (Irvine, 1982; HMSO, 1975). Research evidence suggests that self-prescribing is associated with a gradual increase in drug dependency amongst doctors (Allibone *et al.*, 1979, 1981). Sometimes this maladaptive coping effort may exacerbate this behaviour and these doctors become burnt out and kill themselves (Bailey, 1983; HMSO, 1978; Murray, 1978; Rose and Rosow, 1973).

Murray (1978) reviewed several studies on doctors receiving treatment for mental illness and found that drug addiction was extremely common. The inadequacy of medical education, regarding drug and alcohol abuse, has been criticised (BMA, 1992). Therefore it is important to educate doctors (and nurses) in drug and alcohol abuse during their training period which will enable them to recognise the symptoms of such abuse in their patients and would help them to explore their personal attitude towards drug use and its impact on their role as therapist. It is recommended by the Medical Ethics Committee of the BMA that doctors must not treat themselves or their immediate family. Improvements in the occupational health service could reduce self-medication and pharmacists should be aware while dispensing drugs to the individual doctor. The general practitioner should consult his/her own doctor for his or her families need of medical attention.

14. MANAGING TIME-RELATED STRESS

We shall describe time management in relation to work and to other aspects of life. General practitioners, practice managers, receptionists, practice nurses and other primary care professionals are aware of the need to manage time effectively.

Time management is 'efficient use of our resources, including time in such a way that we are effective in achieving important personal goals' (Ferner, 1980). Time management is important to the problem of stress for several reasons. When an individual uses time management techniques, the personal productivity could be improved. For example, he or she can spend time for social activities, doing exercise and/or pursuing other hobbies. It is frequently cited in the literature that a lack of time to pursue personal interests or social pursuits is one of the top stressors for doctors (Gabbard *et al.*, 1987).

When time management becomes the ultimate goal itself, it may be damaging to health. For example, it reinforces type A behaviour pattern where the individual works harder and harder to achieve more and more in a limited time. But if time management is used to reschedule priorities and reveal inefficient work habits, it is helpful to rethink some of our attitudes toward time. The goal of effective time management is to find the harmony or balance in use of time that serves productive, wage-earning needs but still meets personal needs of caring, sharing, and growing' (Rice, 1992). Research has shown that individuals who have a high need for achievement feel annoyed when their watches stop running. These people feel anxious when they are not certain about the time and feel surprised how people manage without watches (Webber, 1972).

On the contrary some people like to put off their work until tomorrow, which should be done today. They are called procrastinators. Procrastination is a term, which comes from the Latin word 'tomorrow'. John Adair (1988) cites a case of a born procrastinator who achieved absolutely nothing. Someone who knew him wrote a summary:

He slept beneath the moon, He basked beneath the sun. He lived a life of going-to-do, And died with nothing done.'

A case study of a GP who was a procrastinator is given in box 7.5.

Box 7.5

Dr L was the senior partner in a group practice. At the end of the day he used to take a number of patients' records, in a carrier bag, to his home. First he would take it to the dining room wishing to work on them but never managed. Later he would take the bag to his bedroom hoping to work on them yet simply leave them there. The bag would return to the surgery the next morning, and would again be taken home in the evening. The volume would gradually increase. This would go on for several days before the practice manager points out to Dr L that an insurance company had telephoned several times enquiring about Joe Blogg's private medical report. Then Dr L would take that particular record out and deal with it. He wouldn't have dealt with it if he had not been reminded.

14.1 Strategies for Effective Time Management

Any time management plan should start with a personal inventory to examine how you managed your time in the past, in an objective manner. By doing this you can obtain knowledge of what needs to be changed. You should keep a time log to record how you are spending the time. You might be surprised to see how much time you are wasting. You probably think you know how you spend your time but this is not true. According to Drucker (1967) (one of the pioneers of time management): 'Don't depend on memory, it's treacherous'. Therefore it is worth keeping a time log. An example of a time log is given below. You could copy this or make one, which is suitable for you.

An example of a time log for a day:

Date:

Tir	me	Activity
Start	Finish	

In the first column, marked time (start and finish), write down the time you start and finish something. In the activity column write down what you are doing. It is important to note that you must note your interruptions as well. Ideally, for a 24 hour period you could record your activities every 30/60 minutes depending on your preference and keep your time log for a week or two. You could invent your own shorthand to keep it simple. Then you could add together the time spent in each activity. You could try to group your time under several headings after keeping a time log for a week to search for a pattern (see an example of time log data below). You could then see how much time you spent on important activities and low priority jobs. Ask yourself whether this is how you wish to spend your time. You may discover opportunities for improvement.

An example of time log data:

ime spent	Activity	Aim to reduce or add time

We have seen in box 7.5 how a GP was accumulating the paperwork and deferring them. He could break the paperwork into smaller units and distribute them evenly for the week and do a little every day rather than piling up and finding no time for it.

'Are you spending time on the job which could be done to a satisfactory level by anybody else'? Then you could think of delegating these tasks. Delegation is discussed elsewhere. According to Davidson (1978) you must find out the reason of disliking the job and then possibly you could delegate the job to someone else, or you could break the job into smaller units so that it may be easier to finish.

Identifying goals and objectives in the short, medium or long term is an important criteria for time management.

14.2 Setting Goals

- 1. Set achievable and clear goals
- 2. Assign a priority to individual goals
- 3. Set target dates for completing the task involved to achieve the goals
- 4. Re-evaluate the goals periodically

There is a limit as to how far an individual can plan for the future. Once Winston Churchill said: "It is wise to look ahead but foolish to look further than you can see" (cited in Adair, 1988). Being organised on a day-to-day basis may be sufficient for the time being but not enough to aim for the future direction. You must be clear about your long-term (e.g. 1 year to 5 years) goals and objectives. Policies should be clear so that confusion and time wasting can be avoided. Also, policies should be reviewed, adjusted, and changed when necessary. It is important to make middle-term plans for example, every 4 months or every 6 months according to your preference. This could suit you for progress review purposes. In the short-term, for example, you could make a fresh list, every day of what you want to achieve, It may be essential to prioritise your task by using in your free time. numbers, letters or colours. For example, a number system might include: 1- Must be done today, 2 - Should be done today, 3 - Might be done today. Even if you cannot do the job in the third priority, you will have done the important jobs according to your priorities.

14.3 Learning to Say No

Some people find it hard to refuse other people's requests for jobs to be done. This causes stress because they lack assertion skills. Therefore you must learn to say no, with firmness. If you find it difficult to say no, you could examine the reasons. Is it due to lack of assertiveness, or is it due to not knowing your own capabilities? In these circumstances you could consider taking an assertiveness training course. "Assertiveness is the art of getting your own needs and wants met without preventing others from getting theirs. It should not be confused with aggressiveness" (Flanders, 1994).

14.4 Interruptions

Interruption of any kind is one of the major factors of stress in general practice (Rout and Rout, 1993). Perhaps it is more damaging when working on a complex task, where larger chunks of time are required for the flow of thought. Dealing with interruptions can be a problem for any primary care professional. Rutherford (1978) suggested that every time you respond to drop-ins with a pleasant chat you give a silent licence by encouraging them to interrupt again. This can be prevented by telling the interrupter that you are in the middle of some important project, which needs to be finished. You give another time to the interrupter for a meeting. If the behaviour of the interrupter continues, you could ignore him/her until he/she gets the message.

For interruption you can make a time log to get some idea of the size of the interruption (see below). You could identify the people or events who are responsible for the interruptions and find solutions to correct the situations.

Example of an interruptions log:

Day/Date Source of interruption Time taken Reason/Urgency

Telephone interruptions during surgery hours can be unpleasant, annoying and frustrating especially while the GP or practice nurse is deeply involved in consultation with the patients. This can be avoided by instructing the staff to advise the caller that the doctor is busy in the surgery and he/she should ring later after the surgery hours. In very urgent cases the call may be put on 'hold' until after the end of the consultation. The

GP/practice nurse may make him/herself available to receive telephone calls at a certain time of the day only (batch calls, both incoming and outgoing) ideally after the surgery. Patients should be informed about this policy through the practice leaflets and/or posters in the waiting room. For any other important calls, the caller must be informed that the doctor is in the middle of a consultation and he/she may leave his/her telephone number so that the doctor can return the call as soon as he/she is free. In group practices the working pattern for the doctors can be organised in such a manner that one of the partners be available to deal with telephone calls. However, the final policy needs to be tailored to the preferences of the doctors involved. Some personal action plans could be followed including some simple actions such as turning off the 'call waiting' function on the mobile phones and checking your e-mails less often.

14.5 Paperwork

Paperwork was one of the top five stressors for general practitioners (Rout and Rout, 1996). It is often recommended to handle each piece of paper only once and it is worth acquiring the habit. You can sort your papers daily according to priority (low, medium and high priority). Then you could concentrate first on the high priority pile of paper. You may not feel pressurised if you don't get time to handle the low priority paperwork.

This principle of selection applies to other reading materials. For example, if you want to keep up with important developments in the professional field, you could read summary or review journals. Then you could choose articles or books that contain detail information for developing your skills.

15. MANAGING TYPE A BEHAVIOUR

Type A behaviour pattern was discussed as a moderator of stress response and a type A questionnaire was presented in chapter 4 for you to find out the extent of your type A behaviour. If the primary care professionals feel that their score inclines towards type A, they could consider recommendations directed at managing type A behaviour pattern.

Type A behaviour modification programmes, with both CHD patients and healthy individuals, have shown significant reduction in serum cholesterol levels and blood pressure, lower frequencies of subsequent CHD, increased work productivity and improved family relationships (Rahe *et al.*, 1975; Chesney and Rosenman, 1980; Suinn, 1976). However, Friedman and Rosenman (1974) suggest that type A behaviour should be managed rather than changed, to minimise the health risk associations involved.

Primary care professionals of type A behaviour may find the following suggestions helpful coping strategies. Friedman and Rosenman (1974) recommend a number of 'drills against hurry sickness', which they claim work for their type A patients. Some of their suggestions are considered.

- 1. Force yourself to listen to others. Drill: 'Begin in your vocational hours to listen quietly to the conversation of other people. Quit trying to finish their sentences. An even better sort of drill if you have been in the habit of hastening the other person's speech rhythms is to seek out a person who stutters and then deliberately remain tranquil'.
- 2. Think before saying something. Drill: '(a) Do I really have anything important to say? (b) Does anyone want to hear it? (c) Is this the time to say it? If the answer to any of these three questions is 'no', then remain quiet even if you find yourself biting your lips in frustration.'
- 3. Change your obsessional time directed behaviour. Drill: 'Whenever you catch yourself speeding up your car in order to get through a yellow light at an intersection, penalise yourself by immediately turning right at the next comer. Circle the block and approach the same corner and signal right again. After such penalisation you may find yourself racing a yellow light a second, but probably not a third time.
- 4. Carry out exercises to assess your type A behaviour. Drill: 'Perhaps one of the most important new habits you can establish is to review at least once a week the original causes of your present 'hurry sickness'. 'In other words, try to get to the source of your problems and current obsessions, to the reasons for your time-dominated behaviour. Is it a need to feel important? Is it designed to avoid some activity or person? Is it really essential to the success of a particular personal or organisational goal? In respect to this latter point, never forget when confronted by any task to ask yourself the following questions: (a) Will this matter have importance in five years from now? (b) Must I do this right now, or do I have enough time to think about the best way to accomplish it?'
- 5. Slow down. Drill: 'Tell yourself at least once a day that no enterprise ever failed because it was executed too slowly, too well. Ask yourself, are good judgement and correct decisions best formulated under unhurried circumstances or under deadline pressures?'
- 6. Widen your outside activities. Drill: 'Attempt to read books that demand not only your entire attention but also a certain amount of patience.
- 7. Avoid making unnecessary appointments and protect your time learn to say 'no'. 'Try to never forget that if you fail to protect your allotment of time no one else will. (This is described elsewhere).

- 8. Stress-free breathing spaces. Drill: 'Take as many stress-free 'breathing spaces' during the course of an intensive working day as is possible. Learn to interrupt long or even short sessions of any type of activity that you know or suspect may induce tension and stress before it is finished.
- 9. Appreciate others. Drill: 'Begin to speak your thanks or appreciation to others when they have performed services for you. And do not do so, like so many hostile type A subjects, with merely a grunt of thanks.'

16. MAINTAINING A STRESS DIARY

It is useful to keep a diary to be able to identify precisely those individuals or related events that may be causing stress. You could maintain a stress diary for days, weeks or months, noting all activities. This will provide information about the type of incident or person or situation that causes the most difficulty. Additionally, you should record your response to stress, i.e. what you did and finally think in retrospect what you should have done. An awareness of this should help the primary care professionals to develop an action plan to minimise or eliminate the stressors. An example of a stress diary is given on the next page. At the end of the week/s you could review the incident and people involved which caused the most stress and then try to isolate particular events and specific people who consistently seen to be implicated in stressful work experiences. You could set aside some time to analyse specifically the sources of problem and find out alternative coping strategies suitable to deal with future problems. It may be difficult to change certain things in life but it is worth trying in terms of long-term benefit.

17. DEVELOPING A SENSE OF HUMOUR

The idea of developing a sense of humour in life, to combat stress, may sound sceptical, but Norman Cousins' (1979) true story shows how humour can have a powerful effect on our mind and body. He was crippled by an autoimmune disease where the chances of recovery were extremely poor. He took a constructive view and wanted to manage his own therapy. He left the hospital against doctor's advice and checked into a hotel. After watching comedy movies and reading humorous books (in the hotel) he recovered within a short time. He thought that his laughter contributed to his recovery. Although there was scepticism about Norman's claim at that time, researchers now believe that laughter can influence changes in our body functioning which improve the circulation, digestion and reduce muscle tension.

Day/date	Time	People involved	Type of situation	Feelings	What you did	What you should have done
Week 1						
Monday 21.1.02						
Tuesday 22.1.02						
Wednesday 23.1.02	y					
Thursday 24.1.02						
Friday 25.1.02						
Saturday 26.1.02						
Sunday 27.1.02						

Sample stress diary:

Removing the sources of stress is the best solution to alleviate stress but there are several circumstances where it is impossible to change the situation. Therefore one has to learn to live with it. In the primary care setting there are some stressors for which no simple solutions can be found. In these circumstances if the primary care professionals can learn to relax physically (switching off from work) they are more likely to be able to live with the stress. However, besides an individual's efforts it is important that there are a number of initiatives that organisations can pursue. This will be discussed in the next chapter.

Chapter 8

STRESS MANAGEMENT: ORGANISATION-LEVEL STRATEGIES

In chapter seven, we discussed individual strategies of managing stress which we hope will help the primary care professionals deal with stress and strain realistically. Today, many organisations are recognising the advantages of the introduction of stress management into the workplace. Therefore, in this chapter, organisation-level stress management intervention programmes are discussed.

The organisation-level stress management programme involves focusing on specific job stressors, intended to reduce negative outcomes (Ivancevich and Matteson, 1987). These include programmes designed to reduce job stressors in the organisation and programmes which improve a person's fit with his or her job and work environment. A framework for organisational stress interventions, developed by Ivancevich and colleagues (1990), suggests three intervention points: 'changing the stress potential in a situation by reducing the intensity and number of stressors; helping individuals modify their perception or appraisal of potentially stressful situations; and helping individuals cope more effectively with their responses to stressful situations'.

In recent years, there has been an increase in employee health programmes in the USA in order to reduce the escalating cost of employee health care insurance and litigation. Today, in the UK, this trend is spreading slowly. In this context we shall concentrate on Employee Assistance Programmes (EAPs) first.

1. EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAMMES

Employee Assistance Programmes originated in the USA, and were later introduced in the UK. These were expanded during the mid-1980s and early 90s in many industrial sectors in Britain. EAP is defined as "a mechanism for making counselling and other forms of assistance available to a designated workforce on a systematic and uniform basis, and to recognised standards" [Employee Assistance Professionals Association (EAPA in the UK), 1994]. This is "a programme that provides direct service to an organisation's workers who are experiencing many types of problems in their personal or work lives" (Cunningham, 1994). The objectives of EAPs are to benefit both the employee and the employing organisation. However, provision of EAP in Britain is not formalised. There are many different EAP models. For example, 'internal' EAPs which are work site-based and 'external' EAPs based outside the workplace others can be a combination of both. In Britain external EAPs are more common than internal EAPs. Berridge, Cooper and Highly-Marchington (1997) provide the following points that influence their operation:

British EAPs:

- emphasise brief counselling and intervention
- tend to be 'broad-brush' in coverage of topics and employees' families
- mainly receive self-referrals rather than managerial referrals
- concentrate on the individual rather than the organisation
- are funded by employer

EAPs include stress management classes, personal counselling and classes on coping (Ivancevich *et al.*, 1990), career change counselling, job retraining, and support for families of stressed employees. Some other organisations are developing several services to preserve the enthusiasm of employees - for example health gyms, spas, exercise and child-care services.

In bigger organisations a nurse, counsellor or social worker is given responsibility for different aspects of employees well-being. In New York, a departmental store (Macey's) was introduced to this kind of programme in 1917 (Carty, 1990). 'Control Data Corporation' introduced the 'staywell' programme which includes behaviour, and life-style change programmes such as smoking, fitness, nutrition and weight control, hypertension and stress. Specific activities to change life-style and improve health were planned for each employee. In addition, a follow-up programme was introduced where the employees formed groups and the members of the group helped each other to sustain the change in their behaviour. The outcome of the wellness programme was most impressive. The outcomes included 50% reductions in sickness rates and absenteeism, increases in job performance, improved attitude towards work, improved stamina and loss of weight (Hall and Goodale, 1986). Control Data explored the health care costs and found that there was a significant reduction in those which were associated with a reduction in cigarette smoking and reduction in hypertension levels. Another finding was that those who underwent exercise training had 30% fewer claims compared with the sedentary group.

One of the most popular methods in dealing with stress is physical fitness (Rosch and Pelletier, 1987). Pepsico Inc. at their headquarters at New York has introduced a wide range of physical fitness programmes for their employees. The corporate HQ is located in an attractive setting, providing a gym, sauna, whirlpool and massage facilities. The atmosphere encourages the employees to take up physical fitness. The New York Telephone Company saved \$2.7 million in absence and treatment costs in a year by introducing this wellness programme (i.e. cardiovascular fitness) (see Sutherland and Cooper, 1990). It is reported by Falkenberg (1987) that the employees might be motivated to stay with their present company because of the attractiveness of the fitness programme facilities.

In the UK two health care insurance companies (BUPA and PPP) 'have promoted preventative measures - medical screening, stress management programmes, and occupational health advice - no doubt believing that a healthier work-force will mean fewer claims' (McKenna, 1994). The Marks and Spencer organisation, in London, have facilities such as a gym, doctors, nurses, dentists, physiotherapists, osteopaths and health administrators. The company's deputy head of health services claimed that the service reduces absenteeism, increases the efficiency of the workforce and is an example of the commitment of the organisation to its employees (McKenna, 1994).

GPs or practice managers could make a conscious effort to organise fitness training during lunch times or other non-work hours. Leisure activities provide relaxation and reduce the effect of work-stress. Regular breaks during working hours would give a chance to 're-charge the batteries' and help the practice staff to unwind. Practices unable to implement this idea, owing to limited space, can make arrangements with their local health clubs for using fitness programme facilities for their practice staff. Although these programmes address some important issues on stress management, they do not always directly deal with the organisational reform issues. We shall discuss these later in this chapter.

2. COUNSELLING

The Post Office has introduced stress counsellors in two main metropolitan regions. In addition to helping the individuals to cope with stress in the workplace, they also identified the sources of stress in the workplace which may be causing problems. They carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the counselling simultaneously. Results, to assess the effect of the counselling on outcomes, showed that there was a significant difference between pre- and post-counselling measures on anxiety and depression (Cooper *et al.*, 1989). It is important that NHS management provides confidential support, for example, counselling, occupational health services and referral services. Colleagues may refer the doctor to the General Medical Council (GMC) when the doctor's practice is impaired due to health problems. The GMC then considers the case and the doctor receives expert medical supervision.

The services of the National Counselling service for sick doctors are open to all medical practitioners in the UK and calls are accepted from sick doctors, colleagues and spouses (Rawnsley, 1989). Clinical details and name of the doctor are not required. It is funded by the Government and managed by a small independent committee of management which provides a humane and constructive approach to the doctor whose competence to practice has been eroded. The advisor is usually a senior doctor from a different area of the country.

GPs need to receive positive support from their senior partner, but since seeking help may be interpreted as an admission of inadequacy, it may affect their career. There should be provisions for external counselling. In-house counselling may help, in certain circumstances, for all the primary care professionals. See box 8.1 and box 8.2 for how a practice counsellor helped a receptionist and a practice nurse in managing following stressful events.

Box 8.1

Mrs H was a receptionist in a group practice who always worked hard and enjoyed her work. There was an abrupt change in her marital life when her husband revealed that he had decided to leave her and live with another woman. Mrs H was devastated at the incident. She put on a brave face, pretending that she was able to cope and continued working. There was an obvious change in her behaviour. She was noticed to be withdrawn, weepy and unmindful. The practice manager arranged the practice counsellor to see Mrs H and after several sessions of counselling Mrs H was able to reconcile with the situation and coped with her job without any further problems. Mrs J was a practice nurse who had wide ranging experience in hospital. She was competent in her job. One day while taking an ECG of one of the patients, the patient got an electric shock, due to a fault in the machine. The incidence shook her confidence and she was not able to use any of the electrical equipment in the surgery. There was a gradual deterioration in her confidence, and she stayed off sick. The practice felt her absence and the practice manager contacted her to offer support. The practice counsellor helped her by doing several sessions. The outcome of counselling was a success, and Mrs J returned to work with confidence, and handled all electrical equipment without any problem.

The National Association for Staff Support (NASS) is a registered charity consisting of professionals coordinating and developing staff support resources for all health care staff. They do not provide an individual counselling service but aim to identify and promote good staff practices. The association has produced a number of reports on stress management within the health service and has contacts all over the country who provide help and advice on staff support services. The British Association for Counselling provides information on counselling services run by individual counsellors in different areas. However, it does not provide individual counselling. MIND (National Association for Mental Health) offers support for individuals and their families in mental health distress through information, advice and local services. In England and Wales there are over 200 local groups. Other sources of help in times of stress and other problems can be obtained from different sources (see appendix).

Many doctors do not have their own GP, and occupational health services within the NHS have been quoted as among the poorest in the UK (BMA, 1991). Therefore it is important that occupational health services should be upgraded and awareness should be raised for the need for such provision for all NHS staff.

3. SABBATICALS

Sabbaticals for employees will allow them to do things that they have an interest in which wouldn't otherwise be possible. In Sweden, after a certain period of work, the employees are allowed a sabbatical of up to a year. Although, in the UK, only a few GPs take sabbaticals, this system could extend to other primary care professionals.

4. AWAY DAYS

One of the ways to get away from work and relax is to have occasional trips with all the members of the organisation. It may be planned, either during the weekend or when the surgery is closed on half days. Perhaps, inclusion of spouses might enhance the flavour of social togetherness. These occasions provide a relaxed atmosphere, give everyone a chance to get to know each other, increase understanding and develop relationships.

5. STRESS MANAGEMENT COURSE

While there are various stress management courses available; the choice of selecting a course depends on the individual's preference, between residential/non residential courses or in-house stress management courses. This might help dealing with stress. There are also stress awareness packs available tailored for specific professions, which would help individuals to understand the problem (Rout and Rout, 2000).

6. MANAGING PRACTICE

Practices can play a vital role in stress management of members working in them. For example, they can adopt various types of change in their organisational structure and procedure, or alter the nature of jobs, to prevent or reduce stress among staff. This may not eliminate stress altogether but can reduce several work related stress in the practices.

6.1 Changes in Practice Structure and Function

Authority needs to be spread widely throughout the practice (decentralisation). It is important to give opportunities to employees to have a voice in changing procedures. The staff need to be encouraged to participate in decision making. Practice policies should be written, which reduce uncertainties and ambiguities that might cause stress, for example, spelling out duties and responsibilities of all the staff. If such policies need successful application then the staff should have knowledge about these. Often decisions are taken on policy matters in the practice meeting in the presence of GP partners and the outcome is not conveyed to the practice staff. However, if a decision has been taken on any new policy, or the older policy been modified, then it is appropriate that all staff are given a clear idea on these accounts. Unless the procedure is clearly explained to all the

staff, one may do the same job differently than the others, then this may create confusion for other members. For example, when filing laboratory reports to the patients' records, one secretary may file the recent most report to the front of the pile and the other to the back of the pile. A doctor who is used to looking at the front of the pile for the most recent report might think that the report is still awaited if it is filed at the back of the pile. He/she may have to make telephone call to the laboratory to enquire about the result. The time spent in this way could have been saved if the report was filed in the appropriate place.

6.2 Changes in the Nature of the Job

Changes to the nature of specific jobs could help to reduce job stress. Through job enlargement (effort to broaden the scope of the required job) and job rotation (lateral transfer that enables employees to work at different jobs) stress can be reduced. It is likely that a person doing a repetitive job might not remain enthusiastic to carry on working. Job rotation reduces boredom through diversifying the staffs' activities and increases motivation and satisfaction of the staff. The organisation gets indirect benefit because this gives the manager more flexibility in rescheduling the work and adapting to changes. The practice manager should make the jobs interesting and stimulating for the staff by giving them a variety of jobs. We have come across a receptionist, during our interviews, who was complaining about her job being repetitive and boring (see chapter 6). She was asked to do all the repeat prescriptions in the morning and filing the laboratory reports into patients records in the afternoon. In these cases, the practice manager could allocate different tasks to different employees or make jobs interesting by broadening their scope. An example is given in box 8.3 where job rotation was successful for practice staff. Also it is important to ensure a good person-job fit (P-E fit described in chapter 2) in any organisation.

Box 8.3

During our interview Mrs J, a practice manager in a group practice, said: "There was no practice manager in this practice before I joined. I noticed that some staff were doing the same job every day and I was surprised to see that during staff shortages these girls were not able to do anything else other than what they have been doing for months or years. I made them rotate through different tasks in the morning and evening. Now they are happy and feel confident and capable of doing all types of jobs in the surgery. I see no problems arising during staff shortage, as we are not dependant on a particular person for any specific job. The practice is very efficient now". We have mentioned a doctor's practice with an appointment system which did not work properly The receptionists stayed behind after the closing time until the doctor finished the surgery. These receptionists were unhappy about the arrangement and the staff morale was low in that practice. When we interviewed the doctor we learnt that she was unhappy with the service she was getting from her staff, and the staff turnover was very high. In this context it is worth mentioning how GP practices could learn from industry.

In the USA, Maids International, a house cleaning service had high turnover rates (see Greenberg and Baron, 1993). They tried to improve the condition and to reduce the level of stress. They attempted to eliminate fatigue and boredom (which usually burns people out) by giving them training which reduced the amount of effort required to do various cleaning jobs. In addition, time was built up into the schedule for socialising. The result was promising in that the employees stayed longer in the job, i.e. twice the industry average. The above practice could reschedule the receptionists' jobs and provide them with break times to unwind and relax. Stress is caused by a lack of rewards and praise and more importantly not providing individuals with the autonomy to do their jobs as they would like. Once the staff know their jobs they should be given the freedom to handle them without interference and provision of intermittent reward should be considered.

7. MENTORING

Mentoring in general practice set up could be considered for new staff and new doctors. Mentoring is a work relationship between a senior and a junior colleague. The senior colleague through his skill and experience would be able to act as a counsellor and support the junior colleague. The mentor provides advice and guidance to the mentee on how to survive and advance their career in the organisation. Mentors act as a role model. Mentoring can be between the same sexes or between different sexes, although women may prefer women. It may be formal or informal. Formal mentoring has been introduced in companies such as British Telecom, British Petroleum, and IBM which are aimed at developing new recruits and helping their career development. Individuals in this system usually do not have a personal mentor but they gain access to a wide range of experiences, improved training and self-development. Informal mentoring is an arrangement between two individuals. Usually a senior colleague, either voluntarily, or after being approached by a junior colleague who needs advice and support, acts as a mentor. In general practice, an informal mentoring system would benefit a trainee (mentor - trainer), new partner (mentor - senior partner) or new reception staff (mentor - senior receptionist or practice manager). A great deal of skill is required to be a mentor. The following list shows the qualities of an effective mentor cited by Flanders (1994):

An effective mentor:

- is a good listener
- understands the difference between counselling and advising
- is able to quickly establish rapport with their mentee
- respects and understands their mentee
- acts as a sounding board, allowing their mentee to think out loud
- guides the mentee to find solutions for themselves, rather than telling them what they should do
- has the knowledge, experience and contacts to which their mentee needs access
- is able to influence others who can be of help to their mentee
- understands the mentee's job and the culture and structure of their company/department
- will not feel threatened by their mentee
- can think through situations and analyse them dispassionately
- is willing/able to give the time and commitment needed
- truly cares about their mentee as a person but avoids getting overinvolved, emotionally, in their situation
- commands respect and is totally trustworthy
- is perceptive, patient and enthusiastic
- is willing and able to speak the truth, but in a constructive, not destructive, way
- is able to understand and relate to the mentee's personality, back-ground and lifestyle
- provides moral support and encouragement, constructive criticism and advice, and practical help.

(Source: Flanders (1994) Breakthrough, copyright Paul Chapman Publishing Ltd)

8. COMMUNICATION

We found from our studies (chapter 6) that lack of communication was one of the important stressors for all primary care professionals. This is not an unusual finding. As Charles Handy says, "ask any organisation what its chief problem is. More often than not will reply communication." It is therefore necessary to create an organisational environment that encourages openness, communication and trust (Cooper, Rout and Faragher, 1989; Cooper and Marshall, 1978).

It is important to distinguish between organisational communication and interpersonal communication. According to Carlisle (1982):

"Interpersonal communication is face-to-face. It is a person-toperson exchange of information that conveys the meaning. Organisational communication is the deliberate establishment and use of a system to transmit information conveying meaning to large numbers of people both within and outside the organisation".

Organisational communication is not all the communication that takes place within the organisation, rather the communication which is established deliberately within and outside its environment. Effective communication is essential for clear understanding and therefore practices must have an efficient system of passing messages within and outside the practice to all members concerned. Practice managers should take the initiative in devising different systems of communication until the most successful method is established.

In order to communicate with others the following methods, could be used either singly, or in various combinations.

- Short memos
- Newsletters
- Notice board
- Frequent informal lunch time meetings
- Face to face communication with individual members
- Telephone
- Electronic mail (E-mail)

Communication is most effective when it uses multiple channels, such as both oral and written messages. Oral messages have the benefit of a twoway communication whereas written messages (e.g. notes, memos) can take too long to get a reply. Two-way communication (eg. face-to-face, telephone) are more often used in organisations than one-way. The most effective way of communication may be an oral message followed up by a written one. Box 8.4 shows how communication difficulties can cause rifts amongst members of the organisation. This can be improved by several methods, eg. team briefing, and the expectations approach, which is explained below.

Box 8.4

This group practice of five doctors, all working in harmony, is a fundholding practice, in a purpose built medical centre. The practice is fully computerised and had recently been upgraded with new hardware. One day, one of the partners (Dr J), during out of office hours, worked on the practice manager's computer in her absence. The next day, the practice manager found that her computer was not working properly. She learnt that Dr J had handled the computer the previous day. She thought that Dr J had fiddled with the programme and messed up the new system. She reported this to the senior partner and made an issue about this matter. But, much to her embarrassment it was found nothing had gone wrong and she had forgotten the key commands for handling the programme. Dr J was not happy about the practice manager going behind his back and making an issue out of matters which were totally due to her own ignorance. The practice manager could have asked him first before taking the issue to the senior partner.

8.1 Improving Communication

8.1.1 Team Briefing

'Team briefing' methods could be used to improve communication in general practice. This method was pioneered by the Industrial Society which involves face-to-face communication in a group setting within an organisation. The leader of the group conveys information to the members in the group and the members are encouraged to ask questions. Team briefing usually starts at the top level of an organisation and finishes at the 'shopfloor'. In a typical group practice, the practice manager usually attends the meeting with the doctors. She should pass the messages on to secretaries, receptionists, nurses and other staff. The success of team briefing totally depends on the skill of the practice manager. Therefore it is important that she/he is properly trained.

8.1.2 'Expectations Approach'

At Durham University, research was carried out to audit the quality of communication among managers in organisations (Machin, 1980, see McKenna, 1994). This technique is known as the 'expectations approach' and this could be applied to a general practice setting.

'For a communication auditing system to be useful, an effective audit is required of what DrA says he/she wants from *practice manager B*, and what *practice manager B* thinks that DrA wants from him or her' (McKenna,

1994). For example, a GP whose communication has to be audited, goes through the following procedure:

- The GP writes down the expectation that he/she holds for the practice manager (identifying the things the practice manager is expected to do).
- The GP then writes down the expectations that he/she perceives that the practice manager has of him/her (identifying the things the practice manager expects him/her to do). This information can be analysed on a computer and can identify where communication channels have broken down.

In summary, GPs need to ensure that a two-way communication exists between them and the staff. Communication is a distinct feature of a group practice, useful for promoting individual growth. The expertise of each group of employees can be enhanced by the exchange of ideas, which can benefit the GPs, receptionists, practice managers, nurses and other professionals working in the primary care setting. Being in contact with those who take decisions may give the staff a sense of control over their work, no matter how little this may be. Doctors may feel that it is easier for them to get their messages through to their secretaries and receptionists rather than to the practice manager but this may be interpreted by the practice manager as undermining her position and doctors ignoring him/her.

Michael Argyle argues that people can acquire social skills, like any other motor skills, such as playing tennis (Argyle, 1972). Practising with appropriate techniques will improve the game. Likewise, one can improve communication skills with appropriate training.

8.1.3 Communication with Patients

Telephone systems in each practice need to be considered to match the demand of the patients. Unless, there is an adequate number of lines available for patients to ring through to the surgery, there are likely to be problems with making appointments, giving advice, and receiving messages, as well as inadequacies in dealing with emergencies. One must realise the degree of frustration among patients who make several attempts to contact the surgery but find the line to be constantly engaged. This problem may be overcome by installing a private automatic branch exchange (PABX) with an adequate number of lines and the option to expand if and when required. Figure 8.1 shows how a receptionist could handle telephone calls from patients. A notice board in the waiting room is helpful to put up posters and messages to communicate with the patients. Leaflets on health matters and practice policies can be left in the waiting room, making patients aware of relevant matters.



Figure 8.1. Flowchart to show receptionist's telephone handling

While working in a group or a team, problems experienced by one member may spread to others at some stage. Therefore, it is important for doctors/practice managers/practice staff, and practice nurses to communicate effectively. All members may benefit if the problem is known to everyone, so that they can take necessary steps to avoid stressful situations or deal with them appropriately. Box 8.5 and box 8.6 illustrate examples of communication difficulty in a group practice.

Box 8.5

During our interview a practice manager stated: "We had a patient in the practice who used to be very demanding. He knew our practice policy where we need two days notice to prepare repeat prescriptions. But he would come to the reception desk and ask for a prescription, then and there, without delay. Receptionists repeatedly tried to explain to him that it was not possible for them to do so. The patient would suddenly lose his temper and become aggressive. Receptionists kept coming to me to solve the problem. This happened every month so I had to intervene and interviewed the patient. He said that Dr X, the previous time, had written a prescription for him in no time at all. It was found that one of the doctors in the practice had given him the idea that he could come at any time for his prescription. In the next practice meeting it was pointed out to Dr X by his partners that his activities were inconsistent with practice policy. As a result, the receptionists were getting the brunt of the patient's aggression. Dr X conceded to the allegation but stressed that this policy was established while he was on holiday and has not been notified. However, he agreed to explain to the patient the principles of the practice that the receptionist was simply carrying out her duty as advised. The problem did not occur again after he did that. It is clear from this example that lack of communication can cause stress among various members in the organisation.

Box 8.6

During our interview a receptionist said: "In this practice all doctors see patients on appointments only. One of the doctors (Dr D) always arrives late before starting his surgery. Also he takes longer than the allocated time to see patients. As a result, half of his patients will still be there in the waiting room when all other doctors' patients will have been seen and gone. Dr D's patients keep coming back to the reception window asking about their turn to see the doctor. I assure them that Dr D is running a bit late and it won't be too long before they are seen. There are problems for other doctors as well. Patients waiting for a long time in the waiting room to see Dr D sometimes comes back to me requesting to see someone else (one of the other doctors in the practice) because they have other things to do. Thus, other doctors see these patients in addition to their own list. These doctors think that I am the one who is increasing their workload by sending them extra patients. I feel bad about it". After a few months the receptionist complained to the practice manager that she was unhappy due to the pressure at the reception desk and she was unable to leave the office on time. The matter was discussed in the practice Dr D agreed to start his surgery early and try to finish his meeting. surgery on reasonable time. His patients were given longer appointment and the situation is now vastly improved.

8.1.4 Patient Participation

Patients' expectations have increased many times over, and for some, their 'wants' are more than their 'needs'. It is quite possible that the patients' charter may have empowered patients with excessive domination to the detriment of the doctor-patient relationship. GPs and the practice manager/s could consider initiating patient participation groups where the patients learn how to share responsibility on health matters. They could become acquainted with the surgery work pattern, workload and job demands. The expectations of patients could be made more realistic by increasing their understanding through discussion between doctors, staff and patients. The patient participation group movement has been in existence for several years in some areas of England and are perceived to be important; others need to be encouraged and helped. The degree to which group members are representative of patients as a whole is questionable. Nevertheless, some authors have suggested how to form a genuinely representative patient participation group (Agas et *al.*, 1991). This may take time to implement.

9. **DELEGATION**

Delegation involves the passing on of authority and responsibility to various levels throughout the organisation. Delegation is the systematic allocation of duties and responsibilities (Mullins, 1985). "Delegation is part of team building and also a part of a person's development as they take on new tasks and learn new skills and responsibilities" (Atkinson, 1993). Delegation is commonly interpreted as movement down an organisation. Duties and responsibilities can be delegated to seniors - for example, in general practice, when a junior partner and/or a trainee is absent through illness or holiday, the senior partner and/or the trainer can take over the work. However it is important that the general practicioner and the practice manager understand the process of delegation and how best to implement it to improve practice effectiveness.

9.1 A Systematic Approach to Delegation

According to Mullins (1985) delegation must be planned properly and approached systematically. Mullins suggested 6 stages in a planned and systematic approach to delegation. These can be applied in general practice. They are as follows: The first stage is "the clarification of objectives" of a practice. "There must be a clear chain of command with effective communication and coordination between various levels of authority within the organisation structure" (e.g., GP, practice manager, receptionist, etc.). In the second stage the practice manager must be clear about the "opportunities and limitations" of her own job. The staff must understand the nature of their jobs after full discussion. In the third stage it is essential to make sure that the staff "accept the extent of, and restrictions on, the authority and responsibility delegated to them". In the fourth stage the staff "should be properly briefed, given guidance and any necessary training". In the fifth stage, "it is necessary to agree on time limits for delegation". In the sixth stage, the staff "should then be left alone to get on with the job". "A planned and systematic approach means the effective delegation can be achieved without loss of control" (Mullins, 1985).

Many doctors do not always take maximum advantage of the skills of secretaries, receptionists, practice managers and nurses (Drury 1982). However, doctors need to be trained, whilst at medical school, and when practising full time, to delegate. Successful delegation benefits both the GP and the staff, and enables them both to play their respective roles in improving the quality of care and practice performance. It is important for the GP to consider the statement: "Delegation is a great motivator, it enriches jobs, improves performance and raises morale" (Adair, 1988).

It is important to realise that delegation gives you more time to do higher priority tasks. For example, delegation of appropriate paperwork to practice staff could allow the GP to spend more time in consultation with patients. Delegation can motivate staff and develop a sense of being valued by the practice, if they are delegated interesting jobs. Practice managers were unhappy with their GPs because they were not trusted by them (Rout, 1996). Therefore it is important for the GPs to trust and have confidence in their practice manager and be able to delegate more tasks, especially routine and administrative parts of the job, to them. On the other hand, the GP should not delegate all the administrative jobs and concentrate solely on patient consultation.

9.2 Practice Nurse

Now GPs are increasingly employing their own practice nurses. Reedy *et al.* (1976) found that 3100 nurses were employed as practice nurses in 1974. On the basis of an international literature survey, Weisz (1972) found the following tasks to be the most commonly delegated: refractory, visual field test, measurement of intraoccular tension, hearing tests, otoscopy, gynaecological cytology, history taking, complete physical examination, intravenous injection, episiotomy, suturing of a perineal rupture, vacuum extraction, defibrillation, introduction of gastric tube, suturing of laceration, operation for entropion, operation for cataract, intravenous infusion, application of plaster casts, insertion of IUCDs, condensing and carving

amalgram, restorations, closed-chest cardiac massage and mouth-to-mouth breathing (see Bowling, 1981). Many of these procedures are not a common practice in the primary care in the UK. Reedy (1976), on the basis of a literature survey in the UK, recorded a list of tasks performed by practice nurses which shows that UK practice nurses perform much simpler types of procedure than those listed above.

The practice nurse is a valuable asset to the GP since she/he can take the bulk of clinical responsibility by screening, giving advice for health matters and surveillance of various chronic disorders, (e.g., asthma, diabetes, hypertension). She/he can also play a vital role in prevention of illness, immunisation and health screening. It is important for the GP and the practice nurse to trust each other and to be able to work together in harmony.

There are many tasks the nurse can perhaps perform better than the GP, but some GPs feel threatened that delegating more of their clinical workload might make the practice nurse take over much of their work. Anecdotal evidence suggests that some GPs are worried about delegating more and more to the nurses since it might be interpreted by the Government that nurses can deal with a large proportion of clinical work in general practice. Then some of the clinical responsibilities may be taken away from GPs, which would affect their integrity, status and income. However, by delegating work to the practice nurse would not necessarily mean less work for the GP, as there is always so much to be done for delivering primary care to their patients. Also, in Britain, doctors tend to be conservative. They complain of having too much workload but they are reluctant to delegate.

It is important for the GP to consider how the practice would like to achieve its objectives through the practice nurse (for example, management of diabetes, asthma, and other chronic disorders). The nurse should be encouraged to obtain training in specific areas in which she/he wishes to get involved. The role of the practice nurse will vary from practice to practice. But, all practice nurses need to be generalists. She/he should have basic training in family planning, counselling and interviewing techniques. Unlike the hospital setting the practice nurse needs to work with the GP as a colleague rather than a subordinate waiting to take instructions from the doctor. Our findings suggest that there is overlap between the role of the practice nurse and district nurse. Therefore, it is essential to avoid any role conflict by defining the role of each member and the boundaries.

9.3 Counsellor

Our interviews with GPs (Rout and Rout, 1993) showed that a large proportion of consultations were for non-medical (psycho-social) problems which were time consuming and GPs did not enjoy dealing with due to time pressure. These psychosocial problems can dealt with by a counsellor. A study in Bristol found that only 53% of patients attended the surgery for purely physical problems, 27% with psychiatric or psychological problems, 16% with social problems and 4% attended for trivial reasons (Hudson, 1988). This raises the question of how GPs cope, when nearly half of their patients attend the surgery with underlying social and psychological problems. Some GPs say the answer lies in the prescription pad and the use of psychotropic drugs. Also some GPs feel that they are inadequately trained to cope with the non-medical problems encountered within general practice. As a GP expressed:

"I let the patient talk for a few minutes when I realise that their problem is not physical, then I become aware that time is getting on, so I start writing a prescription. Patients always know that a prescription is the termination of a consultation and automatically stop talking" (Hudson, 1988).

GPs need to realise that it is not always easy to counsel a patient within a 5-10 minutes appointment and should recognise substantial advantages of using a qualified counsellor.

10. PRIMARY HEALTH CARE TEAM

Members of primary health care team share a common goal or purpose. This idea of a shared goal or 'shared vision' is the main component of any team.

10.1 Problems for Team Working

One of the obstacles in successful team work in general practice is lack of commitment by the primary care professionals. Often the primary care team seems to be a collection of individuals rather than a team. This may be due to the appointment of each member of the team by different employers. For example, district nurses, CPNs and health visitors are employed by the Community Trust. On the other hand, practice managers, practice nurses, secretaries and receptionists are employed by the GPs. However, the aim of each member of the team is to achieve goals by rendering services defined to the patient population. Therefore, it is essential to have a close collaboration, cooperation and communication amongst all the members involved. There are some GPs who think district nurses, health visitors, and practice nurses are hand maidens and ready to take orders. This attitude is counterproductive for achieving any goals in a team. The district nurses, health visitors and practice nurses are fully trained professionals. Therefore, it is important for GPs and nurses to understand each other's role. Another important problem to 'team working' is poor practice organisation. The practice manager must take responsibility for organising regular practice meetings in an effective way. Regular informal meetings can enhance the functioning of the team through friendly relationships. Good communication is an essential component of team relationship. This is also discussed elsewhere.

10.2 How the Team Functions Well?

"Successful team work needs more than an agreement to work together. Conscious effort towards preparation for team work need to be made, both at individual team level, and during professional training" (DHSS, 1981). The most valuable feature for a good team is frankness, which can be achieved by getting to know each other socially as well as professionally. We mentioned 'away days' earlier. Training or learning in a group ('multi disciplinary training') will help to understand each other's jobs. Therefore, practices can arrange their own training courses or they can attend outside training courses, for example, arranged by the Health Authorities.

Rubin *et al.* (1975) developed a 'do it yourself' programme for helping teams to work well. Another approach is to ask an organisational development consultant to help in initiating the programme. This experiment was tried in the Oxford region and was successful (Pritchard *et al.*, 1984).

Rubin and his colleagues recommend to look at the team process in a particular order as shown below (Rubin *et al.*, 1975).

1.	Goals	What are we here for? What is the task?
2.	Roles	Who does what?
3.	Procedures	How do we go about it?
4.	Interpersonal Relationships	How do we go on together?

"By starting at the top of the list, teams got their working relationship going and rarely reached the last item - interpersonal relationships - because they had already sorted themselves out. But if they started with interpersonal problems, they never reached the task!" (Pritchard *et al.*, 1984).

11. PROBLEMS IN GROUP PRACTICES

11.1 Partnership

Our study on GPs found conflict between partners was one of the stressors for doctors (Rout and Rout, 1993). There are many examples where partnerships break up due to interpersonal problems, unequal distribution of workload, and inappropriate profit sharing. In group practices, some senior general practitioners have not been able to change their attitudes towards the general practice set up and work pattern over the years. As a result, the younger GPs feel that their skills remain under utilised and innovative ideas get rejected or halted by their senior partner. Consequently, tension builds up in the organisation.

The newly qualified doctor wishing to join a partnership must make indepth enquiries about the practice: partner's attitude, religious views, flexibility to accept change, partnership agreement and practice policy. There needs to be a practice policy for the partners to avoid disagreements. There should be opportunities for all partners to debate all aspects of practice matters. e.g., finance, staff organisation, working arrangements. Therefore, the partners should meet regularly. It is important to communicate adequately within the practice. This is discussed elsewhere in this chapter. Some individual members in a group practice may experience their autonomy restricted whereas others might take advantage of the group and avoid sharing responsibility.

11.1.1 Group Decision Making

GPs are advised to balance their budget by prioritising the needs of the patient. Although this gives flexibility for doctors to decide where they should spend the money, there are times when painful decisions may have to be taken which might leave some patients dissatisfied. In a group practice an individual doctor may find it stressful to compromise his convictions with the views of his partners. An example can be seen in box 8.7.

Mrs V has a child of three years from her previous marriage. She is remarried to Mr V, who had a relationship with someone but had no children. Mr and Mrs V wanted to have a family but unfortunately Mrs V was unable to conceive. Investigations showed that Mrs V had blocked fallopian tubes which prevented her getting pregnant in the natural way. So the only possible way of pregnancy was by *in vitro* fertilization (IVF). There is a long waiting list for these procedures in the NHS. However, the couple would not be given priority as Mrs V already had a child. The procedure is expensive for private treatment. Mrs V was accepted for IVF in one of the hospitals for a nominal charge, with the condition that she will have to obtain her fertility drugs from her GP or has to buy them from her own money. She approached her GP (Dr W) for fertility drugs. Dr W was very sympathetic to her but was unable to commit to prescribing these expensive drugs without discussing the matter with his partners. In the doctors' practice meeting this subject was discussed at length. Although the doctors were sympathetic to Mrs V's problems, they decided not to prescribe fertility drugs on the grounds of their high cost and the fact that there was a child in the family. This money could be well spent on other health matters for the benefit of several other patients. Mrs V and Dr W were not very pleased about this decision but Dr W had to follow the group's decision.

11.2 Social Loafing

Individuals tend to put less effort in while working in a group than they would if they were working alone and the larger the group, the less effort each individual exerts. Latané *et al.* (1979) found the social loafing phenomenon to be widespread in both laboratory and field settings. Social loafing tended to diminish if the participants were made aware that they were being assessed. The example in box 8.8 below shows how a doctor in a group practice tried to avoid taking his share of workload but quickly reversed the trend after realising that he was being watched.

Box 8.8

Dr H is the senior partner in a group practice of six doctors on equal share of profit. In this practice, the receptionists record all the requests made for home visits in a diary (visiting book). Doctors, after the end of the morning surgery, examine the visiting list and put their initials against the visits they take. Ideally all partners should have equal number of visits. Recently Dr H had been taking only one or two visits, irrespective of the total number of visits in the book. This was too obvious to his colleagues. One day, one of his colleagues mentioned to him that he is doing an audit on home visits. It was noticed from that day that the visiting book had Dr H's initial against a number of visits. Sometimes he visited more patients than his share.
12. WORKPLACE VIOLENCE

Workplace violence is found to be one of the stressors for doctors, practice nurses, district nurses, receptionists, and CPNs (Rout and Rout, 1996). There have been several incidences of violent actions against GPs, including stabbing and murder in the UK. There is some evidence that the threat of violence is a common source of worry among general practitioners (Myerson, 1990, 1991; Black et al., 1990). Hobb (1994) carried out a survey of all GPs in the West Midlands Health Authority region, using a questionnaire. Out of 1093 respondents 63% had suffered some degree of aggression in the previous 12 months (while consulting in the surgeries, doing evening and night calls). A survey by Williams (1994) in West Glamorgan found that 9 out of 10 doctors experienced at least one incidence of verbal abuse in the past 12 months and that single handed GPs were more vulnerable to attack. Surgery receptionists are the first contact with the patients, both face to face and over the telephone. This makes them prone to verbal and physical abuse. Practice nurses, health visitors and district nurses have to visit patients at their homes where dissatisfied patients may create an unpleasant atmosphere including violence. General practitioners are particularly vulnerable to attack from drug addicts, dissatisfied patients and their relatives, vandals and thieves. We suggest that the following steps need to be taken in order to keep the work environment pleasant and reduce violence in the work place.

12.1 Physical Structure of the Surgery

There should be easy access to the surgery with adequate parking facilities. There is some evidence to suggest that crowding may increase aggression. Aggression can be reduced in practice premises through careful design (Health and Safety Executive, 1988). The waiting room needs to have adequate sitting arrangements so that patients can sit comfortably without feeling crammed, while waiting to be seen. The provision of a play area for children, with constructive toys, might keep them occupied and stop them running around. It is a good idea to provide some reading material to reduce people's boredom. Playing music through a PA system or even running educational video programmes might be considered as entertaining. Some modern practices have their reception counters as open plan i.e. without a significant barrier between the staff and patients. This arrangement might help the communication to be easier but makes the receptionists vulnerable to abuse. A well planned barrier at the reception window with adequate visibility and a good system of communication would give the staff a sense of security. In addition, other environmental conditions could be

controlled, for example, high levels of noise and exposure to a variety of air pollution (e.g. odours, cigarette smoke). These may produce emotional arousal and increase the likelihood of aggression.

The receptionists need to have a pleasant personality with a good working knowledge to be able to provide any information required by the patients. Doctors consulting with an appointment system need to keep to the time schedule, although it is not always possible to do so due to variability in the type of problems they deal with. It is unavoidable that some patients will take more time than others, and often multiple problem solving will require longer consultation than the allocated time. If one or two patients take up more time it is obvious that the subsequent ones will be delayed. This may cause frustration, annoyance or even anger. It is argued that frustration is most likely to produce aggression when it is relatively intense (e.g. when a patient is in pain and told that she/he can be seen after an hour or so). The practice manager or receptionist need to inform and explain the system or apologise about the circumstances to the patient that the doctor will be late so that they don't lose patience. Therefore the receptionists' training should include interpersonal and communication skills; training in self-defence would be an advantage. These training programmes are available in the USA and UK. It is essential to provide training programmes for the early recognition of aggression. This is already available for social workers (Brown, 1986). A night visit service can be organised with escorts for doctors for out-of -hours arrangements (Hobbs, 1990). Although these do not provide a total solution they do facilitate risk management. Preventive measures like panic attack buttons, personal alarms may be made a standard arrangement in areas of high vulnerability. However, it is easier to prevent aggression than to stop it, once the individual has passed his/her threshold for violence. Therefore it is essential for the reception staff, the doctor and others to be aware of verbal and non-verbal cues given by patients so that the situation could be diffused by early intervention. The staff and doctors usually know which patients and families are hostile and therefore could take precautions.

13. MANAGING CHANGE

We have been through changes at various stages of our lives. Some of them have been experienced suddenly and others through a slow process. There has been a change in the structure of the workforce, in the 1990s, due to increasing number of women entering into employment. Recent development in information technology has undoubtedly created pressure on organisations, compelling them to respond to the changes in order to survive. Changes ultimately affect the way organisations are organised and managed. Organisational changes are likely to happen due to influence of self imposed change or environmental (outside the organisation) factors. The 1990 GP contract which was imposed through legislation is a typical example of an environmental factor (chapter 1). The GPs are unhappy with the 1990 contractual changes mainly because of the way the changes were introduced. The pace and extent of change was seen to be a major source of stress for the GPs. Throughout interviews, and in comments made on the questionnaire, GPs expressed concern that they are expected to be experts in management skills, but with the accelerated change they often felt uncertain about what was going on.

The job demand control model proposed by Karasek (1979) indicates that workers exposed to high levels of demand are more able to cope with the sources of stress if they perceive they have a high degree of decision making latitude and autonomy in the job. The doctors reported that they no longer felt in control of events that affected their working practice because there was no consultation before the changes were made (Rout and Rout, 1993). This highlights the importance for GPs to have control over their work environment, status in their jobs and recognition from others for work well done. However, one must accept that change is not a new phenomenon. Change occurs all the time but today they are more profound, and occurring more often at a more accelerated rate than in the past. It can stimulate organisations to explore alternative ways to meet the challenge.

13.1 Resistance to Change

Resistance to change may be due to, the level of individuals working in the organisation or at the organisational level. Individuals may resist change due to established habit, economic factors or security. Organisations may object to change on the grounds of loss of authority in decision making and redistribution of power. Introduction of participation in decision making can be seen as a threat to the power of general practitioners. Individuals may accept change but groups may not want to change their behaviour because of the norm.

13.2 Controlling Resistance to Change

There are six approaches suggested by Kotter and Schlesnger (1979) in dealing with resistance to change. Resistance to change can be reduced through communication, support, participation, negotiation, cooperation and coercion. For primary care only the first four i.e. communication, support, participation and negotiation, are applicable in dealing with resistance to change. Communication is important because the logic of change can be conveyed to staff and this might reduce the resistance to change. Different support systems - for example, counselling and training - can be used to reduce resistance to change particularly where anxiety and fear are high among staff. Participation is the process whereby there is free discussion among group members so that a consensus view will emerge. When members of the group contribute to the decision making process it is unlikely that they will resist the outcome of a decision. Participating staff would be committed to implementing change. When staff perceive that they will lose a substantial advantage as a consequence of change, they resist it. A negotiation process could be used in order to implement the change.

Coch and French (1984) cite a classic study in participative change. At the Harwood Manufacturing Co. plant, an organisational change took place automatically. The decision was made by the management and the message was conveyed to the employees. Then the changes were implemented. Employees continued to resist the changes. A management consultant was hired by the company who used three different methods for three groups for the next change. The change was introduced in the usual manner (automatically) in the first group. In the second group, the change was initiated by employee participation through elected representatives. There was a full participation in the third group. The data was gathered for over a forty-day period and it was found that the first group was resistant to change as previously i.e. grievances and absenteeism increased and 17% employees left the job. On the other hand in the full and representative participation groups there was no absenteeism, no quittings and only one grievance. On the whole, participation was positively related to productivity.

Resistance to change can be reduced when an environment of trust and shared commitment is encouraged. It is essential to make other primary care professionals involved in making decisions which affect them as owners of the problem and the potential solution is vital. It can be suggested that new and innovative ideas should be thoroughly tested and objectively validated before being imposed. In order to successfully implement change, there needs to be adequate backing in terms of resources to ensure its smooth running and changeover.

13.3 Planning Organisational Change

According to Lewin (1951) successful change in organisations should follow three steps: 'unfreezing' the status quo, 'changing' or moving to a new state, and 'refreezing' the new change to make it permanent. In the 'unfreezing' step it is essential for the employees to accept the need for change. In the 'changing' step there is movement from the old situation to a new situation. In the 'refreezing' step change becomes part of the culture once it is absorbed. One has to understand the stages through which the individual progresses to achieve change because it is useful for bringing about desired change in practice. The stages of managing change and their relationship with performance are described by Cranwell-ward (1987) in six steps.

- 1. Freezing: There is an initial period of shock following the change and the work performance is reduced.
- 2. Denial of change: Frequently people deny that any change has occurred. This is partly to protect themselves from fear of uncertainties and to help them cope with the situation.
- 3. Incompetence: The performance is poor and is unlikely to improve unless the individual adapts to the change.
- 4. Letting go of the past: During this stage the individual comes to terms with the change and becomes more positive. This is the 'unfreezing' stage.
- 5. Experimenting: Performance starts to improve as the individual tries out the new behaviour.
- 6. Refreezing: The individual accepts the new ways of thinking. This is the consolidation stage

It is important to note that diagnosis of the goals of change is the first step in organisation development. Following this the nature of the change should be planned. It is desirable for members of the organisation to participate in the change process. Like many other organisations primary care organisational development activities take the environment rather than the individuals as the main target. However there should be formal evaluation of change.

14. SOCIAL SUPPORT

As discussed in chapter 4, social support operates through direct effect (i.e. social support is beneficial in its own right) and it acts as a buffer against stress (i.e. it protects the individual from the adverse effect of stress). Partner/spouse, parents, relatives and friends can be a major source of support. In addition, individuals can get support in the organisation where they work.

Support in the work environment has been studied and found to be beneficial to the workers. Supportive behaviour of managers and co-workers can improve productivity, staff morale, and prevent several types of occupational stress. GPs appear to be in favour of stress support (Young and Spencer, 1996; Braithwaite and Ross, 1988). Creation of a network system is only possible if everyone in the organisation is willing to participate. It is therefore necessary to make the members aware of the benefits of such a system and then motivate them to participate in such a scheme. Motivation is required both at individual and organisational level.

Social support can be set up in different ways in primary care. All the different groups of professionals in primary care would benefit from setting up a 'support network' system. This works by members of each profession (e.g. district nurse, health visitors, practice nurse), forming small groups. The number of individuals in each group will vary according to the number of people in that organisation. A group of ten members could form five colleague pairs so that when a problem is experienced by a member, he/she can feel free to discuss it with a fellow colleague in a non-threatening and comfortable environment but, if a solution is not found, this pair may wish to involve one of the other pairs. Ultimately, the whole group may meet and try to find a solution. If all fails, then outside help may be required. Support groups can also be set-up by mixing members from different professions (e.g., doctor, practice manager, health visitor and practice nurse). The group may have members with differing views on organisational and personal matters but these differences may soon be compromised once the aim of the group is perceived as helping each other. The group can meet regularly which will enable the members to explore the issues relating to stress; for example identifying the causes of stress, ways of coping with particular stressors and coping with stress on a long-term basis.

The ability to acquire the attitude for giving and receiving can be developed through learning. Individuals with similar interests may join selfhelp groups, including Alcoholics Anonymous (for individuals with drinking problems and their families), and other social interest groups. It is important that the NHS management provides confidential support, for example counselling, occupational health services and referral services. This is described elsewhere in this chapter.

14.1 Family Support

The family is a major source of support for the individual, providing the problem solving, listening, and accepting behaviour that are essential to alleviate stress, even though they may be unable to change the circumstances that created them. Myers *et al.* (1975) found that people who were more integrated in society (i.e. being married with children and of higher socio-economic status) coped better with different negative life crises than those not as integrated.

A number of writers give importance to wives' behaviour and attitudes in bettering or reducing the effect of stress on the family (Cooke and Rousseau, 1984; Billings and Moos, 1982). For example, Burke and Belcourt (1974) examined the compatibility of 190 husband-wife pairs (husbands were either accountants or engineers) and their impact on stress management. They found that the more compatible the wives and husbands were, the greater was the likelihood of coping with stress-related problems at work and at home. Therefore, it is necessary for the families to support each other at home in order to overcome the factors contributing to stress.

14.2 Working Women and Dual Career Couples

Working women and dual career couples have special problems. Our study shows that women general practitioners experience additional stressors in comparison to their male counterparts. In a dual-career doctor family, the burden of on-call hours, sharing house work and child care become complicated and stressful. Hence a balance has to be made between working lives and personal lives. In addition, we found from our study that some sections of primary care structure had predominantly women members (e.g. receptionists, practice managers, district nurses, health visitors, practice nurses). There are several ways in which the organisations can help to reduce stress amongst working women and dual career couples. Lewis and Cooper (1988) highlight a number of 'flexitime' approaches that organisations can provide for dual career couples. When spouses have nontraditional sex roles the flexitime system can be extremely helpful for both of the partners, reducing the stress of combining work and family. For example, primary care professionals could use a system, which allows the employees to come and go within the flexible time range set by the organisation. A net number of working hours has to be met for a given period of time, and then people are free to choose their own working times. They may find it useful to follow the flexitime system, especially the 'flexivear' system, adapted by several German firms in which a total number of working hours is decided for the whole year, and the employees are free to choose their own working time. This system allows the employees to choose to work fewer hours during school holidays, and makes the other activities easier. Some organisations can be flexible in allowing their employees to do the same job in their homes (flexiplace). For example, a secretary in the surgery could take the dictation work to her home where she can work while being with her family. Other primary care members also can use the flexiplace system to take home suitable work. Other flexible working arrangements such as part-time work, job sharing and career breaks can be considered by practices.

In this chapter we have discussed stress management at the organisational level. Some of these strategies have been tried in industry with success. General practice is rapidly turning into a business style organisation. Therefore there is a need for general practitioners to adopt some of the suggestions given in this chapter, which may provide a great sense of achievement and satisfaction, and a less stressful work life. This is now the appropriate time for practices to be redesigned to suit the primary care professionals of the future. In the next chapter we will consider the future of general practice mainly focusing on resources and training.

This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 9 THE WAY FORWARD

The approach taken in this book implies that it is important for the primary care professionals to identify the stressors and then find out ways of dealing with stress. The organization should take some responsibility and develop policies for managing stress. This is discussed in chapter 8. In this chapter resources and training will be considered.

1. **RESOURCES**

In 1998 the total expenditure on health in the UK with an annual GDP of 6.8% was much lower than USA (12.9%), Canada (9.3%) and other European countries (e.g. France, 9.3%; Germany, 10.3%; Netherlands, 9.3%; Switzerland 10.4%, OECD, 2001). The expenditure on hospital services was 60%, general medical services (general practice) 20% and Public Health 20% (Fry and Horder, 1994). Between 1979 and 1991, the share of the current NHS expenditure allocated to primary care increased (Baggott, 1994). But the increase in funding was felt to be inadequate to meet the demands. Introduction of budgetary restrictions on prescribing (indicative prescribing), limitation on appointment of ancillary staff by GPs and increasing volume of transfer of services from the hospital sector to the community have created financial restrictions. "There have been doubts about the adequacy of primary care funding in view of increasing demands for services" ,Baggott, 1994). In spite of a positive move by the government to reduce the waiting time for hospital admissions, there are still long waiting periods in several departments.

The primary health care team holds the key to delivering quality health care. There is a need for appropriate development of this sector with adequate funding. The transfer of hospital services to the community needs

to be resourced adequately. The primary care in the future is likely to take on a new shape as more and more practices are entering into Personal Medical Services (PMS) pilots. The PMS practices will need to work harder to improve patient care by providing various services. These practices will be inclined to seek out more cost effective forms of care. As GPs are involving themselves with finance and management, it might add to their work related stress problems unless they receive adequate training.

2. TRAINING

GPs do not feel that there is sufficient training for them to do the job that is now expected of them, e.g., managing the practice and dealing with social problems (Rout and Rout, 1993). All the primary care team members can receive training in people management and organisational skill development. The social skills and management skills are already available from those used by industry (Cooper, 1982) and could be easily adapted to help the primary health care professionals cope better. Training should be provided to improve interpersonal and communication skills in staff and doctors. The issue of stress management could be introduced as a continuous assessment approach to self development and management. Training in delegation and other management skills needs to be provided during the training period. Some authors have pointed out that removing some of the factual load from the undergraduate curriculum for doctors could allow the inclusion of topics such as communication skills, team work, interaction with technology, audit and management (Lowrey, 1992; Rout and Rout, 2000). Tokarz et al. (1979) suggested the importance of introducing stress management as a part of the curriculum in post graduate training courses in medical school.

There needs to be a greater understanding and communication as to what the differing roles of those in primary care professions actually encompass. Due to the great many changes that have taken place there is a lack of clarity and understanding. Not only do GPs, therefore, need training to deal with their added responsibilities, but so too the other members of the primary care team, so that they can adjust to their changing roles. In addition, the practices need to take an initiative in providing widely available training courses to their reception staff. Perhaps doctors themselves might take the initiative in giving tutorials or arrange sessions for their reception staff to enable them to differentiate between urgent and non-urgent conditions of patients. GPs also need to provide training for their staff to deal with the trauma of death and dying, especially the practice nurses, by sending them to attend update courses. They must ensure that adequate in-service training is provided to allow staff to keep their skills up-to-date. Failures are inevitable in any profession, particularly medical and nursing professions. Therefore, training should be provided in the techniques of coping with blame when there is a failure. However, it is important for these professionals to learn to live with uncertainty and failure as some of the factors are considered to be inherent to the job and may not be possible to alter.

Appropriate stress management strategies need be developed, targeted at the primary care professionals, to reduce or eliminate stress. For example, the NHS could take the initiative in consultation with those working in general practice to design and implement appropriate stress management strategies.

3. CONCLUSIONS

Stress must be recognised in relation to, the ability of the primary health care professionals to tolerate it, the personality of the individual primary health care professional, and the way he or she perceives and interacts with the environment. It may not, however, be possible to alter the demands as some of the factors are considered to be inherent to the job, but it can be suggested that adaptation to the environment needs, change within the individual and acquiring skills to deal with it. Changes in individuals and organisations cannot be expected to occur all at once. They will develop over time if organisations and individuals accept the need for change and successively progress to achieve the change. However, this is now the appropriate time for organisations to be redesigned to suit primary care professionals of the future.

This page intentionally left blank

REFERENCES

- A'Brook, M.F. Psychosis and Depression. The Practitioner. 1990; 234:992-993.
- A'Brook.. Mental Stress at Work. The Practitioner. 1973; 210: 500-506.
- Adair, J. Effective Time Management, Rupa & Co, Calcutta, 1988.
- Agas, M., Coulter, A., Mant, et al. Patient Participation in General Practice: Who Participates. British Journal of General Practice. 1991; 41: 198-200.
- Albrecht, K. Stress and the Manager. Making it work for you. Prentice-Hall, New Jersey, 1979.
- Alfredson, L., Karasek, R.A., Theorell, T.G.T., Schwartz, J and Pieper, C. Job, Psychosocial factors and Coronary Heart Disease. In Psychological Problems Before and After Myocardial Infarction. In H. Denolin (Ed) Advanced Cardiology, 29 Karger, Bale. 1982
- Allibone, A., Oakes, D. and Shannon, H.S. Report on Health of Doctors. A Medical Study Funded by The EastAnglia Regional Health Authority under the NHS Locally Organised Research Scheme 1977-1979. TUC Centenary Institute of Occupational Health and London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, 1979.
- Allibone, A., Oakes, D. and Shannon, H.S. The Health and Health Care of Doctors. J R Coll Gen Pract. 1981; 31:728-734.
- Arber, S and Sawyer, L. Do Appointment Systems Work. Br Med J.1982; 284:1535.
- Argyle, M. The Psychology of Interpersonal Behaviour, Pelican, London. 1972.
- Arnold, J., Robertson, I. and Cooper, C.L. Work Psychology, Pitman Publishing, London, 1991.
- Atkinson, J. Better Time Management. Harper Collins Publishers, India. 1993.
- Baggott, R. Health and Health Care in Britain. The Macmillan Press, London, 1994.
- Bailey, R. Autogenic Regulation Training and Sickness Absence Amongst Nurses in General Training. J of Adv Nurs. 1984; 1989: 581-588.
- Bailey, R. Stress and Coping with the Demands of Caring. Seminar, School of Nursing and School of Medicine. University of California, San Francisco. 1983
- Bailey, R.D. Coping with Stress in Caring. Blackwell Scientific Publications, London, 1985.
- Bain, J. General Practice and the New Contract. I. Reaction and Impact. BrMedJ. 1991; 302: 1183-1186.
- Bakal, D. Psychology and Medicine, Tavistock, London, 1979.
- Baker, B. and Saunders, M.N.K. Stress at Work: Assessing The Risk. Occ Health Rev. 2000; Sept/Oct: 29-34.
- Barefoot, J.C., Dahlstrom, G. and Williams, R.B. Hostility, CHD Incidence and Total Mortality: A 25 Year Follow-up Study of 255 Physicians. *Psychosom Med.* 1983; 45: 59-63.

- Barrera, M., Jr., and Baca, L.M. Recipient Reaction to Social Support: Contributions of Enacted Support, Conflicted Support and Network Orientation. *J of Social and Personal Relationship*. 1990;7: 541-551.
- Barnett, R.C., Marshall, L.N. and Singer, J.D. Job Experiences Over Time, Multiple Roles, and Women's Mental Health: A Longitudinal Study. *J of Personality and Social Psychology*. 1992; 62: 634-644.
- Bates, E. Doctors and Spouses Speak: Stress in Medical Practice. Society Health and Illness. 1982; 4
- Beck, A.T. Cognitive Therapy and Emotional Disorders. International Universities Press, New York, 1976.
- Beehr, T. A. and Newman, J. E. Job Stress, Employee Health and Organisational Effectiveness: A Facet Analysis Model and Literature Review, *Personnel Psychology*, 1978; **31**: 665-699.
- Bennet, G. Sick Doctors Ourselves. Journal of Postgraduate Medical Practice. 1982. 24: 1621-1631.
- Bellani, M.L. Furlani, F., Gnecchi, M., Pezzotta, P., Trotti, E.M. and Bellotti, G.G. Burnout and Related Factors Among HIV/AIDS Health Care Workers. *Aids Care*. 1996; 8(2): 207-221.
- Benson, H. Your Innate Asset for Combating Stress. Harvard Bus Rev. 1974; 52 (4): 49-60.
- Benson, H. The Relaxation Response. Fount Paperbacks, Collins, Glasgow, 1980.
- Benson, H. Beyond the Relaxation Response. Time Books, New York, 1984.
- Berkman, L. and Syme, L. Social Networks, Host Resistance and Mortality: A Nine-Year Follow-up of Alameda County Residents. *Am J of Epidem*. 1979; 186-204.
- Berkowitz, L. The Frustration-Aggression Hypothesis: Examination and Reformation. Psychological Bulletin. 1989. 106, 59-73
- Billings, A. G. and Moos, R.H. The Role of Coping Responses and Social Resources in Attenuating the Stress of Life Events. J of Behav Med. 1981; 4: 139-157.
- Birx, E. Identifying Stressor and Satisfiers f Neonatal Intensive Care Nurses. MSc thesis, School of nursing. University of Rochester, New York, 1983.
- Bissel, L. and Jones, R. W. The Alcoholic Physician: A Survey. Am J of Psych. 1976. 133: 1142.
- Black, D. G., Birchall, A.P. and Trimble, I.M.G. An Alternative to Fundholding. *Br Med J*. 1994; **309**: 930-932.
- Bloomfield, H.H., Cain M.P., Jaffe, D.T. and Kory, R.B. TM-*Discovering InnerEnergy and Overcoming Stress*. Dell, New York, 1975.
- Blumenthal, J.A., Barefoot, J., Burg, M.M. and Williams, R.B. Psychological Correlates of Hostility among Patients Undergoing Coronary Angiography. *Br J of Med Psych.* 1987; 60: 349-355.
- Boffetta, P.and Garfinkel, L. Alcohol Drinking and Mortality Among Men Enrolled in an American Cancer Society Prospective Study. *Epidemiology*, 1990; **1**, 342-348.
- Bond, M. Stress and Self-Awareness. Heinmann, London, 1986.
- Bortner, R.W. A Short Rating Scale as a Potential Measure of Pattern A Behaviour, *J of Chr Dis.* 1969; **22**: 87-91.
- Boulenger, J.P., Salem, N. Marangus P.J and Uhde, T.W. Plasma Adenosine levels: Measurement in Humans and Relationship to the Anxiogenic Effects of Caffeine. *Psychiatry Res.* 1987; 21: 247-255.
- Bowling, A. Delegation in General Practice: A Study of Doctors and Nurses. London, Tavistock. 1981.
- Brazier, M., Lovely, J., Moran, M. and Potton, M. Falling From a Tightrope? Doctors and Lawyers Between the Market and State. *Political Studies*. 1993. **41** (2), 197-213.
- Breslow, L. and Buell, P. Mortality from Coronary Heart Disease and Physical Activity of Work in California. *J of Chr Disease*. 1960; **112**: 615-625.

- Brief, A.P., Rude, D.E. and Rabinowitz, S. The Impact of Type A Behaviour Pattern on Subjective Workload and Depression. J of Occup Behav. 1983; 4: 157-164.
- British Heart Foundation. *Coronary Heart Disease Statistics*. British Heart Foundation Statistics Database. London: British Heart Foundation 1999.
- British Heart Foundation Database. Department of Public Health. Nov 2000.
- British Medical Association/Department of Health and Social Security. *General Medical Practitioners Workload Survey*. London: BMA/DHSS, 1987.
- British Medical Association. Reforms Sap Doctors' Morale. BMA News Review, June 1991.
- British Medical Association. Stress and the Medical Profession. British Medical Association London, 1992.
- British Medical Association. The Morbidity and Mortality of the Medical Profession. *British Medical Association*, Board of Science and Education: London. 1993.
- British Medical Journal, 2001: 320: 255. Medico Political Digest.
- Brook. A. Mental Stress at Work. The Practitioner. 1973; 210: 500-506.
- Brown, J.B. Female Family Doctors: Their Work and Well-being. *Family Medicine*, 1992; 24 (8), 591-595.
- Brownell, K.D., Marlatt, G.A., Lichtenstein, E. and Wilson, G.T. Understanding and Preventing Relapse. Am Psychologist. 1986; 41: 765-782.
- Buchan, J. and Stock, J. Early Careers of General Practitioners. Institute of Manpower studies, University of Sussex; Brighton: 1990.
- Buck, V. Working under Pressure. Staples Press, London, 1972.

Burke, R.I. and Belcourt, M.L. Managerial Role Stress and Coping Responses. J of Business Admin, 1974. 5: 55-68.

- Burke, R. J. and Greenglass, E.R. Work and family. In C Cooper and I Robertson (Eds.) International Review of industrial and Organizational Psychology. Wiley, New York, 1987.
- Calman, K. On the State of Public Health. Health Trends. 1995; 25 (5): 171-75.
- Cannon, W.B. The Wisdom of the Body. Norton, London, 1932.
- Cannon, W.B. Stress and Strain of Homoeostesis. Am JMed Sci. 1935; 189(1): 1-14.
- Caplan, L. Organisational Stress and Individual Strain: A Social-Psychological Study of Risk Factors in Coronary Disease Among Administrators, Engineers and Scientists. Ann Arbor, Research Centre for Group Dynamics: Michigan. 1971.
- Caplan, R.D., Cobb, S. and French, J.R.P. Relationships of Cessation of Smoking with JobStress, Personality and Social Support. J of Appl Psych. 1975; 60 (2): 211-219.
- Carlisle, H.M. Management: Concepts, Methods and Applications. Science Research Associates Ltd., Chicago (2nd Ed). 1982.
- Caplan, R.P. Stress, Anxiety and Depression in Hospital Consultants, General Practitioners and Senior Health Services Managers. BrMed J. 1994; 309: 1261-1263.
- Carron, A.V., Widmeyer, W.N. and Brawley, L.R. Group Cohesion and Individual Adherence to Physical Activity. J of Sport and Exercise Psychology. 1988; 10: 127-138.
- Cartwright, A. Patients and Their Doctor. Routledge and Kegan Paul, London, 1967.
- Cartwright, A. Patients and Their Doctor. Routledge & Kagan Paul, London, 1977.
- Cartwright, A., and Anderson R. General Practice Revisited. Tavistock, London, 1981.
- Cartwright, L. K. Continuity and Non Continuity in the Careers of a Sample of Young Women Physicians. JAm Med Wom Assoc. 1977; 32 (9): 316-321.
- Carty, P. Workplace Solutions to Private Problems. *Accountancy U.K.*, 1990. Dec 106, (1168).
- Chambers, R. The Health of General Practitioners: a Cause for Concern. *Br J of Gen Pract.* 1989; **39**: 179-180.
- Chambers, R. The Health and Lifestyle of General Practitioners and Teachers. *Occup Med.* 1992; **42**: 69-78.
- Chambers, R. and Belcher, J. Comparison of Health and Lifestyle of General Practitioners and Teachers. Br J of Gen Pract. 1993; 43: 378-382.

- Check, J. V.P and Dyck, D.G. Hostile, Aggression and Type A Behaviour. J of Personality and Individual Differences. 1986. 7 (6), 819-827.
- Chesney, M.A. and Rosenman, R.H. Type A Behaviour in the Work Setting In C.L. Cooper and R. Payne (Eds), *Current Concerns in Occupational Stress*. John Wiley, Chichester, 1980.
- Claus, K. and Bailey, J (Eds.) Living with Stress and Promoting Well-Being. C.V. Mosby, St. Lous, 1980.
- Cobb, S. Social Support as a Moderator of Life Stress. Psychosom Med. 1976; 38: 300-314.
- Cobb, S. Termination, The Consequences of Job Loss. H.E.W. Publications, U.S.A, 1987.
- Cobb, S. and Kasl, S.V. Termination-The consequences of Job Loss. H.E.W Publications, 77-224, NIOSH, USA. 1977.
- Coch, L., and French, J.R.P. Overcoming Resistance to Change. *Human Relations*. 1948. 1; 512-532.
- Cohen, S. and Herbert, T. Health Psychology: Psychosocial Factors and Physical Disease from the Perspective of Human Psychoneuroimmunology. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 1996; 47, 113-142.
- Cohen, E., and Lazarus, R.S. *Coping and Adaptation in Health and Illness*. In D. Mechanic (Eds) *Handbook of Health, Health Care and the Health Professions*. New York, The Free Press. 1983.
- Cohen, S. and Willis, T.A. Stress, Social Support and Buffering Hypothesis. *PsyBull*, 1985; 98: 310-357.
- Collins, M.A. The Relations of Work Stress, Hardiness, and Burnout Among Full-time Hospital Staff Nurses. JNur. Staff. Dev, 1996. 12 (2): 71-75.
- Contrada, R.J. Type A Behaviour, Personality Hardiness, and Cardiovascular Responses to Stress. J of Pers and Soc. Psych. 1989, 57: 895-903.
- Cooke, R.A. and Rousseau, D.M. Stress and Strain from Family Role and Work-Role Expectations. *J of Applied Psychology*. 1984, **67**, 361 -369.
- Cooper, C.L. 'Executive Stress: a Ten Country Comparison'. Hum Resou Man. 1974; 23: 395-347.
- Cooper, C.L. and Marshall, J. Occupational Sources of Stress, A Review of the Literature Relating to Coronary Heart Disease and Mental ill Health. *Journal of Occup Psychol*. 1976; **49**: 11-28.
- Cooper, C.L., and Marshall, J. Understanding Executive Stress. Macmillan, UK, 1978.
- Cooper, C. L. The Stress Check. New Jersey Prentice Hall. 1981.
- Cooper, C.L. Executive Families Under Stress. Prentice-Hall, New Jersey, 1982.
- Copper, C.L. and Kelly, M. Stress Among Crane Operators. J of Occ Med. 1984; 26 (8): 575-578.
- Cooper, C.L., Davies-Cooper, R. and Faragher, E.B. A Prospective Study of the Relationship Between Breast Cancer and Life Events, Type A Behaviour, Social Support and Coping Skills. *Stress Med.* 1986; 2: 271-277.
- Cooper, C.L. and Roden, J. Mental Health and Satisfaction among Tax Officers. *Soc SciMed*. 1985; **21** (7): 747-751.
- Copper, C.L. and Smith, M.J. Job Stress and Blue Collar Work. John Wiley, Chichester, 1985.
- Cooper, C.L., Cooper, R.D and Eaker, L.H. *Living with Stress*. Penguin, Harmondsworth, 1988.
- Cooper, C.L., Rout, U. and Faragher, B. Mental Health, Job Satisfaction and Job Stress among General Practitioners. *Br Med J.* 1989; 298: 366-370.
- Cooper, C.L., Reynolds, P. and Sadri, G. Stress Counselling in Industry: The Post Office Experience. Paper presented at The Annual Conference of The Br Psych Soc. March, St. Andrews, 1989.
- Copper, C.L. and Mitchell, S. Nursing the Critically III and Dying. *Human Relations*, 1990; **43** (4): 297-311.

- Copeman, J.P. and van Zwanenberg, T.D. Practice Receptionist: Poorly Trained and Taken for Granted? *J R Coll Gen Pract* 1988; **38**: 14-16.
- Cousins, N. Anatomy of an Illness. Bantam Books, New York, 1979.
- Cox, T., and McKay, C. *Stress at Work*. In Cox, T (Eds) *Stress*. Baltimore: University Park Press. 1978; 147-176.
- Cox, T. Stress. Macmillan, London, 1978.
- Cox, T. Repetitive Work, in C.L. Cooper and R. Payne (Eds) Current Concerns in Occupational Stress, John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, 1980.
- Coyne, J.C., and Holroyd, K. Stress, Coping and Illness: A Transactional Perspective. In T. Millon, C. Green, and R. Meagher, Handbook of Clinical Health Psychology 103-127. New York, Plenum, 1982.
- Cranwell-Ward, J. Managing Stress. Gower, Aldershot, 1987.
- Crews, D.J. and Landers, D.M. A Meta-Analytic Review of Aerobic Fitness and Reactivity to Psychosocial Stressors. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*. 1987; 19:114-120.
- Crump, J.H, Cooper, C.L. Smith J.M., Investigating Occupational Stress: A methodological approach'. J of Occup Psych. 1980; 1: 191-202.
- Daily, L.E., Mulchy, R., Graham, I. M. and Hickey, N. Long Term Effect on Mortality of Stopping Smoking after Unstable Angina and Myocardial Infarction. *Brit Med J.* 1983; 287: 324-326.
- Davidson, J. Effective Time Management. Human Science Press, New York, 1978.
- Davidson, M.J. Reach for the Top-A Women's Guide to Success in Business and Management, London, Piatkus, 1985.
- Davidson, M. and Cooper, C.L. Stress and the Woman Manager, Blackwell, Oxford, 1983.
- Davidson, M. J. Women Managers in Britain issues for the 1990s. Women in Management Review and Abstracts. 1991; 6(1): 5-10.
- Davies, K. Women and Time: Weaving the Sounds of Everyday Life. University of Lund, Sweden, 1989.
- De Frank, R.S. and Cooper, C.L. Worksite Stress Management Interventions: Their Effectiveness and Conceptualisation. *J of Managerial Psychology*. 1987; **2** (1): 4-10.
- De Longis, A., Coyne, J.C., Dakof, G, Folkman, S. and Lazarus, R.S. Relationship to Daily Hassles, Uplifts, and Major Life Events to Health Status. *Health Psych.* 1982; 1: 119-136.
- De-Longis, A., Folkman, S. and Lazarus, R. S. The Impact of Daily Stress on Health and Mood: Psychological and Social Resources as Mediators. *J of Person and Soc Psychol.* 1988; 54: 486-495.
- Dembroski, T.M. and Costa, P. Coronary Prone Behaviour: Components of the Type A Pattern and Hostility. J of Personality. 1987; 55: 211-235.
- Department of Health, Nutritional Aspects of Cardiovascular Disease, HMSO, London, 1994.
- Department of Health and Social Security Welsh Office. *The Organisation of Group Practice*. 1971; London: HMSO.
- Department of Health and Social Security. *The Primary Health Care Team. Report of a Joint Working Group of the Standing Medical, Nursing and Midwifery Advisory Committees.* (Handing-Frost Report). HMSO, London. 1981.
- Dewe, P.J. Identifying the Causes of Nurses' Stress. Work and Stress. 1987; 1 (1).
- Dewe, P. Measuring Work Stressors: the Role of Frequency, Duration and Demand. *Work and Stress.* 1991; **5**: 77-92.
- Dickinson, F.G. and Martin, L.W. Physician Mortality, 1949-1951 Bureau of Medical Economic Research. *J of the Am Med Assoc*, 1956, **162:** 1462-1468.
- Dimsdale, J.E. A Perceptive on Type A Behaviour and Coronary Disease. *The New Eng J of Med.* 1988; **318**: 110.
- Doll, R. and Peto, R. Mortality in Relation to Smoking: 20 Years Observations on Male British Doctors. *Brit Med J*, 1976; 2:1525-1536.

- Dohrenwend, B.S., Dodson, M, Dohrenwend, B.P., and Shrout, P.E. Symptoms, Hassels, Social Supports, and Life Events; Problems of Confounded Measures. *J of Abnormal Psychology*. 1984.; 93; 222-230.
- Donham, G.W., Ludenia, K., Sands, M.M., and Holzer, P.D. Personality Correlates of Health Locus of Control With Medical Inpatients. *Psychological Reports* 1983; **52:** 659-666.

Drucker, P.F. The Effective Executive. Harper and Row, New York, 1967.

- Drury, M. Medical Secretary's and Receptionist's Handbook. (4th Ed) Bailliere, London. 1982.
- Dunkel-Schetter, C., Folkman, S. and Lazarus, R.S. Social Support Received in Stressful Situations. J of Personality and Soc Psy, 1987; 53: 71-80.
- Dunn, L.A., Rout, U., Carson, J., and Ritter, S.A. Occupational Stress Amongst Care Staff Working in Nursing Homes: An Empirical Investigation. J of Clin Nurs. 1994; 3, 101-107.
- Eckenrode, J. and Gore, S. Stress Between Work and Family, Plenum Press, New York, 1990.
- Edelwich, J. and Brodsky, A. Burnout. Human Sciences Press, New York, 1980.
- Ellis, A. Reason and Emotion in Psychotherapy. Lyle Stuart, New York, 1962.
- Ellis, A. The Basic Clinical Theory of Rational-Emotive Therapy. In A. Ellis and R. Grieger (Eds), Handbook of Rational-Emotive Therapy. Springer, New York, 1962.
- Emmons, C., Biernat, M., Tiedje, L.B., Lang, E.L. and Wortman, C.B. Stress, Support and Coping among Women Professionals with Pre-school Children. In J
- Eckenrod and S Gore (Eds.) *Stress between Work and Family*, Plenum Press, New York, 1990.
- Engel, G.L., Reichsman, R. and Segal, H.L. A Study of an Infant with a Gastric Fistula: I. Behaviour of Total Hydrochloric Acid Secretion. *Psychosomatic Medicine*. 1956; 18: 374-398.
- Evans, P. and Bartolome, F. Must Success Cost So Much? Grand McIntyre, London, 1984.
- Fain, R.M.and Schreier, R.A. Disaster, Stress and the Doctor. *Medical Education*. 1989; 23, 91-96.
- Falkenberg, L.E. Employee Fitness Programme: Their Impact on the Employee and Organisation. Academy of Management Review. 1987; 12 (3): 511-512.
- Ferner, J.D. Successsful Time Menagement. Wiley, New York, 1980.
- Flanders, M.L. Breakthrough: *The Career Woman's Guide to Shattering the Glass Ceiling*. Paul Chapman, London, 1994.
- Fletcher, B. (C). *The Epidemiology of Occupational Stress* in C.L. Cooper and R. Payne (Eds). *Causes, Coping and Consequences of Stress at Work*, John Wiley and Sons, 1988.
- Folkman, S. and Lazarus, R. S. An Analysis of Coping in Middle-aged Community Sample. J of Health and Soc Behav. 1980; 21: 219-239.
- Folkman, S. and Lazarus, R. S. Manual for the Ways of Coping Questionnaire. Consulting Psychologists Press, California, 1988.
- Folkman, S., Lazarus, R.S., Dunkel-Schetter, C., DeLongis, A. and Green, R. The Dynamics of a Stressful Encounter: Cognitive Appraisal, Coping and Encounter Outcomes. *J of Personality and Soc Psych.* 1986; **50**: 992-1003.
- Fox, M., Dwyer, D. and Ganster, D. Effects of Stressful Demands and Control on Physiological and Attitudinal Outcomes in a Hospital setting. *Acad of Management J*, 1993; **36**, 289-318.
- Foxall, M., Zimmerman, L., Standley, R. and Bene, B. A Comparison of Frequency and Sources of Nursing Job Stress Perceived by Intensive Care, Hospice and Medical Surgical Nurses. A Adv Nurs. 1990; 15: 577-584.
- Frankenhaeuser, M., Lundberg, U., Fredrikson, M., Melin, B., Tuomisto, M., Myrsten, A., Hedman, M., Bergman-Losman, B. and Wallin, L. Stress On and Off the Job as Related to Sex and Occupational Status in Whit-collar Workers. *Journal of Organisational Behaviour.* 1989. **10**. 321-346.
- Freeman, G.K. Receptionists, Appointment System and Continuity of Care. J of Royal Coll Gen Pract. 1989; 39: 145-147.

- French, J.R.P., and Caplan, R.D. Psychosocial Factors in Coronary Heart Disease. *Industrial Medicine*. 1970; **39**: 383-397.
- French, J.R., Caplan, R.D. and Van Harrison, R. The Mechanisms of Job Stress and Strain. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, 1982.
- French, J.R.P. and Caplan, R.D. Organisational Stress and Individual Strain. In A. J. Marrow (Eds.) The Failure of Success. Amacon, New York, 1973.
- Friedman, H.S. and Booth-Kewley, S. The 'Disease-Prone Personality': A Meta-Analytic View of the Construct Am Psychologist. 1987; 42(6): 539-555.
- Fryer, D. and Payne, R. Being Unemployed. In C.L. Cooper and I.T.Robertson (Eds.) International Review of Industrial and Organizational Psychology, John Wiley, Chichester, 1986.
- Friedman, M., and Powell, L.H. The Diagnosis and Quantative Assessment of Type A Behaviour: Introduction and Description of the Videotaped Structured Interview. *Integrative Psychiatry*. 1984;2:123-129.
- Friedman, M. and Rosenman, R.H. *Type A Behaviour and Your Heart*. Knopf, New York, 1974.
- Fry, J. General Practice Tomorrow. Br Med J. 1959; 2: 1323-5.
- Gabbard, G., Merringer, M.D, and Coyne, L. Sources of Conflict in the Medical Marriage. American J of Psychiatry. 1987. 144, pp 567-572.
- Ganster, D.C. and Schaubroeck, J. Work Stress and Employee Health. *J of Management*. 1991; **17**: 235-271.
- Ganster, D.C., Fox, M.L., Dwyer, D.J. Explaining Employee's Health Care Costs; A Prospective Examination of Stressful Job Demands Personal Control and Physiological Reactivity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 2001. 86 (5). 954-964. American Psychological Assn.
- Gershoff, S. *The Tufts University Guide to Total Nutrition*. Harper and Row, New York, 1990.
- Ghodse, A.H., and Howse, K. Substance Use of Medical Students: A Nationwide Survey. *Health Trends.* 1994. **26** (3), 85-88.
- Gilligan, C. and Lowe, R. Just Call Me Doctor. Practice Manager. 1993: 14-15.
- Godt, P. Confederation, Consent and Corporation: State Strategies and the Medical Profession in France, Great Britain and West Germany. J. Health Politics, Policy and Law: 12 (3): 459-80.
- Goldband, S. Stimulus Specificity of Physiological Response to Stress and the Type A Coronary-Prone Behaviour Pattern. 1980.
- Golding, J.F. and Cornish, A.M. Personality and Lifestyle in Medical Students: Some Psychopharmacological Aspects. *Psychology and Health*. 1987, 287-301.
- Gomberg, E.S. Problems with Alcohol and Other Drugs. In E.S. Gomberg and V. Franks (Eds), Gender and Disordered Behaviour. Brunner/Mazel, New York, 204-240.
- Gore, S. The Effects of Social Supports in Moderating the Health Consequences of Unemployment. *J of Health and Soc Behav*, 1978; **19**: 157-165.
- Gorzynski, J. G., Holland, J., Kartz, J.L., Weiner, H., Zumoff, B., Fukushima, D. and Levin, J. Stability of Ego Defences and Endocrine Responses in Women Prior to Breast Biopsy and Ten Years Later. *Psychosom Med.* 1980; **42**: 323-328.
- Graffy, J.P. Williams, J. Purchasing for All: An Alternative to Fundholding. *BrMed J.* 1994; 308: 395-4.
- Gray-Toft, P. and Anderson, T.G. The Nursing Stress Scale: Development of an Instrument. J of Behav Assessment. 1981; 3: 11-23.
- Greenberg, J. and Baron, R.A. *Behaviour in Organizations*. Allyn and Bacon, 1993.
- Grobbee, D.E., Rimm, E.B., Giovannucci, E., Colditz, G. Stampfer, M. and Willett, W. Coffee, Caffeine and Cardiovascular Disease. *NEng J Med.* 1990; **323**: 1026-1032.

- Grol, R., Mokking, H., Smits, A., Van, Eijk, J., Beek, M., Mesker, P. and Mesker-Niesten, J. Work Satisfaction of General Practitioners and the Quality of Patient Care. *Fam Pract*. 1985; 2: 128-135.
- Gutlin, B. and Kessler, G. The High Energy Factor. Random House, New York, 1983.
- Guppy, A. and Gutteridge, T. Job Satisfaction and Occupational Stress in UK General Hospital Nursing Staff. *Work and Stress*. 1991; **5** (4): 315-323.
- Hague, C. Caring Can Damage Your Health. Intensive Care Nursing. 1987;3; 28-33.
- Hall, D.T. and Goodale, J.G. *Human Resource Management: Strategy, Design and Implementation*. Glenview, IL: Scott Foresman, 1986.
- Harvard Davis Report. The Organisation of Group Practice. London:HMSO. 1971.
- Hawkins, L., White, M., Morris, L. Smoking, Stress and Nurses. Nursing Mirror. 1982.
- Haynes, S.G., Levine, S., Scotch, N., Feinleib, M. and Kannel, W.B. The Relationship of Psychosocial Factors to Coronary Heart Disease in the Framingham Study: I. Methods and Risk Factors. *Am J of Epidem*. 1978a; **107**: 362-383.
- Haynes, S.G., Feinleib, M., Levine, S., Scotch, N. and Kannel, W.B. The Relationship of Psychosocial Factors to Coronary Heart Disease in the Framingham Study II. Prevalence of Coronary Heart Disease. *Am J of Epidem*. 1978b; **107**: 384-402.
- Haynes, S.G., Feinleib, M. and Kannel W.B. The Relationship of Psychosocial Factors to Coronary Heart Disease in the Framingham Study III. Eight-Year Incidence of Coronary Heart Disease. *Am J of Epidem* 1980; **111**: 37-58.
- Haynes, S.G., Feinleib, M. and Eaker, ED. Type A Behaviour and the Ten Year Incidence of Coronary Heart Disease in Framingham Heart Study, In R.H. Rosenman (Eds.) *Psychosomatic Risk Factors and Coronary Heart Disease: Indication for Specific Preventive Therapy*. Hans Huber, Bern, Switzerland, 1981.
- Health Education Authority. That's The Limit: A Guide to Sensible Drinking, London, 1989.
- Hecker, H.L., Chesney, M.A., Black, G.W. and Frautschi, N. Coronary Prone Behaviour in the Western Collaborative Group study. *Psychosom Med*, 1988; **50**: 153-164.
- Heins, M., Smock, S., Martindale, L. Jacobs, J and Stein, M. Comparison of the Productivity of Women Physicians. JAm MedAss. 1977; 2378 (23): 2514-2517.
- Henningan, J., and Wortham, A.W. Relationship of Cessation of Smoking With Job Stress, Personality and Lifestyle. 1975. *Journal of Research in Personality*
- Hibble, A. Practice Nurse Workload Before and After the Introduction of the 1990 Contract for General Practitioners. BrJ Gen Pract, 1995; 45: 35 36.
- Hijjar, K. A., Gavis, D., Breslow, J.L. and Nachman, R.L. Lipoprotein (a) Modulation of Endothelial Cell Surface Fibrinolysis and its Potential Role in Atherosclerosis. *Nature*. 1989; **339**: 303-305.
- Hingley, P. and Cooper, C.L. Stress and the Nurse Manager. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, 1986.
- Hinkle, L. E. The Concept of Stress in the Biological Social Sciences. Stress Medicine and Man. 1973; 1: 431-448.
- HMSO. Report of the Committee of Inquiry into the Regulation of the Medical Profession. A.W. Merrison. 1975.
- HMSO, Registrar General Decennial Supplement England and Wales. Occupational mortality, 1978.
- Hobbs, R. The Doctor's Health. Violence and Safety. *Practitioner*. 1990. Nov. 234 (1496): 979-82.
- Hobfoll, S. E., Shoham, S.B. and Ritter, C. Women's Satisfaction with Social Support and Their Receipt of Aid. J of Personality and Soc Psych. 1991; 61: 332-341.
- Hochschild, A. The Second Shift: Working Parents and the Revolution at Home. Viking Penguin, New York, 1989.
- Holmes, T.H. and Rahe, R.H. The Social Readjustment Rating Scale. *J of Psychosom Res.* 1967; **11**: 213-218.

- Holton, K.M. and Hastie, A. *What has Happened to Morale in General Practice?*. Unpublished Research Project. 1991.
- Howie, R.G.R., Porter, A.M.D. and Forbes, J,F. Quality and Use of Time in General Practice: Widening the Discussion. Br Med J, 1989:298; 1008-1010.
- Heins, M., Smock, S., Martindale, L. Jacobs, J and Stein, M. Comparison of the Productivity of Women Physicians. JAm MedAss. 1977; 2378 (23): 2514-2517.
- House, J.S. Work Stress and Social Support. Addition-Wessley, USA, 1981.
- Hudson, G. Counsellors within General Practice: Time and Need for Utilization and Accreditation. *Counselling Psychol. Sec. Rev.* 1988; 3(1): 15-20.
- Hurrell, J.J. and Kroes, W.H. Stress Awareness. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health: Cincinnati, 1975.
- Irvine, J. Lyle, R.C. and Allon, R. Type A Personality as Psychopathology: Personality Correlates and an Abbreviated Scoring System. J of Psycho Som Res. 1982; 26: 183-189.
- Ivanceviah, J.M. and Matteson, M.T. Organisational Level Stress Management Interventions: a Review and Recommendations. In J.M. Ivencevich and D.C.Ganster (Eds.) Job Stress: From Theory to Suggestions, Howarth Press, New York, 1987.
- Ivancevich, J.M. and Matteson, M.T. Stress at Work. Foresman, Scott, USA, 1980.
- Ivancevich, J.M., Matteson, M.T., Freedman, S.M. and Phillips, J.S. Worksite Stress Management Interventions. Am Psychologist. 1990; February: 252-261.
- Jacobson, E. Progressive Relaxation. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1929.
- Jacobson, E. You Must Relax. Whittlesey House, New York, 1934.
- Jacobson, E. You Must Relax. Souvenir Press, London, 1976.
- Jenkins, C.D., Rosenman, R.H. and Friedman, M. Development of an Objective Psychological Test for the Determination of the Coronary-Prone Behaviour Pattern in Employed Men. J Chr Dis. 1967; 20: 371-379.
- Jenkins, D. Psychological and Social Precursors of Coronary Disease. New Eng J of Med. 1971; 284 (6): 307-317.
- Jenkins, C.D., Zyzanski, S.J. and Rosenman, R.H. Jenkins Activity Survey, Cleveland: Psych Corp. 1979.
- Johnston, D.W., Cook, D.G. and Shaper, A.G. Type A Behaviour and Ischaemic Heart Disease in Middle-Aged British Men. Paper presented at the Society of Behavioural Medicine. Washington D.C. March, 1987.
- Jones, J.G. Stress in Psychiatric Nursing. In R. Payney and J. Firth-Cuzzns (Eds) Stress in Health Professionals, John Wiley, UK, 1987.
- Jones, R.K. a Study of 100 Physician Psychiatric In-Patients. Amj Psych. 1977; 10: 1119-23.
- Kahn, R.L., Wolfe, D.M., Quinn, R.P., Snoek, J.D. and Rosenthal, R. A. Organisational Stress: Studies in Role Conflict and Ambiguity. John Wiley, 1964.
- Kanner, A.D., Coyne, J.C., Schaeffer, C. and Lazarus, R.S. Comparison of Two Models of Stress Measurement: Daily Hassle Sand Uplifts Versus Major Life Events. *J of Behav Med.* 1981; 4: 1-39.
- Karasek, R.A.Jr. Job Demands, Job Decision Latitude and Mental Strain: Implications for Job Re-design. Adm. Sci Quart. 1979; 24: 285-308.
- Karasek, R., Gardell, B. and Lindell, J. Work and Non-Work Correlates of Illness and Behaviour in Male and Female Swedish White-Collar Workers. *J of Occ Behav.* 1987; 8: 187-207.
- Kartz, J.L., Weiner, H., Gallagher, T.G. and Hellman, L. Stress, Distress and Ego Defences. Archives of Gen Psych. 1970; 23: 131-142.
- Kasl, S.V. Mental Health and Work Environment. An Examination of the Evidence. *Journal of Occupational Med.* 1973. 15, pp506-515.
- King, M.B., Cockcroft, A. and Gooch, C. Emotional Distress in Doctors: Sources, Effects and Help Sought. *The Royal Society of Medicine*. 1992; 85: 605-608.
- Kirwan, M.,and Armstrong, D. Investigation of Burnout in a Sample of British General Practitioners. Br J Gen Pract. 1995; 45: 259-260.

- Kelly, M. and Cooper, C.L. Stress Among Blue Collar Workers. A Case Study of the Steel Industry. *Employee Relations*, 1981;**3** (2): 6-9.
- Kobasa, S.C. The Hardy Personality: Towards a Social Psychology of Stress and Health. In G. Sanders and J. Suls (Eds), Social Psychology of Health and Illness. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum, 1982.
- Kobasa, S.C., Maddi, S.R. and Kahn, S. Hardines and Heath: a Prospective Study. J of Personality and Soc Psych. 1982; 42: 168-177.
- Kobasa, S.C. Stressful Life Events, Personality, and Health; an Inquiry into Hardiness. J of Personality and Soc Psych. 1979; 37: 1-11.
- Kobasa, S.C. and Maddi, S R. Existential Personality Theory. In R. Corsini (Ed), Current Personality Theories. Itasca, IL Peacock, 1987.
- Kobasa, S.C. Maddi, S. R., Puccetti M.C. and Zola, M. A.. Effectiveness of Hardiness, Exercise and Social Support as Resources Against Illness. *J of Psycho Sam Res.* 1985; 29: 525-533.
- Koleck, M., Bruchon-Schweitzer, M., Thiebaut, E., Dumartin, N., and Sifakis, Y. Job Stress, Coping and European Review of Applied Psychology. *Burnout Among French General Practitioners*; 2000 :Vol 50: 309-314.
- Kornhauser, A. Mental Health of the Industrial Worker. Wiley, New York, 1965.
- Kuna, D.J. 'Meditation and Work'. Vocation Guidance Quarterly, 1975; 23 (4): 342-346.
- Lacey, J.L. Somatic Response Patterning and Stress: Some Revisions of Activation Theory. In H.M.Apply and R. Trumbull(Eds.) Psychological Stress, Appleton-Century-Ceofts, New York, 1967.
- LaCroix, A.Z., Mead, L.A., Liang, K.Y. Thomas, B.B. and Pearson, T.A. Coffee Consumption and the Incidence of Coronary Heart Disease. *New Eng JMed.* 1986; 315: 977-982.
- LaCroix, A,Z.and Haynes, S.G. *Gender Differences in the Stressfulness of Workplace Roles: A Focus on Work and Health.* In R. Barnett., G. Baruch and L. Biener (Eds.). *Gender and Stress*, Free Press, New York. 1986
- Lambert, C.E., Jr., and Lambert, V.A.Hardiness: Its Development and Relevance to Nursing. Image. 1987, 19: 92-95.
- Lancet. The First Month, (Leading Article), 1948, 2: 223-5.
- Lane, J.D. Caffeine and Cardiovascular Responses to Stress. Psychosom Med. 1983; 45: 447-451.
- LaRocco, J.M. and Jones, A.P. Co-Worker and Leader Support as Moderators of Stress-Strain Relationships in Work Situations, *J of Appl Psych*, 1878; **63** (5): 629-634.
- Latane', B., Williams, K., and Harkins, S. Many Hands make Light the Work: The Causes and Consequences of Social Loafing. J of Personality and Social Psy. 1979, 37, 822-832.
- Lazarus, A.A. The Practice of Multimodal Therapy. Mcgraw-Hill, New York, 1981.
- Lazarus, A.A. *Multimodal Therapy*, in J.C. Norcross (Eds.) *Handbook of Electric Psychotherapy*. Brunner/Mazal, New York, 1986.
- Lazarus, R.S., *The Concept of Stress and Disease*, in L. Levi (Eds). Society, Stress and Disease, Vol. 1, London: Oxford University Press. 1971.
- Lazarus, R.S., and Cohen, J.B. Environmental Stress. In L.Altman and J.F. Wohlwill (Eds). *Human Behavior and the Environment: Current Theory and Research*. 1977; 2 :89-127. New York: Plenum.
- Lazarus, R.S. Psychological Stress and Coping Process. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1966.
- Lazarus, R.S., and Launier, R. Stress-Related Transactions Between Person and Environment. In L.A Pervin and M. Lewis (Eds.). Perspectives in Interactional Psychology, Plenum, New York, 1978.
- Lazarus, R. Patterns of Adjustment. McGraw -Hill, New York, 1976.
- Lazarus, R.S., DeLongis, A., Folkman, S., and Gruen, R. Stress and Adaptational Outcomes: The Problem of Confounded Measures. *American Psychologist* 1985; 40: 770-779.
- Lazarus, R. and Folkman, S. Stress Appraisal and Coping. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984.

- Lazarus, R. S., and Launier, R. Stress-Related Transactions Between Person and Environment. In L. A. Pervin and M. Lewis (Eds.), Internal and External Determinants of Behaviour. Plenum, New York, 1978.
- Leary, J., Gallagher, T. Carsen, J., Fagin, L. Bartlett, H. and Brown, D. Stress and Coping Strategies in Community Psychiatric Nurses: a Q-Methodological Study. *JAd. Nurs.* 1995; 21: 230-7.

LeGrady, D., Dyer, A.R., Shekelle R.B. *et al.*. Coffee Consumption and Mortality in the Chicago Western Electric Company Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1987; **126**: 803-812.

Leshan, L. How to Meditate. Bantam Books, New York, 1975.

- Lewin, K. Field Theory in Social Science. New York: Harper and Row. 1951.
- Lewis, S.N. and Cooper C.L. Balancing the Work-Home Interface: European Perspective . *Hum Res Man Rev*, 1995; 5 (4): 289-305.
- Lewis, S.N. and Cooper, C.L. The Transition to Parenthood in Dual-Career Couples. *Psy Med.* 1988; **18**: 477-86.
- Leewenhorst Working Party. The Work of the General Practitioner: Statement by a Working Party of the 2nd European Conference on the Teaching of General Practice. *J R Coll Gen Pract.* 1977; **27**:117.
- Levita, Z. Living with Pressure: Exploring Stress and Coping Amongst General Practitioners. Primary Care management. 1995; 5 (6): 3-6.
- Lichenstein, R.L. The Job Satisfaction and Retention of Physicians in Organised Settings: A Literature Review. *Med Care.* 1998. **41**: 139-179.
- Lieberman, M.A. *The Effects of Social Support on Response to Stress*. In L. Goldberger and L. Breznitz (Eds), *Handbook of Stress*. Free Press, New York. 1982.
- Lieberman, H.R., Spring, BJ. and Garfield, G.S. The Behavioural Effects of Food Constituents: Strategies used in Studies of Amino Acids, Protein, Carbohydrate and Caffeine. Nutrition Reviews: *Diet and behaviour*. 1986; 44: 61-70.
- Lloyd, C., and Gartrell, N. K. A Further Assessment of medical School Stress. J of Med Edu. 1983; 58: 964-967.
- Lloyd, G. I am an alcoholic. Brit Medl Jl. 1982; 285:785-786.
- Locke, E. A. The Nature and Causes of ob Satisfaction. *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*. Rand McNally, Illinois, 1976.
- Long, J. and Porter, K. L. Multiple roles of Midlife Women: a Case for New Directions in Theory, Research and Policy. In G Brounch and J Brooks-Gunn (Eds.) Women in midlife, Plenum Press, New York, 1984.
- Ludenia, K. and Dopnham, G.W. Dental Outpatients: Health Locus of Control Correlates. Jof ClPsych. 1983; 39: 854-858.
- Luthe, W. and Blumberger, S.R. Autogenic Therapy. In E D. Whittkower and Hector Wames (Eds) *Psychosomatic Medicine: Its Clinical Applications*. Harper and Row, London, 1977.
- Luthe, W. Autogenic State and Autogenic Shift. *Acta Psychotherapeutica et Psychosomatica*, 1963; **11**: 1-13
- Machin, J.L.J., The Expectations Approach; Improving Managerial Communication and Performance. McGrawhill, New York, 1980.
- Mahoney, M.J. and Avener, M. Psychology of the Elite Athlete: An Exploratory Study. *Cogn Therapy and Res.* 1977; 1: 135-141.
- Makin, P.J., Rout, U. and Cooper C.L. Job Satisfaction and Occupational Stress in General Practitioners: A pilot study. J Coll Gen Pract. 1988; 38: 303-306.
- Margolis, B.L., Kroes, W.H. and Quinn, R.P. 'Job Stress: an Unlisted Occupational Hazard. J Occ Med. 1974; 16 (1-0): 654-661.
- Marmot, M., Bosma, H., Hemingway, H., Brunner, E and Stansfield, S. Contribution of Job Control and Other Risk Factors to Social variations in Coronary Heart Disease Incidence. *The Lancet*, 1997; **350** (9073), 235-239.
- Marmot, M. and Brunner, E. Alcohol and Cardiovascular Disease: The Status of the U-Shaped Curve. *Brit Med Jl.* 1991; 303: 365-368.

- Marmot, M.G., Syme, S.L. Kagan, A., Cohen J.B. and Belsky, J. Epidemiologic Studies of Coronary Heart Disease and Stroke in Japanese Men Living in Japan, Hawaii and California: Prevalence of Coronary and Hypertensive Heart Disease and Associated Risk Factors. Am J of Epidem. 1975; ,102 (6): 514-525.
- Maslach, C. Burned-Out. Human Behaviour.1976.
- Maslach, C. and Pines, A. The Burn –Out Syndrome in the Day Care Setting. *Child Care Quarterly*. 1977; 6, 100-113.
- Maslach, C. Burnout: The Cost of Caring. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1982.
- Maslach, C. Coping Strategies, Causes and Cost. In E.A. McConnell (Eds) Burnout in the Nursing Profession, MO:CV Mosby, St Louis, 1982.
- Maslach, C. and Jackson, S. Maslach Burnout Inventory. Consulting Psychologist's Press, Palo Alto, CA. 1986.
- Mason, JAW. A Revaluation of the Concept of 'Non-Specificity' in Stress Theory. JPsychiatr Res. 1971; 8: 323-330.
- Matteson, M.T. and Ivancevich, J.M. Individual Stress Management Interventions: Evaluation of techniques. J of Managerial Psychol. 1987; 2(1): 24-30.
- Matthews, K.A., Glass D.C., Rosenman, R.H., and Bortner, R.W. Competitive Drive, Pattern A and Coronary Heart Disease: A Further Analysis of Some Data From The Western Collaborative Group Study. *J of Chr Diseases*, 1977; **30**: 489-498.
- Matsumoto, Y.S. Social Stress and Coronary Heart Disease in Japan: a Hypothesis. *Millbank Memorial Fund Quarterly*. 1970; 48: 9-13.
- Mawardi, B.H. Satisfaction, Dissatisfaction and Causes of Stress in Medical Practice. JAm MedAss. 1979;241: 1483-1486.
- McCrae, R.R., Costa, P.T. and Bosse, I.L. Anxiety, Extroversion and Smoking. British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology. 1978; 17: 269-273.
- McCranie, E.W., Hornsby, J.L., Calvert, J.C. Practice and Career Satisfaction Among Residency Trained Family Physicians: a National Survey. *J Fam Pract.* 1982; 14: 1107-14.
- McGrath, J.E. A Conceptual Formulation for Research on Stress. In J. E. McGrath(Eds.) Social and Psychological Factors on Stress, Rinehart and Winston, 1970.
- McGoldrick, A. and Cooper, C.L. Stress at the Decline of One's Career: the Act of Retirement, in Terry, Beerr and Rabis Bhagat (Ed). John Wiley, New York. 1985.
- McIntosh, J.B. Communication in Teamwork a Lesson from the District. Nursing Times. 1974;70: 85-88.
- McKenna, E. Business *Psychology and Organisational Behaviour*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Ltd, East Sussex, UK, 1987.
- McKenna, E., F. Business Psychology and Organisational Behaviour/E. F. McKenna (2nd Eds), Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Ltd, East Sussex, UK, 1994.
- McNeely, S.. Communication: Another Source of Stress Among Nurses. *The Occup Psych.* June1995; 25: 5-7.
- McLanahan, S. and Adams, J. Parenthood and Psychological Well-being. Annual Rev of Sociology, 1987; 13: 921-36.
- McLean, A. A. Work Stress, Addison-Wesley, USA, 1979.
- Mechanic, D. General Medical Practice: Some Comparisons Between the Work of Primary Care Physicians in the United States and England and Wales. Public Expectations and Health Care. Wiley, New York, 1972.
- Mechanic, D. The Organization of Medical Practice Orientations Among Physicians in Prepaid and Non-Prepaid Primary Care Settings. *Med Care*. 1975; **13**: 615-618.
- Medico Political Digest. British Medical Journal, 2001: 320: 255.
- Melville, A. Job Satisfaction in General Practice: Implications in Prescribing. Soc Sci Med. 1980; 14A: 495-499.
- Meichenbaum, D. Cognitive-Behaviour Modification. Plenum, New York, 1979.

- Meichenbaum, D. and Turk, D. Stress, Coping and Disease: A Cognitive-Behavioural Perspective. In R.W.J. Neufield (Ed.) Psychological Stress and Psychopathology. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1982.
- Meichenbaum, D. and Cameron, R. Stress Inoculation Training: Towarda General Paradigm for Training Coping Skills. In D. Meichenbaum and M.E. Jaremco (Eds.) Stress Reduction and Prevention, Plenum, New York, 1983.

Meichenbaum, D. Stress Inoculation Training. Pergamon, New York. 1985.

- Miner, J.B., and Brewer, J.F. Management of Ineffective performance. In M.D. Dunnette (Ed.) *Handbook of Industrial and Organisational Psychology*, John Wiley, New York, 1976.
- Ministry of Health, The National Health Service: Patients' Guide. London: HMSO, 1948.
- Molassiotis, A., Van-Den Akker, O.B. and Boughton, B.J. Psychological Stress in Nursing and Medical Staff on Bone Marrow Transplant Units, *Bone-Marrow Transplant*, 1995; 15 (3): 449-454.
- Monat, A. and Lazarus, R.S. Stress and Coping an Anthology. 3rd Edition, Columbia University Press, New York, 1991.
- Moran, M., and Wood, B. States, Regulation and the Medical Profession. Open University Press, Buckingham. 1992.
- Morgan, W.P. and Goldston, S. E. (Eds) *Exercise and Mental Health*. Hemisphere, Washington DC, 1987.
- Moran, Lord. Royal Commission on Doctors' and Dentists' Remuneration. Lord Moran's evidence. Br Med J Supplement. 1958; 1: 27-30.
- Morrell, D.C., Evans, M.E., Morris, R.W., and Roland, M.O. The Five Minute Consultation; Effect of Time Constraint on Clinical Context and Patient Satisfaction. *Br Med J*; 1986; 292:870-873.
- Mullins, L. J. Management and Organisational Behaviour, Pitman, London, 1985.
- Murphy, L.R. Occupational Stress Management: A Review and Appraisal. J of Occ Psych, 1984; 57: 1-15.
- Murray, R.M. Alcoholism Amongst Male Doctors in Scotland. Lancet. 1976; ii: 729-733.
- Murray, R.M. Psychiatric Illness in Male Doctors and Controls: An Analysis of Scottish In-Patient Hospital Data. Bri J of Psychiatry. 1977; 131:1-10.
- Murray, R.M. The Health of Doctors: a Review. JR Coll Physicians. 1978; 12 (5): 403-415.
- Murray, R.M. The Mentally Ill Doctor: Causes and Consequences. *Practitioner*. 1983; **222**:, 65-75.
- Myers, J., Lindenthal, J. and Pepper, M.P. Life Events Social Integration and Psychiatric Symptomatology. JHealth Soc Behav. 1975; 16: 121-127.
- Myerson, S. Under Stress? Practitioner. 1990; 234: 9973-9978.
- Neurolink (2001) Occupational Stress Surveys Of NHS Health Professionals.
- Niddefer, R.M. The Inner Athlete: Mind Plus Muscle for Winning, Crowell, New York, 1976.
- Noor, N.M. Children and Well-being; a Comparison of Employed and Non-Employed Women. *Work and Stress.* 1994; **8** (1): 36-46.
- O'Connor, G.T., Buring, J.E., Yusuf, S. *et al.*. An Overview of Randomised Trials of Rehabilitation with Exercise after Myocardial Infarction. *Circulation*. 1989; 80: 234-244. Office for National Statistics. 1998
- Office of Population Census and Surveys. *Occupational Mortality*. The Registrar General's Decennial Supplement for England and Wales (1970-1972).London, HMSO.1978.
- Oldridge, N.B., Guyatt, G.H., Fischer, M.E., Remm, A.A. Cardiac Rehabilitation after Myocardial Infarction. Combined Experiences of Randomised Clinical Trials. *JAMA*. 1988; **260**: 945-950.
- Osler, W. Angina Pectoris. Lancet. 1910; i: 839.
- Owen, D. In Sickness and in Health. London. Quartet Books, 1976.
- Pagel, M.D., Erdley, W.W. and Becker J. Social Networks: We Get by With (and in Spite of) a Little Help from Friends. *J of Personality and Soc Psychol* 1987; **53**, 793-804

- Pahl, R. Review of Dual-Career Families, New Society. 1971; 19.
- Palmer, S. and Dryden, W. Counselling for Stress Problems. Sage Publications, London, 1995.
- Parker, P. A. and Kulik, J.A. Burnout, self and Supervisor-Rated Job Performance, and Absenteeism Among Nurses. J. Behav. Med. 1995; **18** (6): 581-99.
- Parkhouse, J. and Ellin, D.L. Reasons for Doctors Career and Change Choice and Change of Choice. Br Med J. 1988; 296: 1651-1653.
- Parliament. Working for Patients. Cm555. London: HMSO, 1989.
- Parish, S., Collins, R. and Pelo, R. *et al.* Cigarette Smoking, Tar Yiels, and Non-Fatal Myocardial Infarction: 14,000 cases of 32,000 controls in the United Kingdom. *Br Medj.* 1995; 311: 471-477.
- Patel, C. 'Yoga and Biofeedback in the Management of Hypertension'. *Lancet*. 1973; 2: 1053-1055.
- Patel, C. Fighting Heart Disease, Dorling Kindersley, London, 1987.
- Patel, C. and Marmot, M.G. 'Stress Management, Blood Pressure and Quality of Life'. J of Hypertension 1987; 5: supplement 1. 21-26.
- Patel, C. and Marmot M.G. 'Can General Practitioners use Training in Relaxation and Management of Stress to Reduce Mild Hypertension?'. Br Med J. 1988; 296: 21-24.
- Patel, C. Marmot M.G., Terry D.J., Carruthers, M., Hunt, B. and Patel, M. Trial of Relaxation in Reducing Coronary Risk: Four Year Follow up'. BrMedJ, 1985; 290: 1103-1106.
- Patel, C. and North W.R.S. 'Randomised Controlled Trial of Yoga and Biofeedback in the Management of Hypertension'. *Lancet*. 1975; 2: 93-95.
- Patel, C. The Complete Guide to Stress Management. Mcdonald & Co, London, 1989.
- Pearce, J.C. *The Bond of Power: Meditation and Wholeness*. Routledge and Kagan Paul, London, 1982.
- Pearlin, L.I. and Schooler, C. The Structure of Coping. *J of Health and Soc Beh.* 1978; **19**: 2-11.
- Petersen W.P. Meditation Made Easy. Franklin Watts, New York, 1979.
- Peveler, R.C. and Johnston, D.W. Subjective and Cognitive Effects of Relaxation. *Behav Res and Therapy*. 1986; 24: 413-419.
- Pincherle, A. Fitness for Work. Proceedings of the Royal Soc of Med. 1972; 65: 321-324.
- Pleck, J.H. Are 'Family Supportive' Employer Policies Relevant to Men? In J.C. Hood (Ed.) Men, Work and Families. 1993. 217-237. Newbury Park, C.A. Sage.
- Pollock, S.E. The Hardiness Characteristic: A Motivating Factor in Adaptation. Advances in Nursing Science. 1989. 11: 53-62.
- Porter, A.M.D, Howie, J.G.R. and Levinson, A. Measurement of Stress as it Affects the Work of the General Practitioner. *FamPract.* 1985; 2: 136-146.
- Porter, L.W. and Steers, R.M. Organisational, Work and Personal Factors in Employee Turnover and absenteeism. *Psychological Bulletin*. 1973; 80: 151-76.
- Poulton, E.C. Blue Collar Stressors. In C.L. Cooper and R Payney(Eds.) Stress at Work, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, 1978.
- Power, K.G., Sharp, G.R. A Comparison of Sources of Nursing Stress and Job Satisfaction Among Mental Handicap and Hospice Nursing Staff. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. 1988. 13 (6); 726-32.
- Practice Nurse. Dec. 1994.
- Pringle, M. Managing Change in General Practice. BMJ. 1992; 304:1357-1358.
- Pritchard, P.M.M. Manual of Primary Health Care. Oxford University Press, 1994.
- Pritchard, P.M.M., Low, K. and Whalen, M. Management in General Practice. Oxford General Practice: Series 8. Oxford University Press, 1984.
- Pullinger, J. (Ed.). Regional Trends No. 33, The Stationery Office: London. 1998.
- Quick, J.C. and Quick, J.D. Organizational Stress and Preventive Management. Mcgraw-Hill, New York, 1984.

- Ragland, D.R. and Bland, R.J. Type A Behaviour and Mortality from Coronary Heart Disease. *New Eng J Med.* 1988; **318**: 65-69.
- Rahe, R., O'Neill, T.O. Hagan, A. and Arthur R.J. Brief Group Therapy Following Myocardial Infarction- Eighteen Month Follow-up of a Controlled Trial. *Int J Psych Med.* 1975; 6: 349-358.
- Rahe, R. H., Paasikivi, J. Psychosocial Factors and Myocardial Infarction II. An Outpatient Study in Sweden. *Journal of Psychsomatic Research*. 1971. 15 (1) 33-39. Elsevier Science Inc. US.
- Rahe, R.H., Lind. E. Psychosocial Factors and Sudden Cardiac Death; A Pilot Study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*. 1971. 15(1) 19-24. Elsevier Science Inc. US.
- Ramirez, A.J., Graham, J., Richards, M.A., Cull, A., Gregory, W.M., Learning, M.S., Snashaft, D.C. and Timothy, A.R. Burnout and Psychiatric Disorder among Cancer Clinicians. *Brit J of Cancer*. 1995; **71** (6): 1263-1269.
- Ramsay, J.D. *Heat and Cold. In* R. Hockey(Eds.) *Stress and Fatigue in Human Performance*, John Wiley and Sons, Chichester and New York, 1983.
- Rapoport, R. and Rapoport, R.N. Dual Career Families, Penguin, London, 1971.
- Rawnsley, K. Helping the Sick Doctor; A New Service. Brit Med J.; 1985:291-923.
- Rawnsley, K. Physician, Don't Heal Thyself: Let Someone Else Try! Practitioner. 1989; 233:891.
- Reedy, B.L.E.C., Philips, P.R., and Newell, D.J. Nurses and Nursing in Primary Medical Care in England. *British Medical Journal*. 1976. 2: 1304.
- Rees, D. and Cooper, C.L. Occupational Stress in Health Service Workers in the UK. Stress Medicine; 1992. 8: 79-90.
- Registrar General. Decennial supplement for England and Wales. London: HMSO, 1978.
- Repetti, R.L., Mathew, K.A. and Waldron, I. Employment and Women's Health Effects of Paid Employment on Women's Mental Health. Am Psychologist. 1989; 44: 1394-1401.
- Rice, P.L. Stress and Health (2nd edition) Book/Cole Publishing Company, California, 1992.
- Rich, V.L., and Rich, A.R. Personality Hardiness and Burnout in Female Staff Nurses. *Image*. 1987; 19: 211-223.
- Richards, C. The Health of Doctors. King's Fund Project Paper no. 78. King's Fund. London, 1989.
- Rimm, D.C. and Masters, J. C. Behaviour Therapy: Techniques and Empirical Findings (2nd Eds) McGraw-Hill, New York, 1979.
- Rivette, G. From Cradle to Grave. Kings Fund Publishing. London, 1998.
- Robertson, J.A. Coping, Social Support and Drinking Among Young Married Couples. In Addiction Controversies. Warburton, D. (Ed.) Harwood, London, 1990, 296-313.
- Roland, M.O. Bartholomew, J., Courtney, M.J., Morris, R.W., Morrel, D.C. The Five Minute Consultation. *Brit Med J* 1986; 292: 874-876.
- Rosa, K. Autogenic Training. Victor Gollancz, London, 1976.
- Rose, K.D. and Rosow N.I. Physicians who Kill Themselves. Archives General Psychiatry. 1973; 29: 800-805.
- Rosenman, R.H., The Interview Method of Assessment of the Coronary-prone Behaviour Pattern. In T. M. Dembroski, S. Weiss, J. Shelds, S. G. Haynes, and M. Feinleib (Eds), Coronary-prone Behaviour. 55-69. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1978.
- Rosenman, R.H., Friedman, M. and Strauss, R. A Predictive Study of C.H.D. The W.C.G.S. J Am Med Ass. 1964; 189: 15-22.
- Rosenman, R.H., Friedman, M. and Strauss, R. C.H.D. in the Western Collaborative Group Study. JAm MedAss 1966; 195: 86-92.
- Rosenman, R.H. and Friedman, M. Neurogenic Factors in Pathogenesis of Coronary

Heart Disease. Medical Clinics of North America. 1974; 58: 269-279.

Rosenman (Eds), Anger and Hostility in Cardio vascular and Behavioural Disorders, Hemisphere/Magro-Hill: New York. 1985. Rosch, P.J. and Pelletier, K.R. Designing Worksite Stress Management Programme. In L.R. Murphy and T.F. Schoenborn(Eds.) Stress Management in Work Settings. NIOSH, 1987

Ross, R.R. and Altmaier, E.M. Intervention in Occupational Stress. Sage, London, 1994.

- Rotter, J.B. 'Generalised Expectations for Internal versus External Control of Reinforcement', *Psych Monograph*. 1966; 80.
- Rout, U. Occupational Stress in General Practice, MSc Dissertation, UMIST, 1986.
- Rout, U. Occupational Stress in General Practitioners. PhD Thesis, UMIST, 1989.
- Rout, U. Occupational Stress Among General Practitioners; In D.R. Trent and C.A. Reed (Eds), Promotion of Mental Health, Vol.5. Ashgate Publishing Ltd:Aldershot, 1995. 29-39.
- Rout, U. Stress Among General Practitioners and Their Spouses: A Qualitative Study, *Brit Jl of General Practice*, 1996; 46: 157-160.
- Rout, U. Occupational Stress in Practice Managers. Primary Care Management. 1996; 6 (1): 5-9.
- Rout, U. Gender Differences in Stress, Satisfaction and Mental Well-being Among General Practitioners in England. *Psychology, Health and Medicine*. 1999; **4** (4):345-354.
- Rout, U. Job Stress Among General Practitioners and Nurses in Primary Care in England. *Psychological Reports*. 1999; 85: 981-986.
- Rout, U. Stress and Job Satisfaction among Primary Care Professionals, *Journal Of International Professional Care*. 1999; 13(4): 426-427.
- Rout, U. *Stress and Health in Health Professionals*, International Conferences on Clinical Psychology Proceedings, Murcia, Spain (In Press).
- Rout, U. and Rout, J.K. Stress and General Practitioners. Kluwer Academic Publishers, London, 1993.
- Rout, U., Rout, J.K. and Taylor, H. Patients' Satisfaction with General Practitioner Services. Report to MAAG, Bolton. 1994.
- Rout, U. and Rout, J.K. Job Satisfaction, Mental Health and Job Stress Among General Practitioners Before and After the New Contract - A Comparative Study. *Fam. Pract.* 1994; **11**: 300-306.
- Rout, U., Cooper, C.L., and Rout, J.K. Job Stress Among Mental Ill-Health. Stress Medicine. 1996; 12:155-166.
- Rout, U., Sixsmith, J., and Moore, M. Asian Family Life. In M. Moore, J. Sixsmith and K. Knowels(Eds.) Family Life, Falmers Press. London. 1996. 100-114.
- Rout, U. and Rout, J.K. Mental Health, Job Stress and Satisfaction Among Practice Nurses: A Pilot Study, in M.K Ross and C. Stark (Eds), Promoting Mental Health, Ross and Stark: Scotland. 1997. 417-423.
- Rout, U. and Rout, J.K. A Comparative Study on Occupational Stress, Job satisfaction and Mental Health in British General Practitioners and Canadian Family Physicians. *Psychology, Health and Medicine*. 1997; 2 (2): 181-190.
- Rout, U., Cooper, C.L and Kerslake, H. Working and Non-Working Mothers: A Comparative Study. Women in Management Review. 1997; 12 (7,8): 264-275.
- Rout, U. and Rout, J.K. Job Stress and Satisfaction Amongst Hospital Consultants: An Exploratory Study, Second World Congress on Stress: Melbourne, Australia. 1998.
- Rout, U, and Rout, J. Identifying Job Stress Among Hospital Consultants in England: An Exploratory Study, European Congress on Work and Organisational Psychology Conference: Helsinki. 1999.
- Rout, U. and Rout, J.K. Working Under Pressure: Stress in Receptionists (in Preparation). 2001.
- Rout, U. and Rout, J.K. Stress, Satisfaction and Mental Well-being among Practice Managers Receptionists. (in Preparation) 2001.
- Rubin, I., Plovnich, M., and Fry, R. Improving the Co-Ordination of Care. A program of Health Team Development, Ballinger, Cambridge, 1975.

- Rucinski, T., and Lybulsha, E. Mentally Ill Doctors. Brit J of Hosp Med. 1985. February, pp 90-94.
- Rutenfranz, J., Colquhoun, W., Knauth, P. and Ghata, J. Biomedical and Psychosocial Aspects of Shift Work. *Scand J of Work Env and Health.* 1977; 3: 165-182.
- Rutherford, R.D. Administrative Time Power: Meeting the Time Challenge of the Busy Secretary/Staff Assistant/Manager Team. Learning Concepts, Austin, Texas. 1978.
- Sapolsky, R.M. Why Zebras Don't Get Ulcers. A Guide to Stress Related Diseases and Coping. W.H. Freeman & Co. USA. 1994.
- Sarason, B, R., Sarason, I.G. and Pierce G.R. (Eds) Social Support: An Interactional View, Wiley, New York, 1983.
- Sarason, B.R., Sarason, I.G., and Pierce, G.R. (Eds), Social Support: An Interactional View. New York: Wiley, 1990.
- Scase, R. and Goffee, R. Reluctant Managers: their Work and Lifestyles, Unwin Hyman, London, 1989.
- Schuler, R.S. Definition and Conceptualization of Stress in Organisations. *Organisational Behaviour and Human performance*. 1980; **25**: 184-215.
- Schuler, R.S. An Integrative Transactional Process Model of Stress in Organisations. J of Occup Behav. 1982; 3: 5-19.
- Schultz, J. and Luthe, W. Autogenic Training. A Psychophysiologic Approach to Psychotherapy. Grune and Stratton, New York, 1959.
- Schultz, J. and Luthe, W. Autogenic Therapy. Autogenic Methods. Grune and Stratton, New York, 1969.
- Schwarz, S.H. Normative Influences on Altruism. In L. Berkowitz(Ed.) Advances in Experimental Social Psychology. Vol 10. Academic Press, New York, 1977
- Selye H. The Stress of Life. Mcgraw-Hill, USA, 1956.
- Selye, H. Stress in Health and Disease. Butterworth, London, 1976.
- Selye, H. The Stress Concept Today. In I. L. Kutash, L.B. Schlesinger, and Associates (Eds.), Handbook on Stress and Anxiety. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, 1980.
- Schwarz, S.H. Normative Influences on Altruism. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.) Advances in Experimental Social Psychology. Vol 10. Academic Press, New York, 1977.
- Shekelle, R.B., Gayle, M., Ostfeld, A. and Paul, O. Hostility, Risk of Coronary Heart Disease, and Mortality. *Psychosom Med* 1983; 45: 109-114.
- Sibbald, B., Enzer, I., Cooper, C., Rout, U., and Sutherland, V. GP Job Satisfaction in 1987, 1990 and 1988: Lessons for the Future?. *Fam. Pract*, 2000;**17(5)**: 364-371.
- Silva, Jose with Miele, Philip. *The Silva Mind Control Method*, Grafton Books, London, 1980.
- Smith, D. The Facts of Racial Disadvantage. Political and Economic Planning, London, 1976.

Smith, M.J., Cohen H.H., Cleveland, R. and Cohen, A.: Characteristics of successful safety Programmes. J of Saf Res. 1978; 10: 5-15.

- Snape, J. and Cavanagh, S. J. Occupational Stress in Neurosurgial Nursing. Intensive and Critical Care Nursing. 1993; 9: 162-170.
- Social Support: Theory, Research and Intervention, Prieger, New York., 1988.
- Social Trends. (1983), London: HMSO.
- Social Trends. (1991), London: HMSO.
- Social Trends (1994), London: HMSO.
- Sosa, R,K,J., and Klaus, M. The Effect of a Supportive Companion on Perinatal Problems, Length of Labor, and Mother-Infant Interaction. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 1980. 303: 597-600.
- Spielberger, C.D. Johnson, E.H. Russell, S.F. *The Experience and Expression of Anger: Construction and Validation of an Anger Expression Scale.* In M.A, Chesney and R.H Rosenman (Eds), *Anger and Hostility in Cardio vascular and Behavioural Disorders*, Hemisphere/Magro-Hill: New York. 1985.

- Stampfer, M.J., Colditz, G.A., Willett, W.C *et al.*. A Prospective Study of Moderate Alcohol Consumption and the Risk of Coronary Disease in Women. *New England J of Med.* 1988; 319: 267-273.
- Steering Group. Report on the Training Needs of Practice Nurses. R Coll of Nurs, London. 1984
- Steffens, S. Perception of Stress: 1800 Nurses Tell Their Stories. In K. Claus and J Bailey (Eds.) Living with stress and Promoting Well-being. C.V Mosby, San Francisco, 1980.
- Stephens, M. A. P., Kinney, J.M. Norris, V.K. and Ritchie, S.W. Social Networks as Assets and Liabilities in Recovery from Stroke by Geriatric Patients. *Psychology and Ageing*, 1987; 2: 141-152.
- Stewart, D.E. et al. Women Physician and Stress. *Journal of Women'sHealth and Gender BasedMedicine*, 2000; 9 (2)
- Suinn, R.M. How to Break the Vicious Cycle of Stress. Psychology to-day. 1976; 10:59-60.
- Suls, J. Social Support, International Relations and Health: Benefits and Liabilities. In G.S. Sanders and J. Suls (Eds), Social Psychology of Health and Illness. Erlbaum: Hillsdale, NJ. 1982.
- Sutherland, V. and Cooper, C.L. Man and Accidents Offshore. Lloyds, London, 1987.
- Sutherland, V.J. and Davidson M.J. Stress among Construction site Managers. A preliminary Study. Stress Med, 1989; 221-235.
- Sutherland, V.J., and Cooper, C.L. Understanding Stress: A Psychological Perspective for Health Professionals. London: Chapman and Hall. 1990: 165-224.
- Sutherland, V.J., and Cooper, C.L. Job Stress, Satisfaction and Mental Health among GPs Before and After the Introduction of the New Contract. *Brit Med J.* 1992; 304:1545-1548.
- Swift, G., and McDougall, I. A. The family Doctor and the Family Nurse. *Brit Med J.* 1964; 1: 1697-1699.
- Symons, L.and Persaud, R. Stress Among Doctors. Brit. Med. J. 1995; 310 (6981):742.

The First Month, (leading article), Lancet. 1948, 2: 223-5.

- The Impaired Physician. AMA. Department of Mental Health. Conferences on the Impaired Physician, September 1978.
- Theorell, T. and Rahe R.H. Life Change Events, Ballistocardiography and Coronary Death. J of Hum Str. 1975; 1:18-24.
- Theorell, T. Selected Illness and Somatic Factors in Relation to Two Psychosocial Stress Indices - A Prospective Study on Middle Aged Construction Building Workers. *J of Psychosom Res.* 1976; 20: 7-20.
- Thoits, P. Multiple Identities and Psychological Well-Being. *American Sociological Review*. 1983; **48**: 174-187.
- Tokarz, P., Bremer, W. and Peters, K. Beyond Survival, American Medical Association, Chicago, 1979.
- Tomporowski, P.D. and Ellis N.R. Effects of Exercise on Cognitive Processes: A Review. Psy Bull. 1986; 99: 338-346.
- Tverdal, A., Stensvold, I., Solvoll, K., Foss, O.P., Lund-Larsen, P. and Bjartveit, K. Coffee Consumption and Death from Coronary Heart Disease in Middle-Aged Norweigan Men and Women. *Br Med J.* 1990; **300**: 566-569.
- Tyler, P.A., and Cushway, D., Stress, Coping and Mental Well-Being in Hospital Nurses; *Stress Med*, 1992; 8: 91-98.
- Tyler, P.A., Carroll, D.C., and Cunningham, S.E. Stress and Well-Being in Nurses: A Comparison of the Public and Private Sectors. *Int.J.Nurs.Stu.* 1991. 28.125-130.
- Ulleberg, P. and Rundmo, T. Job Stress, Social Support, Job Satisfaction and Absenteeism among offsore Oil Personnel. Work and Stress. 1977; 11 (3): 215-228.
- Ulett, G.A. and Paterson, D.B. Applied Hypnosis and Positive Suggestion. C.V. Mosby, St. Louis, 1965.
- VanSell, M. Brief, A.P., and Schuler, R.S. Role Conflict and Role Ambiguity: Integration of the Literature and Directions for Future Research. *Hum Rel.* 1981; 34 (1): 43-71.

- Vaux, A. Social Support: Theory, Research, and Intervention. Praeger, New York, 1988.
- Veniga, R.L., and Spradley, J.P. The Work/Stress Connection. Boston: Little, Brown. 1981.
- Wardwell, W., Hyman I.M. and Bahnson, C.B. Stress and Coronary Disease in Three Field Studies. J of Chr Dis 1964; 17: 73-74.
- Warrin, J.F. Evolution of Health Team. Brit Med J. 1965; 1: 525.
- Warrin, J.F. General Practitioners and Nursing Staff: a Complete Attachment Scheme in Retrospect and Prospect. *Brit Med J.* 1968;2: 41-45.
- Webber, R.A. Time and Management. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York, 1972.
- Weidner, G., Sexton, G., McLellarn, R., Connor, S.L. and Matarazzo, J.D. The Role of the Type A Behaviour and Hostility in an Elevation of Plasma Lipids in Adult Women and Men. *Psychosom Med.* 1987; 49: 450-457.
- Weiss, J.M. Behavioural and Psychological Influences on Gastrointestinal Pathology: Experimental Techniques and Findings. In W.D Gentry (Eds), Handbook of Behavioural Medicine: New York: Guilford. 1984.
- West M. Effective Teamwork. The British Psychological Society Books, Leicester, 1994.
- West, R.J. Beneficial Effects of Nicotine: Fact or Fiction?. Addiction. 1993; 88: 589-590.
- Wheeler, H.H., and Riding, R. Occupational Stress in General Nurses and Midwives. Brit. J. Nurs. 1994. 3 (10): 527-534.
- Williams, S. Mitchie, S. Pattani, S. The Nuffield Trust Study: Improving The Health of the NHS Workforce. The Nuffield Trust, 1998.
- Williams, W.O. and Dalda, R. General Practitioners and their Staff. J of Royal Coll Gen Pract. 1979; 29: 145-150.
- Wilsford, D. Doctors and the State: The Politics in Health Care in France and the United States; London; Duke University Press. 1991.
- Wilson, R. and Allen, P. Medical and Dental Staffing Prospects in the NHS in England and Wales. *Health Trends*. 1994; 26: 70-79.
- Wittkower, E.D. and Warnes H, (Eds) Psychosomatic Medicine: Its Clinical Applications, Harper and Row, New York, 1977.
- Wolf, S. and Wolff, H. G. Gastric Function: An Experimental Study of a Man and His Stomach. Oxford University Press, New York. 1943.
- Wolpe, J. Psychotherapy by Reciprocal Inhibition. Stanford University Press. 1958.
- Wolpe J. The Practice of Behaviour Therapy. Pergamon, New York, 1973.
- Wolpe, J. and Lazarus, A. Behaviour Therapy Techniques, Pergamon, Oxford, 1966.
- Wood, E. Yoga, Penguin, London, 1969.
- Working for Patients. London: HMSO, 1989.
- Wortman, C.B., and Dunkel-Schetter, C.A. Interpersonal Relationships and Cancer: A Theoretical Analysis. J of Social Issues. 1979; 35: 120-155.
- Yerkes, R.M. and Dodson, J.D. The Relation to the Strength of the Stimulus to the Rapidity of Habit Formation. *J of Comp Neurology and Psychology*. 1908; **18**: 459-482.

This page intentionally left blank

Useful Services

BMA Counselling Line: 08459 200169

National Counselling Services for Sick Doctors: 0207 5803160

MIND (National Association for Mental Health): 08457 660163

British Association for Counselling: 01788 578328

This page intentionally left blank

About the Authors

Dr Usha R Rout is currently head of research in Psychology in the School of Health and Social Sciences at Coventry University and visiting Professor to the Indiana State University, USA. She received her M.Sc. and Ph.D. from the University of Manchester Institute of Science and Technology and is an Associate Fellow of the British Psychological Society. She has authored three books on stress in doctors and their families and published widely on the subject of stress and the medical profession, stress and health of health care professionals, and women and work. She is a Fellow of the Royal Society of Medicine, Royal Society of Health and Royal Society of Arts.

Dr Jaya K. Rout is a general practitioner at Kearsley Medical Centre in Bolton. He is co-author of Stress and General Practitioners and Understanding Stress in Doctors Families. He is a member of the Bolton Research Group. He has published several scholarly papers on stress in health care professionals and depression.
This page intentionally left blank

Index

Absenteeism, 77 Administration/paperwork, 113 Alcohol, 73 Autogenic training, 121 Away days, 146

Biofeedback training, 122 Breathing exercise, 124 Burnout, 79

Cardiovascular disease, 67 Career development, 31 Causes of death in the UK, 66 Changes in the nature of the job, 147 Cognitive restructuring, 125 Communication, 90, 100, 102, 109, 152, Community care, 3 Community midwife, 15 Community psychiatric nurses, 9,16 Consequences of stress, 63 Constructive self-talk, 126 Controlling resistance to change, 164 Coping, 101 Coping strategies, 56 Cost of stress, 63 Counselling, 143 Counsellor, 157

Daily hassles, 52 Deep muscle relaxation, 118 Definitions of stress, 18 Delegation, 101, 155 Demand-control model, 68 Discrimination, prejudice, 103 District nurses, 14, Doctors' attitude, 110 Drug representatives, 104 Dual career family, 38

Emotional involvement, 92 Employee assistance programmes, 142 Escape through self-medication, 131 Ethnicity, 60

Family health services authorities, 4 Family support, 167 Female general practitioner, 81 82 Female general practitioners' stress, 91 Fundholding, 3,4, 5,

Gender, 59 General adaptation syndrome (GAS), 19 General medical service, 1 General practitioner, 1 Group decision making, 160

Hardiness, 47 Harvard Davis Report, 182 Health visitor, 9, 15 High expectations, 90 Humour, 139

Increased demands by patients, 89 Interactional model of stress, 21 Interruptions, 89

Job performance, 33

Lack of resources, 112 Lack of support, 92 Learning to say no, 135 Leeuwenhurst group, 9 Life event scale, 49 Local medical committee, 5 Locus of control, 48 Long working hours, 29

Maintaining stress diary, 139 Male general practitioners' stress, 88 Managing change, 163 Managing practice, 146 Managing time related stress, 132 Managing type A behaviour, 137 Mantra meditation, 116 Meditation, 115 Mental benefits of exercise, 129 Mentoring, 148 Midwives, 8, 15 Multimodal therapy, 127

National health service, 1 National hospital service, 1 New contract, 3 NHS change/time pressure, 100 Nutrition and healthy lifestyle, 129

Occupational stress, 25 On-call, 88

Paperwork, 137 Partnership, 160 Patient participation, 155 PCG Board, 5 Personal medical services, 7 Personality characteristics, 41 Physical benefits of exercise, 128 Physical exercise, 128 Physical working condition, 26 Planning organisational change, 165 Practice manager, 10 Practice nurse, 13, 107 Practice nurses Administration, 110 Job satisfaction, 111 Lack of job description, 108 Patients' attitude, 108

Time pressure, 108 Practice organisation, 100 Practice receptionist, 12, 101 Primary care groups, 5 Primary care trusts, 6 Primary health care team, 7 Problem patients, 100 Problems in group practice, 160 Progressive muscle relaxation, 120 Public health service, 1 Qualitative studies on GPs, 87 Quantitative studies, 93 Relationships at work, 36

Relaxation, 118 Resistance to change, 166 Resources, 171 Response based model of stress, 19 Retirement/redundancy, 33 Role based stress, 33 Role conflict, 92 Role conflict and role ambiguity, 34 Role of each primary care member, 9

Sabbaticals, 145 Secondary care, 2 Setting goals, 135 Sexual harassment/aggression, 109 Shift work / night work, 30 Smoking, 75 Social loafing, 161 Social support, 166 Social worker, 16 Staff shortages, 113 Stress and job satisfaction, 72 Stress and mental health 70 Stress inoculation training, 124 Stress management course, 146 Symptoms of stress, 64 Systemic desensitisation, 122

Team briefing, 151 Team functions, 159 Time management, 133 Time Pressure/work overload, 88 Transcendental meditation (TM), 117 Travel, 31 Type A behaviour, 41

200

Index

Measurement of type A and coronary heart disease (CHD), 47 Type A negative components, 44 Type A: coronary-prone behaviour, 42 Type B behaviour, 43

Uplifts, 52

Work underload, 29

Work overload, 29 Work/home conflict, 92 Work/home interface, 37 Working women and dual career couples, 168 Workplace violence, 162

Yantra meditation, 116